# Turnpike Property for Generalized Linear-Quadratic Optimal Control Problem

by

## Zhuqing Li

A thesis presented to the University of Waterloo in fulfillment of the thesis requirement for the degree of Master of Mathematics in Applied Mathematics

Waterloo, Ontario, Canada, 2023

© Zhuqing Li 2023

#### **Author's Declaration**

I hereby declare that I am the sole author of this thesis. This is a true copy of the thesis, including any required final revisions, as accepted by my examiners.

I understand that my thesis may be made electronically available to the public.

#### Abstract

The turnpike phenomenon describes the long time behavior of optimally controlled systems whose optimal trajectories over a sufficiently large time horizon stay for most of the time close to a prescribed trajectory of the system. This thesis is devoted to the characterization of the turnpike property for generalized LQ optimal control problem.

Through our research, we derive both sufficient and necessary conditions for the turnpike property in infinite dimensional setting. It is shown that the turnpike property is closely related to certain structural properties of the control system. In particular, we deduce an equivalent condition of the turnpike property in terms of the exponential stabilizability and detectability of the system for finite dimensional case and point spectrum case. We also show in our thesis that the turnpike property for generalized LQ optimal control problem is equivalent to the turnpike property for LQ optimal control problem plus an algebraic condition. Next, we investigate the applications of our results to the generalized LQ optimal control problem subject to the parabolic equations, wave equations, delay equations and in relation with model predictive control schemes.

#### Acknowledgements

I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my supervisor, Roberto Guglielmi, and my parents. Their understanding and help has enabled me to thrive in a free and happy atmosphere. My supervisor's extensive background and dedication has provided me the knowledge to complete this thesis from knowing nothing about control. I could not have wished for a better supervisor.

I would also like to thank Prof. Tran Giang and Prof. Liu Jun for all their kind help to me. They are not only the thesis defense committee members who give me many valuable comments, but also the professors of some of my graduate courses. Their courses are very inspiring and engaging. It is my honor to have them in my thesis defense committee.

Lastly, I want to thank all my friends, particularly Zhang and Yang for their encouragement. Their brilliance is always the driving force behind my perseverance.

### Dedication

To University of Waterloo.

# **Table of Contents**

Author's Declaration								
Abstract								
Acknowledgements								
Dedication								
Li	st of I	Notation v	iii					
1 Introduction								
	1.1	Optimal control theory for infinite dimensional systems	1					
	1.2	Turnpike property	2					
	1.3	Organization	3					
2	Mat	hematical background	5					
	2.1	Operator semigroups	5					
	2.2	Optimal control	11					
		2.2.1 Maximum principle	12					
		2.2.2 Riccati equations	13					

3	Turnpike property for generalized linear-quadratic optimal control problem							
	3.1	Existe	nce and uniqueness of the optimal control	17				
	3.2	Some	notions of turnpike	19				
	3.3	Suffici	ent condition for the turnpike property	21				
		3.3.1	Exponential convergence of $P$ to $P_{\min}$	22				
		3.3.2	Range condition and existence of the optimal adjoint state	27				
		3.3.3	Several estimates	29				
		3.3.4	Explicit solution of the optimal control	33				
		3.3.5	Main proof	36				
	3.4	Neces	sary condition for the turnpike property	37				
		3.4.1	Proof of Theorem 3.4.3 (a)	38				
		3.4.2	Proof of Theorem 3.4.3 (b)	41				
		3.4.3	Proof of Theorem 3.4.3 (c)	45				
		3.4.4	Proof of Corollary 3.4.4	48				
	3.5	If and only if characterization		49				
		3.5.1	Proof of Theorem 3.5.2	51				
		3.5.2	Proof of Theorem 3.5.4	52				
	3.6	Examp	ples	54				
		3.6.1	Parabolic equations	55				
		3.6.2	Wave equations	56				
		3.6.3	Delay equations	58				
		3.6.4	Model predictive control (MPC)	59				
4	Con	Conclusions and open problems						
	4.1	Regard	ling unbounded input	64				
	4.2	2 Regarding constrained case						
	4.3	Regard	ling unbounded observation and terminal cost	69				
Re	eferen	ices		73				

#### List of Notation

$\mathcal{H}$	The state space
U	The input space
${\cal Y}$	The output space
$L^p(J, W)$	The space of $W$ -valued $p$ -integrable (in Bochner sense) functions defined on interval $J$
$L^p_{loc}(J, \mathcal{S})$	The space of $W$ -valued locally $p$ -integrable (in Bochner sense) functions defined on interval $J$
$\mathcal{L}(W,G)$	Bounded linear operators from $W$ to $G$
$\mathcal{L}(W)$	Bounded linear operators from $W$ to $W$
$\Sigma(W)$	Self-adjoint operators on $W$
$\Sigma^+(W)$	Non-negative operators on $W$
$C_s(J, \Sigma^+(W))$	The space of all $f: J \to \Sigma^+(W)$ such that for any $w \in W$ , $f(\cdot)w$ is continuous
$C^1_s(J,\Sigma^+(W))$	The space of all $f: J \to \Sigma^+(W)$ such that for any $w \in W$ , $f(\cdot)w$ is continuously differentiable
$\partial D$	The boundary of D
$\overline{D}$	The closure of D
int D	The interior of D

$H^d(J,W)$	The set of functions $f$ in $L^2(J, W)$ such that $f$ and its weak derivatives up to order $d$ have a finite $L^2$ -norm
$H^d_{loc}(J,W)$	The set of functions $f \in L^2_{loc}(J, W)$ such that $f$ and its weak derivatives up to order $d$ locally have a finite $L^2$ -norm
$H^1_0(J,W)$	The set of functions $f$ in $H^1(J, W)$ such that the Dirichlet trace on $\partial J$ equals to 0.
W'	The space of bounded linear functionals on $W$
$\mathbb{P}_V$	Projection operator to $V$
Ι	Identity operator
$\rho(S)$	The resolvent set of $S$
$\sigma(S)$	The spectrum of $S$
$\mathbb{R}^+$	The set of positive real numbers
$\mathbb{C}^+$	The set of complex numbers with positive real part
$\overline{\mathbb{R}}$	$\mathbb{R}\cup\{+\infty,-\infty\}$
$S^*$	The adjoint operator of $S$
$b^*$	The conjugate transpose of matrix $b$ or the complex conjugate of vector $b$
$S _V$	The restriction of $S$ on $V$
<u>`</u>	The weak convergence
$\ker S$	The kernel space of $S$
$\operatorname{ran} S$	The range of S

# Chapter 1

# Introduction

### **1.1** Optimal control theory for infinite dimensional systems

Infinite dimensional systems are used to describe many phenomena in the real world, such as heat conduction, control of elastic structures, chemical processes, fluid dynamics, fusion reactors, metal casting processes, etc., all lie within this area. In this thesis, we focus on infinite dimensional problems such that the state evolution is described by an abstract evolution equation. This is a very standard framework with reasonably wide range of applications. A large amount of Partial Differential Equations (PDEs) and Functional Differential Equations (FDEs), including Delay differential equations, can all be formulated into this framework.

It is widely recognized that the Pontryagin's maximum principle, the Bellman's dynamic programming method, and the optimal linear regulator theory are three big milestones of modern optimal control theory for finite dimensional systems. Optimal control theory for infinite-dimensional systems, on the other hand, dates back to the 1960s, with the main goal of establishing the infinite-dimensional version of the three fundamental theories. Over the past decades, many mathematicians and control theorists have made significant contributions in this research area. Here we refer to the book [29] by Li and Yong, and the book [15] by Fattorini for an excellent overview of the results in this direction.

In particular, linear-quadratic (LQ) optimal control problem is one of the most (if not the most) important problem in optimal control theory and has motivated many popular control designs. Since 1960s, the works of Bellman-Glicksberg-Gross [5] and R. Kalman [27] have placed the LQ optimal control problem at the forefront of control theory. The latter first discovered the optimal linear state feedback control of LQ optimal control problem, and his work was soon

generalized to the infinite dimensional context. In the mid 1960s, Lions first considered the LQ optimal control problem for partial differential equations in his book [30], which is a widely renowned text in this field whose significance continues to be felt even today. The LQ optimal control problem for general evolution equations with bounded controls was also studied by Lukes-Russell [31] in 1969 and by Curtain-Pritchard [10] in 1976. In the 1970s, the LQ optimal control problem with unbounded controls was investigated by Lions [30], Curtain-Pritchard [12] and Balakrishnan [4]. Since the mid-1980s, Lasiecka and Triggiani systematically investigated the LQ optimal control problem for parabolic, hyperbolic, and other equations with boundary controls and point controls. Their book [28] provides a nice survey on the theory of LQ optimal control problem for PDEs with boundary or point controls in a unified framework.

As the name suggests, generalized LQ optimal control problem is a generalized version of LQ optimal control problem. The term 'generalized' here refers to the fact that both quadratic and linear terms with respect to state and control are contained in the cost functional. Compared to LQ optimal control problem, generalized LQ optimal control problem is less often considered in existing literature, but as a special case of generalized LQ optimal control problem, tracking problem with point reference has received pretty much attention. A simple treatment of such a problem is discussed in Bensoussan [6, Section 5.1, Chapter 1, Part V] in connection with the nonhomogeneous state equation. Our thesis is fully devoted to the case for generalized LQ optimal control problem with bounded control. In our thesis, the quadratic character of the (generalized) LQ optimal control problem has enabled us to do a more explicit analysis of the properties of the system and its optimal solution. This will become apparent in the following sections.

## **1.2 Turnpike property**

The turnpike phenomena have been reported and studied in the context of mathematical economics in the early works by Von Neumann [33] in 1945 regarding the approximation property of optimal growing economy to a balanced equilibrium path. In the book by Dorfman, Samuelson and Solow [36] in 1958, the term turnpike property was first coined. In general, the turnpike property describes the long-time behavior of the optimally controlled systems whose optimal trajectories and controls over a sufficiently large time horizon stay for most of the time close to a prescribed steady state of the system. Since 1960s, the turnpike phenomena has received continuous interest in economy because of the structural insights they allow on the structure of the optimal solutions. See, e.g., McKenzie [32]. Following these results, turnpike phenomena also have been widely observed and investigated in the context of mathematical biology [26] and chemical processes [1] among other applications. In the last decade, various turnpike properties have been defined and extensively studied by the mathematical community in the context of optimal control, also in connection with the stability of Model Predictive Control (MPC) schemes (see, e.g., [23]) and the qualitative properties of the control systems (see, e.g., [35]). Roughly speaking, the turnpike property helps to extend the stability results [3] obtained by constructing an appropriate Lyapunov function using strict dissipativity for the MPC closed loop to larger classes of MPC schemes, and on the other hand, the occurrence of turnpike property is known to be closely linked to the controllability and observability of the system. The turnpike property can also be used to synthesize long-term optimal trajectories. See, e.g., [2, 24]. The monographs [47, 48, 49] present a complete overview on turnpike properties in various optimal control and variational problems.

There is no united definition of the turnpike property, but the measure turnpike and the exponential turnpike are two notions of particular importance since they each correspond to a major method to the characterization of turnpike property. The kind of method suitable to prove the exponential turnpike property takes advantage of the hyperbolicity feature around the steady state of the optimality system resulting from the Pontryagin's maximum principle. See, e.g., [35, 39, 40]. The method suitable to deduce the measure turnpike property exploits the connection between turnpike and dissipativity properties of the control system. In most cases, the prescribed trajectory and control which is approximated by the optimal pair is the minimizer of the corresponding optimal steady state problem, i.e., the optimal steady state of the system. However, turnpike phenomena have been observed towards different target states, for example suitable periodic orbits [38, 39, 46].

Many interesting sufficient conditions (most are based on detectability and stabilizability) for turnpike properties have been found in both the linear and nonlinear setting. Good references are, e.g., [13, 19] for discrete-time systems, [35, 40] for finite dimensional continuous-time systems, [9] for Delay differential equations, and [8, 39] for infinite dimensional systems with control inside the domain. However, few necessary conditions for turnpike properties are found in the past, even for finite dimensional case. In recent years, the necessary conditions for measure turnpike property have been studied in full details in [20, 21] for finite dimensional generalized LQ optimal control problems in discrete-time and continuous-time setting respectively. We point out that our results in section 3.4 which eventually yield a surprising necessary and sufficient condition for the turnpike property in finite dimensional setting are motivated by their work.

### 1.3 Organization

Our thesis is organized as follows. In chapter 2, we first introduce all the necessary basics about strongly continuous semigroups of operators on Hilbert spaces in section 2.1, then we introduce

the optimal control problem in infinite dimensional setting and formulate the generalized LQ optimal control problem in section 2.2. The standard results of Pontryagin's maximum principle and Riccati equations are recalled in subsection 2.2.1 and subsection 2.2.2, respectively.

In chapter 3, we present all our results on the turnpike property for generalized LQ optimal control problem. We start with proving the existence and uniqueness of the optimal pair for generalized LQ optimal control problem in section 3.1. In section 3.2, we introduce two notions of turnpike of particular interest. In section 3.3 we discuss a well-known sufficient condition for turnpike property based on the detectability and stabilizability of the control system. In section 3.4, we prove several necessary conditions of turnpike property in terms of the detectability, stabilizability and the turnpike reference of the control system. Combining the previous results, we derive a necessary and sufficient condition of the turnpike property for finite dimensional case and point spectrum case in section 3.5. We also show that the exponential turnpike property for the generalized LQ optimal control problem is equivalent to the exponential turnpike property for the LQ optimal control problem plus an algebraic condition. In section 3.6, some illustrative examples are discussed to show the potential applications of our results.

In chapter 4, we conclude our thesis and discuss several open problems.

# Chapter 2

# **Mathematical background**

In the remaining part of this thesis, we assume that the standard concepts and results of functional analysis are known to the reader. These includes space completion, Riesz's representation theorem, uniform boundedness principle, closed range theorem and some properties of non-negative operators, Bochner integral and Hilbert space valued  $L^2$  functions and so on. Good references are [7, 14, 25, 34, 37, 45, 41]. We use  $\|\cdot\|$  (resp.  $\langle\cdot,\cdot\rangle$ ) to denote the norm (resp. inner product) on all complex Hilbert spaces. However, sometimes we write  $\|\cdot\|_{L^2}$  (resp.  $\langle\cdot,\cdot\rangle_{L^2}$ ) to emphasise the norm (resp. inner product) is considered on the corresponding  $L^2$  space. In the remaining part of this thesis, unless otherwise stated, we assume  $\mathcal{H}, \mathcal{U}$  and  $\mathcal{Y}$  are all complex Hilbert spaces.

## 2.1 Operator semigroups

In this subsection, we collect some standard results on operator semigroups. For more details on this section, we refer [41, Chapter 1-3].

For  $A \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$  and  $t \in \mathbb{R}$ , the matrix exponential  $e^{tA}$  is defined by

$$e^{tA} := I + tA + \frac{t^2}{2!}A^2 + \frac{t^3}{3!}A^3 + \dots$$

The absolute convergence of the above series follows easily from basic linear algebra. In finite dimensional systems, the matrix exponentials are used to describe the evolution of the state of a linear system in the absence of an input. Considering the following linear dynamics:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dx}{dt} = Ax + Bu, \\ x(0) = x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^n. \end{cases}$$

where  $A \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times n}$ ,  $B \in \mathbb{R}^{n \times m}$  and  $u \in L^2_{loc}((0, \infty), \mathbb{R}^m)$ . The formula

$$x(t) := e^{tA}x_0 + \int_0^t e^{(t-s)A}Bu(s)ds$$

defines the unique absolute continuous function x(t) on  $[0, \infty)$  that verifies the above equation almost everywhere. Strongly continuous operator semigroups are the natural generalization of matrix exponentials to infinite dimensional systems. This section is devoted to introduce the basics of strongly continuous operator semigroups on (complex) Hilbert spaces.

**Definition 2.1.1.** We call a family  $\mathcal{T} = (\mathcal{T}_t)_{t\geq 0}$  of operators in  $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$  a strongly continuous operator semigroup (or a  $C_0$ -semigroup) on  $\mathcal{H}$  if

- (a)  $\mathcal{T}_0 = I$
- (b)  $\mathcal{T}_{t+s} = \mathcal{T}_t \mathcal{T}_s$  for every  $t, s \ge 0$
- (c)  $\lim_{t>0,t\to 0} \mathcal{T}_t x = x$  for every  $x \in \mathcal{H}$ .

The growth bound  $w_0(\mathcal{T})$  of  $\mathcal{T}$  is defined by

$$w_0(\mathcal{T}) := \inf_{t \in (0,\infty)} \frac{1}{t} \log \|\mathcal{T}_t\|.$$

Clearly,  $w_0(\mathcal{T}) \in [-\infty, \infty)$ .

The infinitesimal generator (or just the generator)  $A: D(A) \to \mathcal{H}$  of  $\mathcal{T}$  is defined by

$$D(A) := \left\{ x \in \mathcal{H} \mid \lim_{t > 0, t \to 0} \frac{\mathcal{T}_t x - x}{t} \text{ exists} \right\},$$
$$Ax := \lim_{t > 0, t \to 0} \frac{\mathcal{T}_t x - x}{t}, \quad \forall x \in D(A).$$

We collect some useful facts about  $C_0$ -semigroups in the following proposition.

**Proposition 2.1.2.** For a  $C_0$ -semigroup  $\mathcal{T}$ , its growth bound  $w_0(\mathcal{T})$  and generator A, the following statements hold:

(a) For any  $w > w_0(\mathcal{T})$ , there exists some  $M_w > 0$  such that

$$\|\mathcal{T}_t\| \le M_w e^{wt}, \quad \forall t \ge 0.$$

- (b) The function  $\psi : [0, \infty) \times \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H}$  defined by  $\psi(t, x) := \mathcal{T}_t x$  is continuous with respect to the induced product topology.
- (c) A is a closed operator, i.e., the graph set G(A) of A, defined by

$$G(A) := \left\{ \begin{bmatrix} f \\ Af \end{bmatrix} \middle| f \in D(A) \right\}$$

is closed in  $\mathcal{H} \times \mathcal{H}$ .

- (d) D(A) is dense in  $\mathcal{H}$ .
- (e) For any  $s \in \mathbb{C}$  with  $\operatorname{Re} s > w_0(T)$ ,  $s \in \rho(A)$ .
- (f) For any  $x \in D(A)$  and  $t \ge 0$ ,  $\mathcal{T}_t x \in D(A)$  and

$$\frac{d\mathcal{T}_t x}{dt} = A\mathcal{T}_t x = \mathcal{T}_t A x.$$

Assume  $A_0: D(A_0) \to \mathcal{H}$  is a densely defined closed operator on a Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}$ , then its adjoint operator, denoted  $A_0^*$  is defined on the set

$$D(A^*) = \left\{ y \in \mathcal{H} \mid \sup_{x \in D(A), x \neq 0} \frac{\langle Ax, y \rangle}{\|x\|} < \infty \right\}$$

By Riesz's representation theorem, for each  $y \in D(A^*)$ , there exists a unique  $w \in \mathcal{H}$  such that  $\langle Ax, y \rangle = \langle x, w \rangle$  holds for any  $x \in D(A)$ . Then we define  $A^*y = w$ , so that

$$\langle Ax, y \rangle = \langle x, A^*y \rangle, \ \forall x \in D(A), y \in D(A^*).$$

It can be shown that the adjoint operator  $A_0^*$  as defined above is also densely defined and closed. Moreover, if  $s \in \rho(A)$ , then  $\overline{s} \in \rho(A^*)$ . When A is further assumed to be the generator of a  $C_0$ -semigroup, we have the following proposition.

**Proposition 2.1.3.** Let  $\mathcal{T}$  be a  $C_0$ -semigroup on  $\mathcal{H}$  and A be its generator, then  $\mathcal{T}^* := (\mathcal{T}^*_t)_{t\geq 0}$  is also a  $C_0$ -semigroup, with generator  $A^*$ . Moreover,  $w_0(\mathcal{T}) = w_0(\mathcal{T}^*)$ .

The semigroup  $\mathcal{T}^*$  is called the adjoint semigroup of  $\mathcal{T}$ .

We now introduce two very important spaces, named  $\mathcal{H}_1$  and  $\mathcal{H}_{-1}$ , as well as their dual with respect to the pivot space  $\mathcal{H}, \mathcal{H}_{-1}^d$  and  $\mathcal{H}_1^d$ .

**Proposition 2.1.4.** Let A be the generator of a  $C_0$ -semigroup  $\mathcal{T}$  on  $\mathcal{H}$  and  $s \in \rho(A)$ . The space D(A) endowed with the inner product

$$\langle x_1, x_2 \rangle_{\mathcal{H}_1} := \langle (sI - A)x_1, (sI - A)x_2 \rangle, \quad \forall x_1, x_2 \in D(A),$$

and the space  $D(A^*)$  endowed with the inner product

$$\langle y_1, y_2 \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^d_1} := \langle (\overline{s}I - A^*)y_1, (\overline{s}I - A^*)y_2 \rangle, \quad \forall y_1, y_2 \in D(A^*)$$

are all Hilbert spaces, denoted  $\mathcal{H}_1$  and  $\mathcal{H}_1^d$ , respectively.

Let  $\mathcal{H}_{-1}$  be the space completion of  $\mathcal{H}$  with respect to the inner product

$$\langle x_1, x_2 \rangle_{\mathcal{H}_{-1}} := \langle (sI - A)^{-1} x_1, (sI - A)^{-1} x_2 \rangle, \quad \forall x_1, x_2 \in \mathcal{H},$$

and  $\mathcal{H}_{-1}^d$  be the space completion of  $\mathcal{H}$  with respect to the inner product

$$\langle y_1, y_2 \rangle_{\mathcal{H}_{-1}^d} := \langle (\overline{s}I - A^*)^{-1} y_1, (\overline{s}I - A^*)^{-1} y_2 \rangle, \quad \forall y_1, y_2 \in \mathcal{H},$$

then  $\mathcal{H}_{-1}$  and  $\mathcal{H}_{-1}^d$  are all Hilbert spaces.

In fact, the induced norm on  $\mathcal{H}_1$ ,  $\mathcal{H}_1^d$ ,  $\mathcal{H}_{-1}$  or  $\mathcal{H}_{-1}^d$  is always equivalent to the corresponding induced norm of the same space defined with respect to a different  $s \in \rho(A)$ . So from the topology point of view, there is no need to specific the corresponding  $s \in \rho(A)$ .

Concerning the properties of these spaces, we have following proposition.

**Proposition 2.1.5.** Under the assumptions of Proposition 2.1.4, the following statements hold:

(a) The space  $\mathcal{H}_{-1}^d$  is isomorphic to the space  $(\mathcal{H}_1)'$ , i.e., there exists a bijective linear map  $J: \mathcal{H}_{-1}^d \to (\mathcal{H}_1)'$  such that

$$||y||_{\mathcal{H}_{-1}^d} = \sup_{x \in \mathcal{H}_1, ||x||_{\mathcal{H}_1} = 1} |Jy(x)|.$$

- (b) The space  $\mathcal{H}_{-1}$  is isomorphic to the space  $(\mathcal{H}_1^d)'$ .
- (c) The identity maps from  $\mathcal{H}_1$  to  $\mathcal{H}$ ,  $\mathcal{H}_1^d$  to  $\mathcal{H}$ ,  $\mathcal{H}$  to  $\mathcal{H}_{-1}$  and  $\mathcal{H}$  to  $\mathcal{H}_{-1}^d$  are all continuous.
- (c)  $A \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_1, \mathcal{H})$ , and has a unique extension in  $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}, \mathcal{H}_{-1})$ .
- (d)  $A^* \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}_1^d, \mathcal{H})$ , and has a unique extension in  $\mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}, \mathcal{H}_{-1}^d)$ .

In the sequel, we will use A and  $A^*$  again to denote the extension of A and  $A^*$  in  $L(\mathcal{H}, \mathcal{H}_{-1})$ and  $L(\mathcal{H}, \mathcal{H}_{-1})$ , respectively. And we will identify  $\mathcal{H}_{-1}^d$  with  $(\mathcal{H}_1)'$  by not distinguishing y and Jy as in Proposition 2.1.5. Concerning the duality relations, we define the pairing  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{\mathcal{H}_1, \mathcal{H}_{-1}^d}$  by setting

$$\langle x, y \rangle_{\mathcal{H}_1, \mathcal{H}^d_1} := Jy(x), \ \forall x \in \mathcal{H}_1, y \in \mathcal{H}^d_{-1}$$

and the pairing  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{\mathcal{H}_{-1}^d, \mathcal{H}_1}$  by setting

$$\langle y, x \rangle_{\mathcal{H}_{-1}^d, \mathcal{H}_1} := \overline{Jy(x)}, \ \forall x \in \mathcal{H}_1, y \in \mathcal{H}_{-1}^d.$$

Similarly, we will also identify  $\mathcal{H}_{-1}$  with  $(\mathcal{H}_1^d)'$ . The pairings  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{\mathcal{H}_1^d, \mathcal{H}_{-1}}$  and  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{\mathcal{H}_1^d, \mathcal{H}_{-1}}$  are defined analogously.

Our next proposition shows that if A generates a semigroup and  $P \in L(\mathcal{H})$ , then A + P still generates a semigroup.

**Proposition 2.1.6.** If A generates a  $C_0$ -semigroup  $\mathcal{T}$  on  $\mathcal{H}$  and  $P \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$ , then  $A+P : D(A) \rightarrow \mathcal{H}$  is the generator of a  $C_0$ -semigroup  $\widetilde{\mathcal{T}}$  on  $\mathcal{H}$ . Moreover, if  $\mathcal{T}$  satisfies the estimate

$$\|\mathcal{T}_t\| \le M e^{wt}, \ \forall t \ge 0$$

for some  $w \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $M \geq 1$ , then  $\widetilde{\mathcal{T}}$  satisfies the estimate

$$\|\widetilde{\mathcal{T}}_t\| \le M e^{(w+M\|P\|)t}, \ \forall t \ge 0.$$

From now on, we will assume that A is the generator of some  $C_0$ -semigroup  $\mathcal{T}$  on  $\mathcal{H}$ ,  $B \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{U}, \mathcal{H})$  and  $C \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}, \mathcal{Y})$ . We now introduce the input map and output map.

**Definition 2.1.7.** For each  $t \ge 0$ , the input map  $\Phi_t : L^2((0,\infty), \mathcal{U}) \to \mathcal{H}$  is defined by

$$\Phi_t u := \int_0^t \mathcal{T}_{t-s} Bu(s) ds,$$

and the output map  $\Psi_t : \mathcal{H} \to L^2((0,\infty),\mathcal{Y})$  is defined by

$$(\Psi_t x)(s) := \begin{cases} C\mathcal{T}_s x, & s \in [0, t], \\ 0, & s > t. \end{cases}$$

Obviously  $\Phi_t \in \mathcal{L}(L^2((0,\infty),\mathcal{U}),\mathcal{H})$  and  $\Psi_t \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}, L^2((0,\infty),\mathcal{Y}))$  for any  $t \ge 0$ . Now we complement some properties of the input and output operator.

**Proposition 2.1.8.** Let  $w \in \mathbb{R}$  and  $M \ge 1$  be such that  $\|\mathcal{T}_t\| \le Me^{wt}$ , for all  $t \ge 0$ .

- (a) If w > 0, there exists  $\widetilde{M} \ge 0$  such that  $\|\Phi_t\|, \|\Psi_t\| \le \widetilde{M}e^{wt}, \forall t \ge 0$ .
- (b) If w = 0, there exists  $\widetilde{M} \ge 0$  such that  $\|\Phi_t\|, \|\Psi_t\| \le \widetilde{M}(1+t)^{\frac{1}{2}}, \forall t \ge 0$ .
- (c) If w < 0, there exists  $\widetilde{M} \ge 0$  such that  $\|\Phi_t\|, \|\Psi_t\| \le \widetilde{M}, \forall t \ge 0$ .

**Proposition 2.1.9.** Let the function  $\psi : [0, \infty) \times L^2((0, \infty), \mathcal{U}) \to \mathcal{H}$  be defined by

$$\psi(t,u) := \Phi_t u$$

Then  $\psi$  is continuous with respect to the product topology on  $[0,\infty) \times L^2((0,\infty),\mathcal{U})$ .

The next two proposition provides the regularity result of the solution of certain systems. **Proposition 2.1.10.** For any  $x_0 \in \mathcal{H}$  and  $u \in L^2_{loc}((0, \infty), \mathcal{U})$ , the problem

$$\begin{cases} \dot{x} = Ax + Bu\\ x(0) = x_0 \end{cases}$$

admits a unique solution  $x \in C([0,\infty), \mathcal{H}) \cap H^1_{loc}((0,\infty), \mathcal{H}_{-1})$  in the sense that

$$x(t) - x_0 = \int_0^t Ax(s) + Bu(s)ds, \quad \forall t \ge 0$$

with the integration carried out in  $\mathcal{H}_{-1}$ . Moreover, this solution x is given by

 $x(t) = \mathcal{T}_t x_0 + \Phi_t u, \ \forall t \ge 0.$ 

If, in addition,  $u \in H^1_{loc}((0,\infty), \mathcal{U})$  and  $x_0 \in D(A)$ , then the solution is in fact a strict one, *i.e.*,  $x \in C^1([0,\infty), \mathcal{H}) \cap C([0,\infty), \mathcal{H}_1)$ .

**Proposition 2.1.11.** Let  $x_0 \in \mathcal{H}$ ,  $F \in C_s([0,\infty), \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}))$  and  $f \in L^2_{loc}((0,\infty), \mathcal{H})$ . The problem

$$\dot{x}(t) = Ax(t) + F(t)x(t) + f(t), \ x(0) = x_0 \in \mathcal{H}$$

admits a unique solution  $x \in C([0,\infty), \mathcal{H}) \cap H^1_{loc}((0,\infty), \mathcal{H}_{-1})$  in the sense that

$$x(t) - x_0 = \int_0^t Ax(s) + F(s)x(s) + f(s)ds, \ \forall t \ge 0$$

with the integration carried out in  $\mathcal{H}_{-1}$ .

If, in addition,  $F \in C_s^1([0,\infty), \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}))$ ,  $f \in H^1_{loc}((0,\infty), \mathcal{H})$  and  $x_0 \in D(A)$ , then the solution is in fact a strict one, i.e.,  $x \in C^1([0,\infty), \mathcal{H}) \cap C([0,\infty), \mathcal{H}_1)$ .

### 2.2 Optimal control

Roughly speaking, the (unconstrained) optimal control problem for infinite dimensional systems aims to find the optimal pair  $(x^*(\cdot), u^*(\cdot))$  which minimizes a functional in a form of

$$J_T(x(\cdot), u(\cdot)) := \int_0^T f_0(t, x(t), u(t)) dt$$

among all admissible pairs  $(x(\cdot), u(\cdot))$ .

Here x is considered to be the (mild) solution of the evolution system

$$\begin{cases} \dot{x}(t) = Ax(t) + f(t, x(t), u(t)), & t \in [0, T], \\ x(0) = x_0. \end{cases}$$

In this thesis, we are concerned with the following generalized LQ optimal control problem corresponding to time horizon T > 0:

The generalized LQ optimal control problem  $(GLQ)_T$ . Find the optimal pair

 $(x^*(\cdot), u^*(\cdot)) \in L^2((0,T), \mathcal{H}) \times L^2((0,T), \mathcal{U})$ 

which minimizes the cost functional

$$J_T(x_0, u) := \int_0^T \ell(x(t), u(t)) dt, \qquad (2.1)$$

where the running cost  $\ell : \mathcal{H} \times \mathcal{U} \to \mathbb{R}$  is defined by

$$\ell(x,u) := \|Cx\|^2 + \|Ku\|^2 + 2\operatorname{Re}\langle z,x\rangle + 2\operatorname{Re}\langle v,u\rangle, \qquad (2.2)$$

and the associated dynamical system is

$$\begin{cases} \dot{x}(t) = Ax(t) + Bu(t), \\ x(0) = x_0 \in \mathcal{H}. \end{cases}$$
(2.3)

Here, we assume that  $C \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}, \mathcal{Y})$ ,  $K \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{U})$ ,  $z \in \mathcal{H}$  and  $v \in \mathcal{U}$ . K is further assumed to be coercive, i.e., there exists a constant m > 0 such that  $\langle K^*Ku, u \rangle \ge m ||u||^2$  for any  $u \in \mathcal{U}$ . Regarding the dynamical system, we assume that A is the generator of a strongly continuous semigroup  $\mathcal{T} = (\mathcal{T}_t)_{t>0}$  on  $\mathcal{H}$  and  $B \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{U}, \mathcal{H})$ .

In particular, if z = 0 and v = 0, we shall call it the LQ optimal control problem, which is abbreviated to  $(LQ)_T$ .

In the following subsections, we will introduce the necessary background about Pontryagin's maximum principle and the Riccati equations. The maximum principle gives necessary condition for the optimality system, and the Riccati equations help to establish the optimal linear state feedback control of LQ optimal control problem.

#### 2.2.1 Maximum principle

Consider the general optimal control problem mentioned at the beginning of this section.

Now assume that  $\mathcal{H}, \mathcal{U}, \mathcal{Y}$  are all finite dimensional Hilbert spaces and A = 0. Define the Hamiltonian  $H : [0, T] \times \mathcal{H} \times \mathcal{U} \times \mathcal{H} \times \mathbb{R}$  by

$$H(t, x, u, p, p_0) := p_0 f_0(t, x, u) + \langle p, f(t, x, u) \rangle$$

Pontryagin's maximum principle claims that, under some regularity conditions, if  $(x^*(\cdot), u^*(\cdot))$  is an optimal pair for the above optimal control problem, then there exists a nontrivial pair  $(p_0, p(\cdot)) \in \mathbb{R} \times C([0, T], \mathcal{H})$  such that

$$\begin{cases} p_0 \leq 0, \\ \dot{x}^*(t) = f(t, x^*(t), u^*(t)), \text{ a.e. } t \in [0, T], \\ x^*(0) = x_0, \\ \dot{p}(t) = -f_x(t, x^*(t), u^*(t))^* p(t) - (f_0)_x(t, x^*(t), u^*(t)) p_0, \text{ a.e. } t \in [0, T], \\ p(T) = 0, \\ H(t, x^*(t), u^*(t), p(t), p_0) = \max_{u \in \mathcal{U}} H(t, x^*(t), u, p(t), p_0), \text{ a.e. } t \in [0, T]. \end{cases}$$

In the above, we refer to p as the adjoint state. Several generalizations of Pontryagin's maximum principle to infinite dimensional case are available. See, e.g., [29, 15] for more details.

In particular, Pontryagin's maximum principle has been extensively studied in [29] for LQ optimal control problem, considering both bounded and unbounded input. Roughly speaking, Pontryagin's maximum principle holds at  $x_0 \in \mathcal{H}$  if and only if the LQ optimal control problem (possibily with unbounded input) is solvable at  $x_0 \in \mathcal{H}$ , i.e., an optimal pair exists. In fact, we will prove in section 3.1 that the optimal pair exists and is unique for our optimal control problem  $(GLQ)_T$  (thus also  $(LQ)_T$ ) with any initial condition  $x_0 \in \mathcal{H}$ . This explains the motivation of the Hamiltonian systems appearing in our proof.

However, to the sake of simplicity, we will directly verify these Hamiltonian systems in our proof instead of explaining in details the statement (which is a little bit technical) of Pontryagin's maximum principle in infinite dimensional setting and deriving these Hamiltonian systems. Based on our result, we can eventually show that if turnpike property is satisfied for  $(GLQ)_T$ , then Pontryagin's maximum principle holds with  $p_0 = -1$  (by the linearity of the Hamiltonian system, this is equivalent to  $p_0 \neq 0$ ).

#### 2.2.2 Riccati equations

In this subsection, we introduce some well-known results on differential and algebraic Riccati equations. This material can be found in many books, of which we mention [6, Part IV, Section 1] and [6, Part V, Section 1]. In this subsection, we assume that all the assumptions of  $(GLQ)_T$  are verified.

Consider the differential Riccati equation:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dP}{dt} - A^*P - PA + PB(K^*K)^{-1}B^*P - C^*C = 0\\ P(0) = P_0 \in \Sigma^+(\mathcal{H}). \end{cases}$$
(2.4)

Since A is unbounded, it is not clear at this moment what we mean by a solution of (2.4). We now define the notion of mild solution and weak solution.

**Definition 2.2.1.** A function  $P \in C_s([0,\infty), \Sigma(\mathcal{H}))$  is called a mild solution of problem (2.4) if *it verifies* 

$$P(t)x_0 = \mathcal{T}_t^* P_0 \mathcal{T}_t x_0 + \int_0^t \mathcal{T}_s^* C^* C \mathcal{T}_s x_0 ds - \int_0^t \mathcal{T}_{t-s}^* P(s) B(K^* K)^{-1} B^* P(s) \mathcal{T}_{t-s} x_0 ds,$$

for any  $x_0 \in \mathcal{H}$  and  $t \geq 0$ .

A function  $P \in C_s([0,\infty), \Sigma(\mathcal{H}))$  is called a weak solution of problem (2.4) if  $P(0) = P_0$ , and for any  $x, y \in D(A)$ ,  $\langle P(\cdot)x, y \rangle$  is a differentiable function such that

$$\frac{d\langle P(t)x,y\rangle}{dt} = \langle P(t)x,Ay\rangle + \langle P(t)Ax,y\rangle - \langle (K^*K)^{-1}B^*P(t)x,B^*P(t)y\rangle + \langle Cx,Cy\rangle, \ \forall t \ge 0.$$

Concerning the mild and weak solution of (2.4), we have the following result.

**Proposition 2.2.2.** *P* is a mild solution of problem (2.4) if and only if *P* is a weak solution of problem (2.4). For any  $P_0 \in \Sigma^+(\mathcal{H})$ , there exists a unique mild solution  $P \in C_s([0, \infty), \Sigma^+(\mathcal{H}))$  of the differential Riccati equation (2.4).

The following well-known transform (see, e.g., [6, Part IV, Chapter 1, Proposition 6.2]) shows the cost functional  $J_T$  from  $(GLQ)_T$  can be rewritten as:

$$J_T(x_0, u) = \int_0^T \|K(u(t) + (K^*K)^{-1}B^*P(T-t)x(t))\|^2 dt + \langle P(T)x_0, x_0 \rangle,$$
(2.5)

where x is the solution of (2.3). So, the optimal control for the LQ optimal control problem can be given in a feedback form:

$$u(t) = -(K^*K)^{-1}B^*P(T-t)x(t), \ t \in [0,T].$$

By imposing some restriction on  $P_0$ , we can ensure P to have stronger regularity. Now for any  $F \in \Sigma(\mathcal{H})$ , we introduce the bilinear map

$$\varphi_F(x,y) := \langle Fx, Ay \rangle + \langle Ax, Fy \rangle, \quad \forall x, y \in D(A).$$

Let  $D(\mathcal{A}) := \{F \in \Sigma(\mathcal{H}) | \varphi_F \text{ has a continuous extension to } \mathcal{H} \times \mathcal{H}\}$ , then for any  $F \in D(\mathcal{A})$ , there exists a unique bounded linear operator  $\mathcal{A}(F) : \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{H}$  satisfying

$$\langle \mathcal{A}(F)x, y \rangle = \langle Fx, Ay \rangle + \langle Ax, Fy \rangle, \quad \forall x, y \in D(A).$$

**Definition 2.2.3.** A strict solution of (2.4) is a function  $P \in C_s([0,\infty), \Sigma(\mathcal{H}))$  such that

- (a)  $P(\cdot) \in C^1_s([0,\infty), \Sigma(\mathcal{H})).$
- (b)  $P(t) \in D(\mathcal{A}), \forall t \ge 0 \text{ and } P(0) = P_0.$
- (c)  $\mathcal{A}(P(\cdot)) \in C_s([0,\infty), \Sigma(\mathcal{H}))$  and  $P' = \mathcal{A}(P) PB(K^*K)^{-1}B^*P + C^*C$ .

Concerning the strict solutions of problem (2.4), we have the following result.

**Proposition 2.2.4.** If P is a strict solution of problem (2.4), then P is also a mild solution of problem (2.4). Moreover, if  $P_0 \in \Sigma^+(\mathcal{H})$  and  $P_0 \in D(\mathcal{A})$ , then there exists a unique strict solution  $P \in C_s([0, \infty), \Sigma^+(\mathcal{H}))$  of the differential Riccati equation (2.4).

Notice that  $0 \in D(A)$ , so the unique solution P of problem (2.4) with initial condition  $P_0 = 0$  is actually a strict one.

Now let us consider the algebraic Riccati equation:

$$A^*P + PA - PB(K^*K)^{-1}B^*P + C^*C = 0.$$
(2.6)

**Definition 2.2.5.** A solution of the algebraic Riccati equation (2.6) is a function  $P \in \Sigma(\mathcal{H})$  such that

$$\langle Px, Ay \rangle + \langle PAx, y \rangle - \langle (K^*K)^{-1}B^*Px, B^*Py \rangle + \langle Cx, Cy \rangle = 0, \ \forall x, y \in D(A).$$

The next proposition collects some facts about the solution of (2.6).

**Proposition 2.2.6.** Define the cost functional  $J_{\infty} : \mathcal{H} \times L^2((0,\infty),\mathcal{U}) \to \overline{\mathbb{R}}$  by

$$J_{\infty}(x_0, u) := \int_0^\infty \|Cx(t)\|^2 + \|Ku(t)\|^2 dt,$$

where x is the solution of (2.3). Then the following statements hold:

(a) A non-negative solution of the algebraic Riccati equation (2.6) exists if and only if the pair (A, B) is C-stabilizable, i.e., for any  $x_0 \in \mathcal{H}$ ,

$$\inf_{u \in L^2((0,\infty),\mathcal{H})} J_\infty(x_0, u) < \infty.$$
(2.7)

*Notice* (2.7) *does not rely on the selection of coercive*  $K \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{U})$ *.* 

(b) If (A, B) is C-stabilizable, then there exists a minimal non-negative solution of the algebraic Riccati equation (2.6), denoted  $P_{\min}$ , i.e.,  $P_{\min}$  is a non-negative solution of (2.6), and for any non-negative solution P of (2.6),

$$\langle P_{\min}x, x \rangle \leq \langle Px, x \rangle, \ \forall x \in \mathcal{H}.$$

(c) If (A, B) is C-stabilizable, then for any  $x_0 \in \mathcal{H}$ , the optimal control to minimize  $J_{\infty}(x_0, \cdot)$  is given in a feedback form

$$u(t) = -(K^*K)^{-1}B^*P_{\min}x(t), \ \forall t \ge 0.$$

Moreover,

$$\inf_{u \in L^2((0,\infty),\mathcal{U})} J_\infty(x_0, u) = \langle P_{\min}x_0, x_0 \rangle.$$

(d) If (A, B) is C-stabilizable and (A, C) is exponentially detectable, i.e., the pair  $(A^*, C^*)$  is I-stabilizable, then the  $C_0$ -semigroup generated by  $A - B(K^*K)^{-1}B^*P_{\min}$  is exponentially stable.

In the remaining part of this thesis, we will use  $P_{\min}$  to denote the minimal non-negative solution of the algebraic Riccati equation (2.6).

The next proposition concerns the convergence property of P to  $P_{\min}$ . In section 3.3 we will generalize the exponential convergence result to infinite dimensional setting based on our stabilizability and detectability assumptions.

**Proposition 2.2.7.** Suppose (A, B) is C-stabilizable. Let  $P(\cdot)$  be the solution of (2.4) with initial condition  $P_0 \in \Sigma^+(\mathcal{H})$  and  $P_{\min}$  be the minimal non-negative solution of (2.6), then  $P(\cdot)$  converges to  $P_{\min}$  in strong operator topology.

Additionally, if  $\mathcal{H}$ ,  $\mathcal{U}$  and  $\mathcal{Y}$  are all finite dimensional spaces, then  $P(\cdot)$  converges to  $P_{\min}$  exponentially in norm topology, i.e., there exist constants M, k > 0 such that

$$||P(t) - P_{\min}|| \le M e^{-kt}, \ \forall t \ge 0.$$

**Remark 2.2.8.** The initial condition  $P_0 \in \Sigma^+(\mathcal{H})$  is linked to the terminal cost of the LQ optimal control problem. In our setting, the terminal term is 0, so in the reminder of this thesis, unless otherwise stated, we will use P to denote the unique solution of problem (2.4) with initial condition  $P_0 = 0$ .

## **Chapter 3**

# **Turnpike property for generalized linear-quadratic optimal control problem**

### **3.1** Existence and uniqueness of the optimal control

In this section, we prove that for any T > 0, the optimal pair of the optimal control problem  $(GLQ)_T$  exists and is unique.

**Theorem 3.1.1.** For any T > 0, there exists a unique optimal pair

$$(x^*(\cdot), u^*(\cdot)) \in L^2((0, T), \mathcal{H}) \times L^2((0, T), \mathcal{U})$$

of the optimal control problem  $(GLQ)_T$ .

*Proof.* Fix some T > 0 and  $x_0 \in \mathcal{H}$ . Define

$$m := \inf_{u \in L^2((0,T),\mathcal{H})} J_T(x_0, u).$$

Obviously  $m > -\infty$ . Now let  $(u_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$  be a sequence of controls in  $L^2((0,T),\mathcal{U})$  such that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} J_T(x_0, u_n) = m.$$
(3.1)

We claim that  $(u_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$  is a bounded sequence. In fact, since K is coercive, there exists  $m_K > 0$ 

such that  $K^*K \ge m_K I$ . Notice that for any  $u \in L^2((0,T),\mathcal{U})$ ,

$$J_T(x_0, u) = \int_0^T \|Cx(t)\|^2 + \|Ku(t)\|^2 + 2\operatorname{Re}\langle z, x(t)\rangle + 2\operatorname{Re}\langle v, u(t)\rangle dt$$
$$\geq m_K \|u\|_{L^2}^2 - \int_0^T 2\|z\| \|x(t)\| + 2\|v\| \|u(t)\| dt.$$

Since  $x(t) = \mathcal{T}_t x_0 + \Phi_t u$ , there exists  $m_1, m_2 > 0$  such that

$$\int_0^T 2\|z\| \|x(t)\| dt \le \int_0^T m_1 + m_2 \|u\|_{L^2} dt = T(m_1 + m_2 \|u\|_{L^2}).$$

By Hölder's inequality, there exists  $m_3 > 0$  such that

$$\int_0^T 2\|v\| \|u(t)\| dt = T\|v\| \|u\|_{L^1} \le m_3 \|u\|_{L^2}$$

Combining the above estimates, we obtain that

$$J_T(u, x_0) \ge m_K \|u\|_{L^2}^2 - (m_2 T + m_3) \|u\|_{L^2} - m_1 T, \ \forall u \in L^2((0, T), \mathcal{U}).$$

This, together with (3.1) implies that the sequence  $(u_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$  is bounded. So, there exists a subsequence, denoted again  $(u_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$  and  $u^* \in L^2((0,T),\mathcal{H})$  such that  $u_n \rightharpoonup u^*$  as  $n \to \infty$ .

Denote by  $x_n, n \in \mathbb{N}$  the trajectory corresponding to initial condition  $x_0$  and input  $u_n$  and  $x^*$  the trajectory corresponding to initial condition  $x_0$  and input  $u^*$ . Notice that, for any  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ ,

$$||Ku^*||_{L^2}^2 = ||K(u^* - u_n)||_{L^2}^2 + 2\operatorname{Re}\langle K^*Ku^*, u_n\rangle_{L^2} - ||Ku_n||_{L^2}^2$$

Since  $u_n \rightharpoonup u^*$  as  $n \rightarrow \infty$ , we obtain that, for any  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ ,

$$\|Ku^*\|_{L^2}^2 \ge \limsup_{n \to \infty} (2\operatorname{Re}\langle K^*Ku^*, u_n \rangle_{L^2} - \|Ku_n\|_{L^2}^2) = 2\|Ku^*\|_{L^2}^2 - \liminf_{n \to \infty} \|Ku_n\|_{L^2}^2$$

A simple calculation shows that for any  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ ,

$$\|Ku^*\|_{L^2}^2 + 2\operatorname{Re}\langle v, u^*\rangle_{L^2} \le \liminf_{n \to \infty} (\|Ku_n\|_{L^2}^2 + 2\operatorname{Re}\langle v, u_n\rangle_{L^2}).$$
(3.2)

Besides, since  $\Phi \in \mathcal{L}(L^2((0,T),\mathcal{U}), L^2((0,T),\mathcal{H}))$ ,  $\Phi$  is a weak-weak continuous linear operator (this follows easily from the definition of weak convergence), which implies that

$$x_n(\cdot) = \mathcal{T} \cdot x_0 + \Phi \cdot u_n \rightharpoonup \mathcal{T} \cdot x_0 + \Phi \cdot u^* = x^*(\cdot)$$
 in  $L^2((0,T),\mathcal{H})$ 

Now following the same manner as the proof of (3.2), we deduce that

$$\|Cx^*\|_{L^2}^2 + 2\operatorname{Re}\langle z, x^*\rangle_{L^2} \le \liminf_{n \to \infty} (\|Cx_n\|_{L^2}^2 + 2\operatorname{Re}\langle z, x_n\rangle_{L^2}).$$
(3.3)

This, together with (3.2) implies that

$$J_T(x_0, u^*) \le \lim_{n \to \infty} J_T(x_0, u_n) = \inf_{u \in L^2((0,T), \mathcal{H})} J_T(x_0, u).$$

So,  $(x^*, u^*)$  is an optimal pair of the problem  $(GLQ)_T$ .

It only remains to prove the uniqueness of the optimal pair. Assume that  $(x_1^*, u_1^*)$  and  $(x_2^*, u_2^*)$  are two distinct optimal pairs of the problem  $(GLQ)_T$ . Simple calculations show that

$$\frac{J(x_0, u_1^*) + J(x_0, u_2^*)}{2} - J\left(x_0, \frac{u_1^* + u_2^*}{2}\right) = \frac{1}{4} \int_0^T \|C(x_1^*(t) - x_2^*(t))\|^2 + \|K(u_1^*(t) - u_2^*(t))\| dt.$$

Since obiviously  $u_1^* \neq u_2^*$  in  $L^2((0,T), \mathcal{U})$  and K is coercive, we obtain that

$$J\left(\frac{u_1^* + u_2^*}{2}, x_0\right) < \frac{J(u_1^*, x_0) + J(u_2^*, x_0)}{2} = \inf_{u \in L^2((0,T),\mathcal{H})} J_T(u, x_0),$$

which gives a contradiction.

### **3.2** Some notions of turnpike

In the remaining part of this thesis, we denote by  $x_T^*(\cdot, x_0)$  and  $u_T^*(\cdot, x_0)$ , or simply by  $x^*$  and  $u^*$  when  $x_0$  and T are clear from the context, the optimal trajectory and optimal control of problem  $(GLQ)_T$  (or  $(LQ)_T$ ) corresponding to initial condition  $x_0 \in \mathcal{H}$  and time horizon T > 0.

Now, we are well-prepared to define the measure turnpike property and the exponential turnpike property at some steady state  $(x_e, u_e)$ . We recall that a steady state of system (2.3) is a pair  $(x_e, u_e) \in \mathcal{H} \times \mathcal{U}$  such that  $Ax_e + Bu_e = 0$ .

**Remark 3.2.1.** Since B is bounded, if  $(x_e, u_e)$  is a steady state, then  $Ax_e = -Bu_e \in \mathcal{H}$ . This implies  $x_e$  must be an element of D(A).

**Definition 3.2.2.** We say that the optimal control problem  $(GLQ)_T$  satisfies the measure turnpike property at some steady state  $(x_e, u_e)$  if, for any bounded neighborhood  $\mathcal{N}$  of  $x_e$  and  $\varepsilon > 0$ ,

there exists a constant  $M_{\mathcal{N},\varepsilon} > 0$  such that for all  $x_0 \in \mathcal{N}$  and time horizon T > 0, the optimal trajectory  $x_T^*(\cdot, x_0)$  and optimal control  $u_T^*(\cdot, x_0)$  of problem  $(GLQ)_T$  satisfy that

$$\mu \left\{ t \in [0,T] \mid \|x_T^*(t,x_0) - x_e\| + \|u_T^*(t,x_0) - u_e\| > \varepsilon \right\} \le M_{\mathcal{N},\varepsilon},$$

where  $\mu$  denotes the Lebesgue measure on  $\mathbb{R}$ .

We say that the optimal control problem  $(GLQ)_T$  satisfies the exponential turnpike property at some steady state  $(x_e, u_e)$  if, for any bounded neighborhood  $\mathcal{N}$  of  $x_e$ , there exists some positive constants  $M_{\mathcal{N}}$  and k such that for all  $x_0 \in \mathcal{N}$  and time horizon T > 0, the optimal trajectory  $x_T^*(\cdot, x_0)$  and optimal control  $u_T^*(\cdot, x_0)$  of problem  $(GLQ)_T$  satisfy that

$$||x_T^*(t, x_0) - x_e|| + ||u_T^*(t, x_0) - u_e|| \le M_{\mathcal{N}}(e^{-kt} + e^{-k(T-t)}), \ \forall t \in [0, T]$$

**Remark 3.2.3.** It is clear that exponential turnpike property is stronger than the measure turnpike property. So, any sufficient condition for exponential turnpike property is automatically a sufficient condition for measure turnpike property, and conversely, any necessary condition for measure turnpike property is also a necessary condition for exponential turnpike property.

To study the turnpike property, it is useful to analyse the optimal steady state corresponding to the running cost  $\ell$ . The optimal steady state problem is defined as:

$$\inf_{x \in D(A), u \in \mathcal{U}} \ell(x, u) \quad \text{s.t. } Ax + Bu = 0.$$
(3.4)

If  $(x_e, u_e)$  is a minimizer of equation (3.4), we say  $(x_e, u_e)$  is an optimal steady state.

We will also need several structural-theoretical properties of the control system under consideration, which we introduce in the following.

**Definition 3.2.4.** *The pair* (A, B) *is called exponentially stabilizable if* (A, B) *is I-stabilizable. The pair* (A, C) *is called exponentially detectable if*  $(A^*, C^*)$  *is I-stabilizable.* 

**Remark 3.2.5.** It can be proved that (A, B) is exponentially stabilizable if and only if there exists some  $F \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{Y}, \mathcal{H})$  such that A + BF generates an exponentially stable semigroup. Similarly, (A, C) is exponentially detectable if and only if there exists some  $L \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}, \mathcal{U})$  such that A + LCgenerates an exponentially stable semigroup. See, e.g., [6, Part V, Chapter 1, Remark 3.2].

Let the operator  $[A B] : D(A) \times \mathcal{U} \to \mathcal{H}$  be defined by

$$[A B] \begin{bmatrix} x \\ u \end{bmatrix} := Ax + Bu.$$

Notice that, since A and B are both closed operators, ker[A B] is closed in  $\mathcal{H} \times \mathcal{U}$ .

We denote by  $\begin{bmatrix} A^* \\ B^* \end{bmatrix}$  the adjoint operator of  $[A \ B]$ . It's easy to check that the domain of  $\begin{bmatrix} A^* \\ B^* \end{bmatrix}$  is  $D(A^*)$  and we have

$$\begin{bmatrix} A^* \\ B^* \end{bmatrix} w = \begin{bmatrix} A^* w \\ B^* w \end{bmatrix} \in \mathcal{H} \times \mathcal{U} , \quad \forall w \in D(A^*).$$

## **3.3** Sufficient condition for the turnpike property

Our main result of this section is the following one:

**Theorem 3.3.1.** If the pair (A, B) is exponentially stabilizable and the pair (A, C) is exponentially detectable, then problem  $(GLQ)_T$  shows exponential turnpike property (thus also measure turnpike property) at some steady state  $(x_e, u_e)$ .

The proof is lengthy and thus divided into several steps.

Step 1: Exponential convergence of P to  $P_{\min}$ .

As the first step, we will show that  $P(\cdot)$  converges exponentially to  $P_{\min}$  in norm based on our stabilizability and detectability assumption.

Step 2: Range condition and existence of the optimal adjoint state

In this step, we will prove that  $ran[A B] = \mathcal{H}$ , which helps us to establish the existence and uniqueness of the optimal steady state and the corresponding optimal adjoint state.

Step 3: Several estimates

In this step, we will make some simplifications to  $(GLQ)_T$  and prove two crucial estimates regarding the optimally controlled system of  $(LQ)_T$ .

Step 4: Explicit solution of the optimal control

We will derive the optimal control of  $(GLQ)_T$  in a closed form. The optimal trajectory can then be solved as the solution of a corresponding evolution problem.

Step 5: Main proof

Finally, we will complete the proof of Theorem 3.3.1 by means of a comparison between the cost corresponding to the optimal control and a perturbed control.

Each of the subsections that follow corresponds to one step in the proof. Until the end of this section, we assume that the pair (A, B) is exponentially stabilizable and the pair (A, C) is exponentially detectable.

#### **3.3.1** Exponential convergence of P to $P_{\min}$

The proof of our main result crucially relies on the exponential convergence in norm of  $P(\cdot)$  to  $P_{\min}$ . Different from the finite dimensional case, this convergence result turns out to be a consequence of both the stabilizability and detectability of the system. This section is devoted to the proof of this result, preceded by two preliminaries lemmas.

**Lemma 3.3.2.** There exists a constant M > 0 such that for every T > 0,  $u \in L^2((0,T), U)$  and  $x_0 \in H$ , we have

$$\|x(T)\|^{2} \le M\left(\int_{0}^{T} \|Cx(t)\|^{2} + \|u(t)\|^{2} dt + \|x_{0}\|^{2}\right),$$
(3.5)

where x is the solution of system (2.3).

*Proof.* Since the pair (A, C) is exponentially detectable, there exists some  $F \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{Y}, \mathcal{H})$  such that A + FC is exponentially stable. Let  $\phi_0 \in D(A^*)$  and  $\phi$  be the solution of problem

$$\begin{cases} \frac{d\phi}{dt} = (A^* + C^*F^*)\phi, \\ \phi(0) = \phi_0. \end{cases}$$

Owing to the exponential stability of  $A^* + C^*F^*$ , there exists some constant  $M_0 > 0$  such that for any T > 0, we have

$$\|\phi(T)\| \le M_0 \|\phi_0\|$$

and

$$\|\phi(\cdot)\|_{L^2((0,T),\mathcal{H})} \le M_0 \|\phi_0\|.$$

Notice that

$$\frac{d\langle x(t),\phi(T-t)\rangle}{dt} = \langle x(t),-(A^*+C^*F^*)\phi(T-t)\rangle + \langle Ax(t)+Bu(t),\phi(T-t)\rangle_{\mathcal{H}_{-1},\mathcal{H}_{1}^{d}}$$
$$= -\langle Cx(t),F^*\phi(T-t)\rangle + \langle Bu(t),\phi(T-t)\rangle.$$

Applying Hölder's inequality, we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \langle x(T), \phi_0 \rangle &= \langle x_0, \phi(T) \rangle + \int_0^T - \langle Cx(t), F^* \phi(T-t) \rangle + \langle Bu(t), \phi(T-t) \rangle \, dt \\ &\leq \|x_0\| \, \|\phi(T)\| + \|Cx\|_{L^2} \, \|F^* \phi\|_{L^2} + \|Bu\|_{L^2} \|\phi\|_{L^2} \\ &\leq M_1 \|x_0\| \|\phi_0\| + M_2 \|Cx\|_{L^2} \|\phi_0\| + M_3 \|u\|_{L^2} \|\phi_0\| \\ &\leq \sqrt{M} \|\phi_0\| \left( \|Cx\|_{L^2}^2 + \|u\|_{L^2}^2 + \|x_0\|^2 \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \end{aligned}$$

for some constants  $M_1, M_2, M_3$  and M > 0.

Now, by letting  $\phi_0 \to x(T)$  in  $\mathcal{H}$ , we get the estimate (3.5).

**Lemma 3.3.3.** There exists a constant M > 0 such that for every T > 0,  $f \in L^2((0,T), \mathcal{Y})$  and  $p_0 \in \mathcal{H}$ , we have

$$\|p(T)\|^{2} \leq M\left(\int_{0}^{T} \|B^{*}p(t)\|^{2} + \|f(t)\|^{2}dt + \|p_{0}\|^{2}\right), \qquad (3.6)$$

where *p* is the solution of

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dp}{dt} = A^*p + C^*f, \\ p(0) = p_0. \end{cases}$$

This is just the dual version of Lemma 3.3.2, so we skip the proof.

**Lemma 3.3.4** (Exponential convergence rate of *P*). There exist constants  $M, \beta > 0$  such that

$$||P_{\min} - P(t)|| \le M e^{-\beta t}, \quad \forall t \ge 0.$$
 (3.7)

*Proof.* Fix some T > 0 and  $x_0 \in \mathcal{H}$ . We denote by x the solution of

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dx}{dt} = (A - BB^* P_{\min})x & \text{in } [0, T], \\ x(0) = x_0. \end{cases}$$
(3.8)

Define  $p(t) := P_{\min}x(T-t)$  on [0,T]. We claim that p coincides with the solution of

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dy(t)}{dt} = A^* y(t) + C^* C x(T-t) & \text{in } [0,T], \\ y(0) = P_{\min} x(T). \end{cases}$$
(3.9)

In fact, suppose  $x_0 \in D(A)$ , then for any  $w \in D(A)$ , we have

$$\frac{d\langle p(t), w \rangle}{dt} = - \langle P_{\min}Ax(T-t), w \rangle + \langle P_{\min}BB^*P_{\min}x(T-t), w \rangle$$
$$= \langle A^*P_{\min}x(T-t) + C^*Cx(T-t), w \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^d_{-1}, \mathcal{H}_1}$$
$$= \langle A^*p(t) + C^*Cx(T-t), w \rangle_{\mathcal{H}^d_{-1}, \mathcal{H}_1}.$$

This implies that

$$\langle p(t) - p(0), w \rangle_{\mathcal{H}_{-1}^d, \mathcal{H}_1} = \int_0^t \langle A^* p(s) + C^* C x(T-s), w \rangle_{\mathcal{H}_{-1}^d, \mathcal{H}_1} ds$$
$$= \left\langle \int_0^t A^* p(s) + C^* C x(T-s) ds, w \right\rangle_{\mathcal{H}_{-1}^d, \mathcal{H}_1}$$

holds for any  $t \in [0, T]$  and  $w \in \mathcal{H}_1$ . So,

$$p(t) - p(0) = \int_0^t A^* p(s) + C^* C x(T - s) ds \text{ in } \mathcal{H}_{-1}^d, \ \forall t \in [0, T].$$

By the continuity of  $A^*p(\cdot) + C^*Cx(T-\cdot)$  in  $\mathcal{H}^d_{-1}$ , we have

$$\frac{dp(t)}{dt} = A^*p(t) + C^*Cx(T-t) \text{ in } \mathcal{H}^d_{-1}, \ \forall t \in [0,T].$$

Since p(0) = y(0), we conclude that p = y on [0, T].

Now, for any  $x_0 \in \mathcal{H}$ , we let  $(z_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subset D(A)$  be a sequence such that  $\lim_{n\to\infty} z_n = x_0$  in  $\mathcal{H}$ . Let  $x_n$  and  $y_n$  denote the solution of (3.8) and (3.9) with  $x_0$  replaced by  $z_n$ , then  $x_n \to x$  in  $L^2$  norm and  $P_{\min}x_n(T) \to P_{\min}x(T)$  as  $n \to \infty$ . So,  $y_n(\cdot)$  converges to  $y(\cdot)$  pointwisely on [0, T]. It is also clear that  $y_n(\cdot) = P_{\min}x_n(T-\cdot) \to P_{\min}x(T-\cdot) = p(\cdot)$  pointwisely on [0, T]. So, we must have that p = y on [0, T].

Consider the following evolution problem

$$\begin{cases} \frac{d\widetilde{x}(t)}{dt} = (A - BB^*P(T - t))\widetilde{x}(t) & \text{in } [0, T], \\ \widetilde{x}(0) = x_0. \end{cases}$$
(3.10)

Notice that  $P(T - \cdot) \in C_s([0, T], L(\mathcal{H}))$ . Thanks to Proposition 2.1.11, problem (3.10) admits a unique solution  $\tilde{x} \in H^1((0, T), \mathcal{H}^{-1}) \cap C([0, T], \mathcal{H})$ . Define  $\tilde{p}(t) := P(t)\tilde{x}(T - t)$  on [0, T]. Similarly, we claim that  $\tilde{p}$  coincides with the solution of

$$\begin{cases} \frac{d\widetilde{y}(t)}{dt} = A^*\widetilde{y}(t) + C^*C\widetilde{x}(T-t) & \text{in } [0,T],\\ \widetilde{y}(0) = 0. \end{cases}$$
(3.11)

In fact, if  $x_0 \in D(A)$ , then by Proposition 2.1.11 and Proposition 2.2.4, we have

$$\widetilde{x} \in C^1([0,T],\mathcal{H}) \cap C([0,T],D(A)).$$
(3.12)

Let  $t \in [0, T]$  and  $h \in \mathbb{R}$  be sufficiently small. Observe that

$$\frac{\widetilde{p}(t+h)-\widetilde{p}(t)}{h} = P(t+h)\left(\frac{\widetilde{x}\left(T-(t+h)\right)-\widetilde{x}(T-t)}{h} + (A-BB^*P(T-t))\widetilde{x}(T-t)\right)$$
$$-P(t+h)(A-BB^*P(T-t))\widetilde{x}(T-t) + \frac{P(t+h)-P(t)}{h}\widetilde{x}(T-t).$$

By uniform boundedness principle applied to P, (3.10), (3.12) and Proposition 2.2.4, taking  $h \rightarrow 0$ , we then obtain that

$$\begin{split} \frac{d\widetilde{p}(t)}{dt} &= -P(t)(A - BB^*P(t))\widetilde{x}(T-t) \\ &+ (\mathcal{A}(P(t)) - P(t)BB^*P(t) + C^*C)\widetilde{x}(T-t) \\ &= (\mathcal{A}(P(t)) - P(t)A)\widetilde{x}(T-t) + C^*C\widetilde{x}(T-t) \\ &= A^*P(t)\widetilde{x}(T-t) + C^*C\widetilde{x}(T-t) \\ &= A^*\widetilde{p}(t) + C^*C\widetilde{x}(T-t) \end{split}$$

holds in  $\mathcal{H}_d^{-1}$ . Since  $\widetilde{p}(0) = 0$ , this proves our claim for the case  $x_0 \in D(A)$ .

Now, for any  $x_0 \in \mathcal{H}$ , we let  $(\tilde{z}_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subset D(A)$  be a sequence such that  $\tilde{z}_n \to x_0$  in  $\mathcal{H}$  as  $n \to \infty$ . We use  $\tilde{x}_n$  and  $\tilde{y}_n$  to denote the solution of (3.10) and (3.11) with  $x_0$  replaced by  $\tilde{z}_n$ . By [6, Proposition 3.6],  $\tilde{x}_n \to \tilde{x}$  both uniformly and in  $L^2$  norm, so  $\tilde{y}_n(\cdot)$  converges to  $y(\cdot)$  pointwisely on [0, T]. On the other hand, it is also clear that  $\tilde{y}_n(\cdot)$  converges to  $\tilde{p}(\cdot)$  pointwisely on [0, T]. So we conclude that  $\tilde{y} = \tilde{p}$  on [0, T].

Now we claim that the following inequality holds with any  $x_0 \in \mathcal{H}$ :

$$\int_0^T \|B^*(p(t) - \widetilde{p}(t))\|^2 + \|C(x(t) - \widetilde{x}(t))\|^2 dt \le \|p(0)\|\|\widetilde{x}(T) - x(T)\|, \qquad (3.13)$$

where  $x, p, \tilde{x}$  and  $\tilde{p}$  is the solution of (3.8), (3.9), (3.10) and (3.11), respectively. To prove this, we first assume that  $x_0 \in D(A)$ . Since  $x, \tilde{x} \in C^1([0,T], \mathcal{H}) \cap C([0,T], D(A))$ , we have

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{d\langle \widetilde{p}(t) - p(t), \widetilde{x}(T-t) - x(T-t) \rangle}{dt} \\ &= -\langle \widetilde{p}(t) - p(t), A(\widetilde{x}(T-t) - x(T-t)) \rangle + \langle \widetilde{p}(t) - p(t), BB^*(\widetilde{p}(t) - p(t)) \rangle \\ &+ \langle A^*(\widetilde{p}(t) - p(t)), \widetilde{x}(T-t) - x(T-t) \rangle_{\mathcal{H}_{-1}^d, \mathcal{H}_1} \\ &+ \langle C^*C(\widetilde{x}(T-t) - x(T-t)), \widetilde{x}(T-t) - x(T-t) \rangle \\ &= \|C(x(T-t) - \widetilde{x}(T-t))\|^2 + \|B^*(p(t) - \widetilde{p}(t))\|^2, \quad \forall t \in [0, T]. \end{aligned}$$

So, we deduce that

$$\int_{0}^{T} \|B^{*}(p(t) - \widetilde{p}(t))\|^{2} + \|C(x(t) - \widetilde{x}(t))\|^{2} dt 
= \langle \widetilde{p}(T) - p(T), \widetilde{x}(0) - x(0) \rangle - \langle \widetilde{p}(0) - p(0), \widetilde{x}(T) - x(T) \rangle 
= \langle p(0), \widetilde{x}(T) - x(T) \rangle 
\leq \|p(0)\| \|\widetilde{x}(T) - x(T)\| .$$
(3.14)

Since for any  $x_0 \in \mathcal{H}$ , there exists a sequence  $(z_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subset D(A)$  such that  $z_n \to x_0$  in  $\mathcal{H}$  as  $n \to \infty$ , and the resulting trajectories  $x_n, p_n, \tilde{x}_n$  and  $\tilde{p}_n$  will converge to  $x, p, \tilde{x}$  and  $\tilde{p}$  both pointwisely and in  $L^2$  norm, we conclude that equation (3.13) holds for any  $x_0 \in \mathcal{H}$ .

Notice that

$$\frac{d(\widetilde{x}(t) - x(t))}{dt} = A(\widetilde{x}(t) - x(t)) - BB^*(\widetilde{p}(T-t) - p(T-t)) \quad \forall t \in [0, T].$$

By Lemma 3.3.2, there exists some constant  $M_1 > 0$  such that

$$\|\widetilde{x}(T) - x(T)\|^2 \le M_1 \int_0^T \|B^*(p(t) - \widetilde{p}(t))\|^2 + \|C(x(t) - \widetilde{x}(t))\|^2 dt.$$

Combining this with (3.14), we obtain

$$\int_0^T \|B^*(p(t) - \widetilde{p}(t))\|^2 + \|C(x(t) - \widetilde{x}(t))\|^2 dt \le M \|p(0)\|^2.$$
(3.15)

Similarly, notice that

$$\frac{d(\widetilde{p}(t)-p(t))}{dt} = A^*(\widetilde{p}(t)-p(t)) - C^*C(\widetilde{x}(T-t)-x(T-t)), \quad \forall t \in [0,T]$$

By Lemma 3.3.3 there exists some  $M_2 > 0$  such that

$$\|\widetilde{p}(T) - p(T)\|^2 \le M_2 \left( \int_0^T \|B^*(p(t) - \widetilde{p}(t))\|^2 + \|C(x(t) - \widetilde{x}(t))\|^2 dt + \|p(0)\|^2 \right).$$
(3.16)

Since (A, C) is exponentially detectable,  $A - BB^*P_{\min}$  generates an exponentially stable semigroup. So, there exists  $M_3, \beta > 0$  such that

$$||p(0)|| = ||P_{\min}x(T)|| \le M_3 e^{-\beta T} ||x_0||.$$
(3.17)

Substituting (3.15) and (3.17) into (3.16), it follows that there exists some M > 0 (independent of T) such that

$$\|\widetilde{p}(T) - p(T)\|^2 \le M e^{-2\beta T} \|x_0\|^2, \quad \forall x_0 \in \mathcal{H}, T > 0.$$

Finally, since  $\|\widetilde{p}(T) - p(T)\| = \|(P_{\min} - P(T))x_0\|$ , this lemma then follows.

#### **3.3.2** Range condition and existence of the optimal adjoint state

In this subsection, we introduce a closed range condition to show the existence and uniqueness of the optimal steady state and its corresponding optimal adjoint state.

**Lemma 3.3.5** (Range condition).  $ran[A B] = \mathcal{H}$ .

*Proof.* Since the pair (A, B) is exponentially stabilizable, there exists  $F \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}, \mathcal{U})$  such that A + BF generates an exponentially stabilizable semigroup  $\widetilde{\mathcal{T}}$  with D(A + BF) = D(A). Notice that for any  $x_0 \in \mathcal{H}$  and  $t \in [0, \infty)$ ,

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{T}}_t x_0 - x_0 = (A + BF) \int_0^t \widetilde{\mathcal{T}}_s x_0 ds.$$

Taking  $t \to \infty$ , we obtain

$$-x_0 = (A + BF) \int_0^\infty \widetilde{\mathcal{T}}_s x_0 ds = A \int_0^\infty \widetilde{\mathcal{T}}_s x_0 ds + B \int_0^\infty F \widetilde{\mathcal{T}}_s x_0 ds$$

Notice that since  $\tilde{\mathcal{T}}$  is exponentially stable, the term  $\int_0^\infty \tilde{\mathcal{T}}_s x_0 ds$  is well defined. From the above equation, we easily deduce that  $-x_0 \in \operatorname{ran}[A B]$ . Now, since  $x_0 \in \mathcal{H}$  can be chosen arbitrarily, we conclude that  $\operatorname{ran}[A B] = \mathcal{H}$ .

**Lemma 3.3.6** (Existence of the optimal steady state and adjoint state). The optimal steady state problem (3.4) admits a unique minimizer  $(x_e, u_e)$ . Moreover, there exists a  $w \in D(A^*)$  such that

$$\begin{bmatrix} A^* \\ B^* \end{bmatrix} w = \begin{bmatrix} z + C^* C x_e \\ v + K^* K u_e \end{bmatrix}.$$
(3.18)

*Proof.* Let V = ker[A, B]. Since A and B are both closed operator, V is a closed subspace of  $\mathcal{H} \times \mathcal{U}$ . Observe that if  $(x, u) \in V$ , then

$$\ell(x,u) = \left\langle \mathbb{P}_V \begin{bmatrix} C^*C & 0\\ 0 & K^*K \end{bmatrix} \Big|_V \begin{bmatrix} x\\ u \end{bmatrix} + 2\mathbb{P}_V \begin{bmatrix} z\\ v \end{bmatrix}, \begin{bmatrix} x\\ u \end{bmatrix} \right\rangle.$$

We claim that the non-negative operator  $\mathcal{P} \in \mathcal{L}(V)$  defined by

$$\mathcal{P} := \mathbb{P}_V \begin{bmatrix} C^*C & 0\\ 0 & K^*K \end{bmatrix} \Big|_V$$
is strictly positive. In fact, if  $\mathcal{P}$  is not strictly positive, then there exists a sequence

$$\left( \begin{bmatrix} x_n \\ u_n \end{bmatrix} \right)_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \subset V$$

such that  $||x_n||^2 + ||u_n||^2 = 1$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and

$$\left\langle \mathcal{P}\begin{bmatrix} x_n\\u_n \end{bmatrix}, \begin{bmatrix} x_n\\u_n \end{bmatrix} \right\rangle = \|Cx_n\|^2 + \|Ku_n\|^2 \to 0 \text{ as } n \to \infty.$$

This implies that  $Cx_n \to 0$  and  $Ku_n \to 0$ . Since K is coercive, we obtain  $u_n \to 0$ , and thus  $Ax_n = -Bu_n \to 0$ .

Recall that if (A, C) is exponentially detectable, then there exists  $F \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{Y}, \mathcal{U})$  such that A + FC generates an exponentially stable semigroup. By [11, Theorem 5.1.3], there exists a  $P \in \Sigma^+(H)$  such that

$$2\operatorname{Re}\langle (A + FC)x, Px \rangle \le - \|x\|^2, \ \forall x \in D(A).$$

Substituting  $x_n$  into the above estimate, simple calculation shows

$$||x_n|| \le 2||P||| ||(A + FC)x_n||, \ \forall n \in \mathbb{N}$$

Letting  $n \to \infty$ , since  $(A + FC)x_n \to 0$ , we obtain that  $x_n \to 0$ . However, this contradicts the fact that  $u_n \to 0$  and  $||x_n||^2 + ||u_n||^2 = 1$ .

On the other hand, since  $\mathcal{P}$  is strictly positive, it follows that for any  $(x, u) \in V$ ,

$$\ell(x,u) = \left\langle \mathcal{P}\begin{bmatrix} x\\ u \end{bmatrix} + 2\mathbb{P}_V\begin{bmatrix} z\\ v \end{bmatrix}, \begin{bmatrix} x\\ u \end{bmatrix} \right\rangle = \left\| \mathcal{P}^{-\frac{1}{2}} \left( \mathcal{P}\begin{bmatrix} x\\ u \end{bmatrix} + \mathbb{P}_V\begin{bmatrix} z\\ v \end{bmatrix} \right) \right\|^2 - \left\| \mathcal{P}^{-\frac{1}{2}}\mathbb{P}_V\begin{bmatrix} z\\ v \end{bmatrix} \right\|^2$$

So, the unique minimizer  $(x_e, u_e)$  of the optimal steady state problem (3.4) is characterized by

$$\mathcal{P}\begin{bmatrix}x_e\\u_e\end{bmatrix} + \mathbb{P}_V\begin{bmatrix}z\\v\end{bmatrix} = \mathbb{P}_V\left(\begin{bmatrix}C^*C & 0\\0 & K^*K\end{bmatrix}\Big|_V\begin{bmatrix}x_e\\u_e\end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix}z\\v\end{bmatrix}\right) = 0.$$

This is further equivalent to

$$\begin{bmatrix} z + C^* C x_e \\ v + K^* K u_e \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} C^* C & 0 \\ 0 & K^* K \end{bmatrix} \Big|_V \begin{bmatrix} x_e \\ u_e \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} z \\ v \end{bmatrix} \in V^\perp = \overline{\operatorname{ran}} \begin{bmatrix} A^* \\ B^* \end{bmatrix}.$$

Finally, by Lemma 3.3.5 and closed range theorem,

$$\begin{bmatrix} z + C^* C x_e \\ v + K^* K u_e \end{bmatrix} \in \overline{\operatorname{ran}} \begin{bmatrix} A^* \\ B^* \end{bmatrix} = \operatorname{ran} \begin{bmatrix} A^* \\ B^* \end{bmatrix}, \quad \ker \begin{bmatrix} A^* \\ B^* \end{bmatrix} = \operatorname{ran}[A \ B]^{\perp} = \{0\}.$$

Hence we conclude that there exists a unique  $w \in D(A^*)$  such that

$$\begin{bmatrix} A^* \\ B^* \end{bmatrix} w = \begin{bmatrix} z + C^* C x_e \\ v + K^* K u_e \end{bmatrix}.$$

**Remark 3.3.7.** The vector w defined in the above lemma is called the optimal adjoint state of problem  $(GLQ)_T$  since it can be seen as the infinite dimensional analogy of the Lagrange multiplier of the optimal steady state problem (3.4). This vector can be utilized to obtain the following transform: Recall if x is the solution of (2.3) corresponding to input  $u \in L^2((0,T), U)$ and initial condition  $x_0 \in H$ , then

$$\int_0^T \langle z, x(t) \rangle + \langle v, u(t) \rangle dt$$
  
=  $\int_0^T \langle w, Ax(t) + B^*u(t) \rangle_{\mathcal{H}_1^d, \mathcal{H}_{-1}} - \langle Cx_e, Cx(t) \rangle - \langle Ku_e, Ku(t) \rangle dt$   
=  $\langle w, x(T) - x_0 \rangle + \int_0^T - \langle Cx_e, Cx(t) \rangle - \langle Ku_e, Ku \rangle dt.$ 

Now combining this with (2.5) gives that

$$J_T(x_0, u) = \int_0^T \|K\{(u(t) - u_e) + (K^*K)^{-1}B^*P(T - t)(x(t) - x_e)\}\|^2 dt$$

$$-J_T(x_e, u_e) + \langle P(T)(x_0 - x_e), (x_0 - x_e)\rangle + 2\operatorname{Re}\langle w, x(T) - x_0\rangle.$$
(3.19)

#### **3.3.3** Several estimates

This subsection is mainly devoted to the proof of two crucial estimates. However, before we introduce the estimates, we will first make some simplifications to problem  $(GLQ)_T$ , and these simplifications will be adopted in the remaining part of section 3.3.

First, observe that, without loss of generality, we can assume that K = I. Otherwise, we may define a new inner product  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{\text{new}}$  on  $\mathcal{U}$  by

$$\langle u_1, u_2 \rangle_{\text{new}} = \langle (K^*K)^{\frac{1}{2}} u_1, (K^*K)^{\frac{1}{2}} u_2 \rangle, \ \forall u_1, u_2 \in \mathcal{U}.$$

We now endow  $\mathcal{U}$  with the new inner product  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{\text{new}}$ . Since the norm induced by this inner product is equivalent to the standard norm in  $\mathcal{U}$ , we still have that  $B \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{U}, \mathcal{H})$  and the pair (A, B) is exponentially stabilizable. The running cost  $\ell : \mathcal{H} \times \mathcal{U} \to \mathbb{R}$  shall now be recast as

$$\ell(x,u) := \|Cx\|^2 + \|u\|_{\text{new}}^2 + 2\operatorname{Re}\langle z,x\rangle + 2\operatorname{Re}\langle (K^*K)^{-1}v,u\rangle_{\text{new}}$$

where  $\|\cdot\|_{\text{new}}$  is the norm on  $\mathcal{U}$  induced by  $\langle\cdot,\cdot\rangle_{\text{new}}$ .

We will also assume that the unique optimal steady state  $(x_e, u_e) = (0, 0)$  in the following subsections, thanks to the next result.

**Proposition 3.3.8.**  $(x_e, u_e) \in D(A) \times U$  is the unique optimal steady state of the optimal steady state problem (3.4) if and only if (0, 0) is the unique optimal steady state of the modified optimal steady state problem

$$\min_{x \in D(A), u \in \mathcal{U}} \widetilde{\ell}(x, u) \quad s.t. \quad Ax + Bu = 0,$$
(3.20)

where  $\widetilde{\ell} : \mathcal{H} \times \mathcal{U} \to \mathbb{R}$  is defined by

$$\widetilde{\ell}(x,u) := \|Cx\|^2 + \|Ku\|^2 + 2\operatorname{Re}\langle z + C^*Cx_e, x\rangle + 2\operatorname{Re}\langle v + K^*Ku_e, u\rangle$$

In this case, problem  $(GLQ)_T$  satisfies the (measure or exponential) turnpike property at  $(x_e, u_e)$  if and only if the problem

$$\min_{u \in L^2((0,T),\mathcal{U})} \int_0^T \widetilde{\ell}(x(t), u(t)) dt \quad \text{s.t.} \ \dot{x} = Ax + Bu, \quad x(0) = x_0 \in \mathcal{H}$$

satisfies the (measure or exponential) turnpike property at (0,0).

*Proof.* For any  $x \in \mathcal{H}$  and  $u \in \mathcal{U}$ , set  $\tilde{x} := x - x_e$  and  $\tilde{u} := u - u_e$ . If  $(x_e, u_e)$  is the unique minimizer of the optimal steady state problem (3.4), we easily see that (0,0) is the minimizer of

$$\min_{\widetilde{x}\in D(A),\,\widetilde{u}\in\mathcal{U}}\ell(\widetilde{x}+x_e,\widetilde{u}+u_e)\qquad\text{s.t. }A\widetilde{x}+B\widetilde{u}=0$$

and vice versa. Besides, it's not hard to see that  $\ell(\tilde{x} + x_e, \tilde{u} + u_e)$  only differs from  $\ell(\tilde{x}, \tilde{u})$  by a constant term. So, (0, 0) is the unique minimizer of problem (3.20).

Now, let  $(x^*, u^*)$  denote the optimal pair for problem  $(GLQ)_T$ . Observe that

$$\frac{d\widetilde{x}}{dt} = \frac{d(x - x_e)}{dt} = Ax + Bu = A\widetilde{x} + B\widetilde{u}$$

So,  $(\widetilde{x}^*, \widetilde{u}^*) := (x^* - x_e, u^* - u_e)$  is the unique optimal pair of problem

$$\min_{\widetilde{u}\in L^2((0,T),\mathcal{U})} \int_0^T \ell(\widetilde{x}(t) + x_e, \widetilde{u}(t) + u_e) dt \text{ s.t.} \dot{\widetilde{x}} = A\widetilde{x} + B\widetilde{u}, \quad \widetilde{x}(0) = \widetilde{x}_0 := x_0 - x_e.$$
(3.21)

As mentioned before,  $\ell(\tilde{x} + x_e, \tilde{u} + u_e)$  only differs from  $\tilde{\ell}(\tilde{x}, \tilde{u})$  by a constant term. So, if  $(x^*, u^*)$  is the optimal pair for problem  $(GLQ)_T$ , then  $(x^* - x_e, u^* - u_e)$  is the optimal pair for problem (3.21) and vice versa. Therefore, we deduce that problem  $(GLQ)_T$  satisfies the (measure or exponential) turnpike property at  $(x_e, u_e)$  if and only if problem (3.21) satisfies the (measure or exponential) turnpike property at (0, 0).

We now introduce a class of evolution operators that is of particular interest.

Assume that  $\tau$  and T satisfies  $0 \leq \tau < T$ . Let  $U_T(\cdot, \tau) : [\tau, T] \to \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$  denote the evolution operator of the following problem:

$$\dot{x}(t) = (A - BB^*P(T - t))x(t), \quad x(\tau) = x_0 \in \mathcal{H}, \quad t \in [\tau, T].$$

That is,  $U_T(\cdot, \tau)$  is defined by setting

$$U_T(t,\tau)x_0 := x(t), \quad \forall x_0 \in \mathcal{H}, t \in [\tau,T],$$

where x is the solution of the above evolution problem.

Next, we prove two crucial properties of the evolution operator  $U_T$ .

**Lemma 3.3.9** (Exponential convergence of  $U_T$ ). There exist some positive constants M and k such that

$$||U_T(t,\tau)|| \le M e^{-k(t-\tau)}, \ \forall t \in [\tau,T]$$
 (3.22)

holds for any  $\tau$  and T satisfying  $0 \le \tau < T$ .

*Proof.* Suppose  $\tau, T \in \mathbb{R}$  satisfies that  $0 \leq \tau < T$ . By Proposition 2.2.7, there exist some positive constants  $M_0$  and  $k_0$  such that

$$||P(t) - P_{\min}|| \le M_0 e^{-k_0 t}, \quad \forall t \in [0, \infty).$$

Fix some  $x_0 \in \mathcal{H}$ . Let  $y : [\tau, \infty) \to \mathcal{H}$  be defined by

$$y(t) := e^{k_1(t-\tau)} U_T(t,\tau) x_0, \ t \in [\tau,\infty)$$

with some sufficiently small  $k_1 > 0$  so that  $A - BB^*P_{\min} + k_1I$  still generates an exponentially stable semigroup, denoted  $\tilde{\mathcal{T}}$ .

For any  $t \in [\tau, T]$ , a straightforward computation leads to

$$\dot{y}(t) = (A - BB^* P_{\min} + k_1 I) y(t) + (BB^* P_{\min} - BB^* P(T - t)) y(t)$$
$$y(t) = \widetilde{\mathcal{T}}_{t-\tau} y(\tau) + \int_{\tau}^t \widetilde{\mathcal{T}}_{t-s} (BB^* P_{\min} - BB^* P(T - s)) y(s) ds.$$

So, there exist constants  $M_1$  and  $M_2 > 0$  such that,

$$||y(t)|| \le M_1 ||y(\tau)|| + \int_{\tau}^{t} M_2 e^{-k_0(T-s)} ||y(s)|| ds$$
  
$$\le M_1 ||x_0|| + M_2 e^{-k_0(T-t)} \int_{\tau}^{t} ||y(s)|| ds.$$
(3.23)

Now fix some constant S > 0 such that  $M_2 e^{-k_0 S} < k_1$ .

We first discuss the case  $\tau \ge T - S$ . Referring to (3.23), we obtain that

$$||y(t)|| \le M_1 ||x_0|| + M_2 \int_{\tau}^{t} ||y(s)|| ds$$

Since  $t - \tau \leq S$ , applying Grönwall's inequality to the above equation, we get

$$||y(t)|| \le M_1 ||x_0|| e^{M_2(t-\tau)} \le M_1 e^{M_2 S} ||x_0||.$$

It follows that

$$||U_T(t,\tau)x_0|| \le ||y(t)|| \le M_1 e^{(M_2+1)S} e^{-(t-\tau)} ||x_0||,$$

which proves condition (3.22) with suitable coefficients.

We now consider the case  $\tau < T - S$  and  $t \in [\tau, T - S]$ . From (3.23) we obtain

$$||y(t)|| \le M_1 ||x_0|| + M_2 e^{-k_0 S} \int_{\tau}^t ||y(s)|| ds.$$

Applying Grönwall's inequality to the above equation, we get

$$||y(t)|| \le M_1 ||x_0|| e^{M_2 e^{-k_0 S}(t-\tau)}.$$

Thus

where  $M_2 e^{-k_0 S} - k_1 < 0$ . Hence we conclude (3.22) is satisfied with suitable coefficients also in this case.

It remains to prove (3.22) for the case  $\tau < T - S$  and  $t \in (T - S, T]$ . From the definition of  $U_T$ , we have

$$U_T(t,\tau) = U_{T-\tau}(t-\tau,0) = U_S(S-T+t,0)U_{T-\tau}(T-S-\tau,0).$$
(3.24)

Notice that  $U_S(S - T + t, 0)$  satisfies the estimate for the first case, so we have

$$||U_S(S - T + t, 0)|| \le M_1 e^{(M_2 + 1)S} e^{-(S - T + t)} ||x_0|| \le M_1 e^{(M_2 + 1)S} ||x_0||.$$

It is also clear  $U_{T-\tau}(T-S-\tau,0)$  satisfies the estimate for the second case, so

$$\|U_{T-\tau}(T-S-\tau,0)\| \le M_1 e^{(M_2 e^{-k_0 S} - k_1)(T-S-\tau)} \|x_0\| \le M_1 e^{(M_2 e^{-k_0 S} - k_1)(t-S-\tau)} \|x_0\|.$$

Combining the above two estimates with (3.24), we deduce that (3.22) is satisfied also in this case with suitable coefficients M and k (independent of T).

Since  $t \in [\tau, T]$  is arbitrary, this lemma follows by choosing the largest M and the smallest k among all the three cases.

Let the operator  $\widetilde{\Phi}_t^T : L^2((0,t),\mathcal{U}) \to \mathcal{H}$  be defined by

$$\widetilde{\Phi}_t^T \widetilde{u} := \int_0^t U_T(t,s) B\widetilde{u}(s) ds, \quad \forall T > 0, 0 \le t < T.$$

It is clear  $\widetilde{\Phi}_t^T \in \mathcal{L}(L^2((0,t),\mathcal{U}),\mathcal{H}).$ 

**Lemma 3.3.10** (Uniform boundedness of  $\widetilde{\Phi}_t^T$ ). The operator  $\widetilde{\Phi}_t^T$  is uniformly bounded in norm for all any t and T satisfying  $0 \le t < T$ .

*Proof.* By Lemma 3.3.9 and Hölder's inequality, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \|\widetilde{\Phi}_{t}^{T}\widetilde{u}\| &\leq \int_{0}^{t} \|U_{T}(t,s)\| \|B\widetilde{u}(s)\| \, ds \\ &\leq \left(\int_{0}^{t} M^{2} e^{-2k(t-s)} ds\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\int_{0}^{t} \|B\|^{2} \|\widetilde{u}(s)\|^{2} ds\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ &\leq M \|B\| \left(\frac{1-e^{-2kt}}{2k}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \|\widetilde{u}\| \leq M \|B\| \left(\frac{1}{2k}\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \|\widetilde{u}\| \end{split}$$

where M and k are the coefficients in Lemma 3.3.9. Simple considerations to this equation show that  $\widetilde{\Phi}_t^T$  is uniformly bounded in norm for any t and T satisfying  $0 \le t \le T$ .

## **3.3.4** Explicit solution of the optimal control

In this subsection, the optimal control of problem  $(GLQ)_T$  is solved in a closed form.

**Lemma 3.3.11.** For any T > 0 and  $x_0 \in \mathcal{H}$ , the optimal pair  $(x_T^*(\cdot, x_0), u_T^*(\cdot, x_0))$  of problem  $(GLQ)_T$  satisfies

$$u_T^*(t, x_0) - u_e = -(K^*K)^{-1}B^*P(T-t)(x_T^*(t, x_0) - x_e) - (K^*K)^{-1}B^*(U_{T-t}(T-t, 0))^*w, \quad \forall t \in [0, T],$$
(3.25)

where w is the optimal adjoint state.

*Proof.* For any T > 0, we claim that  $(U_T(T, 0))^*$  is the evolution operator at time T of the following evolution system:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dp(t)}{dt} = (A^* - P(t)B(K^*K)^{-1}B^*)p(t), \\ p(0) = p_0 \in \mathcal{H}. \end{cases}$$

In other words, we have  $(U_T(T, 0))^* p_0 = p(T)$ .

The proof is through Yosida approximation. Let  $A_n := nA(nI - A)^{-1} \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H})$  denote the Yosida approximation of A for sufficiently large  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Assume that  $x_0, p_0 \in \mathcal{H}$ . For each n, we let  $x_n$  denote the solution of problem

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dx_n(t)}{dt} = (A_n - B(K^*K)^{-1}B^*P(T-t))x_n(t), \ t \in [0,T]\\ x_n(0) = x_0, \end{cases}$$

and  $p_n$  denote the solution of problem

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dp_n(t)}{dt} = (A_n^* - P(t)B(K^*K)^{-1}B^*)p_n(t), & t \in [0,T]\\ p_n(0) = p_0. \end{cases}$$

Since  $A_n$  is bounded, we can easily verify (by showing the derivative is 0) that

$$\langle x_0, p_n(T) \rangle = \langle x_n(T), p_0 \rangle.$$

By [6, Part II, Chapter 1, Proposition 3.4],  $p_n(T) \to p(T)$  and  $x_n(T) \to U_T(T, 0)x_0$  as  $n \to \infty$ . This further implies

$$\langle x_0, p(T) \rangle = \langle U_T(T, 0) x_0, p_0 \rangle = \langle x_0, (U_T(T, 0))^* p_0 \rangle.$$

Since  $x_0, p_0 \in \mathcal{H}$  can be chosen arbitrarily, our claim then follows.

Now fix some T > 0 and define  $p(\cdot) = (U_{\cdot}(\cdot, 0))^* w$  on [0, T]. Notice that  $w \in D(A^*)$ , so by Proposition 2.1.11,

$$p(\cdot) \in C([0,T], D(A^*)) \cap C^1([0,T], \mathcal{H})$$

We then deduce that

$$\frac{dp(T-t)}{dt} = -(A^* - P(T-t)B(K^*K)^{-1}B^*)p(T-t) \text{ in } \mathcal{H}, \ \forall t \in [0,T].$$

Let x be the solution of problem (2.3) corresponding to input  $u \in L^2((0,T),\mathcal{U})$  and initial

condition  $x_0 \in \mathcal{H}$ , then

$$\begin{split} 2\operatorname{Re}\langle x(T), w \rangle &- 2\operatorname{Re}\langle x_0, p(T) \rangle \\ &= \operatorname{Re} \int_0^T 2 \langle Ax(t) + Bu(t), p(T-t) \rangle_{H_{-1}, H_1^d} \\ &+ 2 \langle x(t), -(A^* - P(T-t)B(K^*K)^{-1}B^*)p(T-t) \rangle \, dt \\ &= \operatorname{Re} \int_0^T 2 \langle u(t), B^*p(T-t) \rangle \\ &+ 2 \langle (K^*K)^{-1}B^*P(T-t)x(t), B^*p(T-t) \rangle \, dt. \end{split}$$

Combining the above equation with (3.19), we obtain

$$J_{T}(x_{0}, u) = \int_{0}^{T} \|K\{(u(t) - u_{e}) + (K^{*}K)^{-1}B^{*}P(T - t)(x(t) - x_{e})\}\|^{2}dt + 2\operatorname{Re}\langle w, x(T) \rangle + M_{0} = \int_{0}^{T} \|K\{(u(t) - u_{e}) + (K^{*}K)^{-1}B^{*}P(T - t)(x(t) - x_{e})\}\|^{2} + 2\operatorname{Re}\langle (K^{*}K)^{-1}B^{*}P(T - t)(x(t) - x_{e}), B^{*}p(T - t) \rangle + 2\operatorname{Re}\langle (u(t) - u_{e}), B^{*}p(T - t) \rangle dt + M_{1} = \int_{0}^{T} \|K\{(u(t) - u_{e}) + (K^{*}K)^{-1}B^{*}[P(T - t)(x(t) - x_{e}) + p(T - t)]\}\|^{2} dt + M_{2}$$

where  $M_0$ ,  $M_1$  and  $M_2 \in \mathbb{R}$  are constants independent of u.

This implies that, if the feedback law

$$u(t) - u_e = -(K^*K)^{-1}B^*P(T-t)(x(t) - x_e) - (K^*K)^{-1}B^*(U_{T-t}(T-t,0))^*w, \ \forall t \in [0,T],$$

admits a solution in  $L^2((0,T), \mathcal{H})$ , then this solution is optimal.

By Proposition 2.1.11, this problem does admit such a solution  $x \in L^2((0,T), \mathcal{H})$ . So, the optimal pair verifies equation (3.25).

**Remark 3.3.12.** If K = I and the optimal steady state  $(x_e, u_e) = (0, 0)$ , then equation (3.25) can be simplified to

$$u_T^*(t, x_0) = -B^* P(T - t) x_T^*(t, x_0) - B^* (U_{T-t}(T - t, 0))^* w, \ \forall t \in [0, T].$$

#### 3.3.5 Main proof

We are now in position to prove Theorem 3.3.1.

*Proof.* Without loss of generality, we assume that K = I and the unique optimal steady state  $(x_e, u_e) = (0, 0)$ . By Lemma 3.3.6, there exists some  $w \in D(A)$  such that

$$\begin{bmatrix} A^* \\ B^* \end{bmatrix} w = \begin{bmatrix} z \\ v \end{bmatrix}.$$

Fix  $\mathcal{N} \subset \mathcal{H}$  to be some bounded neighborhood of  $x_e = 0, x_0 \in \mathcal{N}$  and T > 0.

For any  $T_0 \in [0, T)$ , consider the input function defined by:

$$u_{T_0}(t) := \begin{cases} -B^* P(T-t) x_{T_0}(t), & t \in [0, T_0), \\ -B^* P(T-t) x_{T_0}(t) - (B^* U_{T-t}(T-t, 0))^* w, & t \in [T_0, T], \end{cases}$$

where  $x_{T_0}$  is the solution of problem (2.3) corresponding to input  $u_{T_0}$  and initial condition  $x_0$ . Clearly the above definition gives a unique  $u_{T_0} \in L^2((0,T),\mathcal{U})$ .

Define that  $p(\cdot) = (U_{\cdot}(\cdot, 0))^* w$  on [0, T]. By equation (3.19) and Remark 3.3.12, the cost functional is given by

$$J_T(x_0, u_{T_0}) = \int_0^T \|u_{T_0}(t) + B^* P(T - t) x_{T_0}(t)\|^2 dt + \langle P(T) x_0, x_0 \rangle + 2 \operatorname{Re} \langle w, x_{T_0}(T) - x_0 \rangle$$
$$= \int_{T_0}^T \|B^* p(T - t)\|^2 dt + \langle P(T) x_0, x_0 \rangle + 2 \operatorname{Re} \langle w, x_{T_0}(T) - x_0 \rangle.$$

Let  $(x^*, u^*)$  be the optimal pair of  $(GLQ)_T$ . Observe that

$$J_T(x_0, u^*) = \int_0^T \|B^* p(T - t)\|^2 dt + \langle P(T)x_0, x_0 \rangle + 2\operatorname{Re}\langle w, x^*(T) - x_0 \rangle.$$

Since  $J_T(x_0, u_{T_0}) > J_T(x_0, u^*)$ , the difference of the two equations gives

$$\|B^*p(T-\cdot)\|^2_{L^2((0,T_0),\mathcal{U})} = \int_0^{T_0} \|B^*p(T-t)\|^2 dt < 2\operatorname{Re}\langle w, x_{T_0}(T) - x^*(T)\rangle.$$

Simple considerations about the corresponding evolution systems of  $x_{T_0}$  and  $x^*$  show that

$$x_{T_0}(T_0) - x^*(T_0) = U_T(T_0, 0)x_0 - [U_T(T_0, 0)x_0 + \widetilde{\Phi}_{T_0}^T(-B^*p(T - \cdot))] = \widetilde{\Phi}_{T_0}^T(B^*p(T - \cdot)),$$

and thus

$$x_{T_0}(T) - x^*(T) = U_T(T, T_0)(x_{T_0}(T_0) - x^*(T_0)) = U_T(T, T_0)\widetilde{\Phi}_{T_0}^T(B^*p(T - \cdot)).$$

Following from Lemma 3.3.9 and Lemma 3.3.10, we deduce that there exist some positive constants  $M_0$  and k such that

$$||B^*p(T-\cdot)||^2_{L^2((0,T_0),\mathcal{U})} < 2\operatorname{Re}\left\langle w, U_T(T,T_0)\widetilde{\Phi}^T_{T_0}(B^*p(T-\cdot))\right\rangle \\ \leq M_0 e^{-k(T-T_0)} ||B^*p(T-\cdot)||_{L^2((0,T_0),\mathcal{U})}.$$

That is,  $||B^*p(T-\cdot)||_{L^2((0,T_0),\mathcal{U})} < M_0 e^{-k(T-T_0)}$ . Since  $x^*(T_0) = U_T(T_0,0)x_0 - \widetilde{\Phi}_{T_0}^T(B^*p(T-\cdot))$ , applying Lemma 3.3.9 and Lemma 3.3.10 again, we deduce that there exists some  $M_1 > 0$  such that

$$\|x^*(T_0)\| \le M_1(e^{-kT_0}\|x_0\| + e^{-k(T-T_0)}).$$
(3.26)

Finally, recall from Remark 3.3.12 that

$$u^*(T_0) = -B^*P(T - T_0)x^*(t) - B^*p(T - T_0).$$

Now Lemma 3.3.9 implies there exists  $M_2 > 0$  such that

$$p(T - T_0) = (U_{T_0}(T_0, 0))^* w \le M_2 e^{-kT_0}.$$

By uniform boundedness principle and (3.26), a straightforward calculation shows

$$\|u^*(T_0)\| \le M_3(e^{-kT_0}\|x_0\| + e^{-k(T-T_0)}).$$
(3.27)

holds for some  $M_3 > 0$  independent of the selection of  $T, T_0$ .

Since  $\mathcal{N}$  is bounded and  $T_0$  can be arbitrarily chosen in [0, T], now equation (3.26) and (3.27) together implies the exponential (and also the measure) turnpike property at (0, 0).

# **3.4** Necessary condition for the turnpike property

In this section, we deduce several necessary conditions for turnpike property. The following subsections are devoted to the proof of these results.

**Definition 3.4.1.** The unobservable subspace  $U^{\infty}$  of a  $C_0$ -semigroup  $\mathcal{T}$  is defined as

$$U^{\infty} := \{ x \in \mathcal{H} \mid C\mathcal{T}_t x = 0 \text{ for any } t \in [0, \infty) \}$$

**Remark 3.4.2.** Obviously  $U^{\infty}$  is a closed subspace of  $\mathcal{H}$  and is invariant under  $\mathcal{T}$ , so the restriction of  $\mathcal{T}$  to  $U^{\infty}$  is a  $C_0$ -semigroup on  $U^{\infty}$ , and the corresponding generator is just  $A|_{D(A)\cap U^{\infty}}$ . See, e.g., [41, Proposition 2.4.3].

Our first result provides several necessary conditions for the turnpike property in terms of the turnpike reference, stabilizability and detecability of the system.

**Theorem 3.4.3.** If the problem  $(GLQ)_T$  satisfies the measure or exponential turnpike property at some steady state  $(x_e, u_e)$ , then following statements hold:

- (a)  $\mathcal{T}$  is exponentially stable on  $U^{\infty}$ .
- (b)  $(x_e, u_e)$  is the unique optimal steady state of problem (3.4).
- (c) The pair (A, B) is exponentially stabilizable.

The next result shows that when the turnpike property holds, the optimal control can be explicitly solved as in subsection 3.3.4.

**Corollary 3.4.4.** If problem  $(GLQ)_T$  satisfies the measure or exponential turnpike property at some controlled equilibrium  $(x_e, u_e)$ , then there exists a unique  $w \in D(A^*)$  such that

$$\begin{bmatrix} A^* \\ B^* \end{bmatrix} w = \begin{bmatrix} z + C^* C x_e \\ v + K^* K u_e \end{bmatrix}.$$

Moreover, the optimal control of problem  $(GLQ)_T$  is given in a feedback law form by

$$u_T^*(t, x_0) - u_e = -(K^*K)^{-1}B^*P(T-t)(x_T^*(t, x_0) - x_e) - (K^*K)^{-1}B^*(U_{T-t}(T-t, 0))^*w, \quad \forall t \in [0, T].$$

## **3.4.1 Proof of Theorem 3.4.3 (a)**

**Lemma 3.4.5.** For any time horizon T > 0 and  $x_0 \in U^{\infty}$ ,

$$u_T^*(\cdot, x_0) = u_T^*(\cdot, \gamma x_0), \quad \forall \gamma \in \mathbb{C}.$$

*Proof.* Suppose that T > 0 and  $x_0 \in U^{\infty}$ . For any  $\gamma \in \mathbb{C}$ , let  $x_{\gamma}$  be the solution of system (2.3) on [0, T] corresponding to initial condition  $\gamma x_0$  and input  $u \in L^2((0, T), \mathcal{U})$ , then

$$x_{\gamma}(t) = \mathcal{T}_t \gamma x_0 + \Phi_t(u), \quad \forall t \in [0, T].$$

Since  $x_0 \in U^{\infty}$ , notice that for any  $t \in [0, T]$ ,

$$||Cx_{\gamma}(t)||^{2} = ||C\mathcal{T}_{t}\gamma x_{0}||^{2} + 2\operatorname{Re}\langle C\mathcal{T}_{t}\gamma x_{0}, C\Phi_{t}(u)\rangle + ||C\Phi_{t}(u)||^{2} = ||C\Phi_{t}(u)||^{2},$$

and

$$2\operatorname{Re}\langle z, x_{\gamma}(t)\rangle = 2\operatorname{Re}\langle z, \mathcal{T}_{t}\gamma x_{0}\rangle + 2\operatorname{Re}\langle z, \Phi_{t}(u)\rangle.$$

So, we have

$$J_{T}(\gamma x_{0}, u) = \int_{0}^{T} \|Cx_{\gamma}(t)\|^{2} + \|Ku(t)\|^{2} + 2\operatorname{Re}\langle z, x(t)\rangle + 2\operatorname{Re}\langle v, u(t)\rangle dt$$
$$= \int_{0}^{T} \|C\Phi_{t}(u)\|^{2} + 2\operatorname{Re}\langle z, \mathcal{T}_{t}\gamma x_{0} + \Phi_{t}(u)\rangle + \|Ku(t)\|^{2} + 2\operatorname{Re}\langle v, u(t)\rangle dt$$

Clearly for any  $\gamma \in \mathbb{C}$ , the terms concerning u in  $J_T(\gamma x_0, u)$  are all the same. Hence we conclude that  $u_T^*(\cdot, \gamma x_0) = u_T^*(\cdot, x_0)$  for any  $\gamma \in \mathbb{C}$ .

*Proof of Theorem 3.4.3 (a).* Without loss of generality, assume that the measure turnpike property is satisfied at  $(x_e, u_e) = (0, 0)$ . Let  $\mathcal{N}$  be the closed unit ball with center 0 in  $\mathcal{H}$ .

The proof is by contradiction. Observe that there exists a sufficiently large constant M > 0 such that, if  $x_0 \in \mathcal{H}$  and  $t_0 \ge 2M_{\mathcal{N},\varepsilon} + 1$  where  $M_{\mathcal{N},\varepsilon}$  is defined as in Definition 3.2.2, then

$$\|\mathcal{T}_{t_0}x_0\| \ge M \implies \|\mathcal{T}_tx_0\| > 2\varepsilon, \quad \forall t \in [t_0 - 2M_{\mathcal{N},\varepsilon} - 1, t_0].$$

In fact, by Proposition 2.1.2, there exist positive constants k and  $M_k$  such that

$$M \le \|\mathcal{T}_{t_0} x_0\| \le \|\mathcal{T}_{t_0-t}\| \|\mathcal{T}_t x_0\| \le M_k e^{k(t_0-t)} \|\mathcal{T}_t x_0\|, \quad \forall t \in [t_0 - 2M_{\mathcal{N},\varepsilon} - 1, t_0]$$

Now it is clear if  $M > 2\varepsilon M_k e^{k(2M_{\mathcal{N},\varepsilon}+1)}$ , then  $\|\mathcal{T}_t x_0\| > 2\varepsilon$ .

On the other hand, if  $\mathcal{T}$  is not exponentially stable on  $U^{\infty}$ , then according to Proposition V1.2 in [14], the restriction of  $\mathcal{T}$  on  $U^{\infty}$  does not converge to 0 in operator norm as  $t \to \infty$ . In other words, there exists some  $\varepsilon > 0$  such that

$$\limsup_{t\geq 0} \|\mathcal{T}_t|_{U^{\infty}}\| > \varepsilon.$$

As a consequence, we are able to find some  $t_r > 2M_{\mathcal{N},\frac{\varepsilon}{4M}} + 2M_{\mathcal{N},\varepsilon} + 2$  and  $x_0 \in \mathcal{H}$  satisfying  $||x_0|| \leq 1$  such that  $||\mathcal{T}_{t_r}x_0|| \geq \varepsilon$ .

By measure turnpike property, there exists a point  $t_l \in [0, 2M_{\mathcal{N}, \frac{\varepsilon}{4M}} + 1]$  such that

$$\left\|x_{t_r}^*(t_l, x_0)\right\| \le \frac{\varepsilon}{4M} \text{ and } \left\|x_{t_r}^*\left(t_l, \frac{x_0}{2}\right)\right\| \le \frac{\varepsilon}{4M}$$

Since  $x_0 \in U^{\infty}$ , following from Lemma 3.4.5, we obtain that

$$\frac{\|\mathcal{T}_{t_l}x_0\|}{2} = \left\|x_{t_r}^*(t_l, x_0) - x_{t_r}^*\left(t_l, \frac{x_0}{2}\right)\right\| \le \left\|x_{t_r}^*(t_l, x_0)\right\| + \left\|x_{t_r}^*\left(t_l, \frac{x_0}{2}\right)\right\| \le \frac{\varepsilon}{2M}$$

This implies that  $\|\frac{M}{\varepsilon}\mathcal{T}_{t_l}x_0\| \leq 1$ . Thus  $\frac{M}{\varepsilon}\mathcal{T}_{t_l}x_0 \in \mathcal{N}$ .

Also notice

$$\left\|\mathcal{T}_{t_r-t_l}\frac{M}{\varepsilon}\mathcal{T}_{t_l}x_0\right\| = \left\|\frac{M}{\varepsilon}\mathcal{T}_{t_r}x_0\right\| > \frac{M}{\varepsilon}\varepsilon \ge M \text{ and } t_r - t_l > 2M_{\mathcal{N},\varepsilon} + 1,$$

so

$$\left\|\mathcal{T}_t \frac{M}{\varepsilon} \mathcal{T}_{t_l} x_0\right\| > 2\varepsilon, \quad \forall t \in [t_r - t_l - 2M_{\mathcal{N}, \frac{\varepsilon}{2}} - 1, t_r - t_l].$$

From Lemma 3.4.5, we obtain that

$$\left\|x_{t_r}^*\left(t,\frac{M}{\varepsilon}\mathcal{T}_{t_l}x_0\right) - x_{t_r}^*\left(t,\frac{1}{2}\frac{M}{\varepsilon}\mathcal{T}_{t_l}x_0\right)\right\| = \left\|\frac{1}{2}\mathcal{T}_t\frac{M}{\varepsilon}\mathcal{T}_{t_l}x_0\right\| > \varepsilon$$

holds for any  $t \in [t_r - t_l - 2M_{\mathcal{N},\frac{\varepsilon}{2}} - 1, t_r - t_l]$ . However, this gives a contradiction since the length of this interval is greater than  $2M_{\mathcal{N},\frac{\varepsilon}{2}} + 1$ , and by the measure turnpike property, there must exist a  $t \in [t_r - r_l - 2M_{\mathcal{N},\frac{\varepsilon}{2}} - 1, t_r - t_l]$  so that

$$\left\|x_{t_r}^*\left(t,\frac{M}{\varepsilon}\mathcal{T}_{t_l}x_0\right)\right\| \leq \frac{\varepsilon}{2} \text{ and } \left\|x_{t_r}^*\left(t,\frac{1}{2}\frac{M}{\varepsilon}\mathcal{T}_{t_l}x_0\right)\right\| \leq \frac{\varepsilon}{2},$$

which further implies

$$\left\|x_{t_r}^*\left(t,\frac{M}{\varepsilon}\mathcal{T}_{t_l}x_0\right) - x_{t_r}^*\left(t,\frac{1}{2}\frac{M}{\varepsilon}\mathcal{T}_{t_l}x_0\right)\right\| \le \frac{\varepsilon}{2} + \frac{\varepsilon}{2} \le \varepsilon.$$

#### **3.4.2 Proof of Theorem 3.4.3 (b)**

We first prove two preliminary lemmas.

**Lemma 3.4.6** (Characterization of the optimal steady state).  $(x_e, u_e) \in D(A) \times \mathcal{U}$  is an optimal steady state of the optimal steady state problem (3.4) if and only if

$$\begin{bmatrix} z + C^* C x_e \\ v + K^* K u_e \end{bmatrix} \in \overline{\operatorname{ran}} \begin{bmatrix} A^* \\ B^* \end{bmatrix}.$$

Moreover, the optimal steady state is unique if and only if

$$\ker A \cap \ker C = \{0\}.$$

*Proof.* Let  $V = \ker[A, B]$ . Recall that

$$\ell(x,u) = \left\langle \mathbb{P}_V \begin{bmatrix} C^*C & 0\\ 0 & K^*K \end{bmatrix} \Big|_V \begin{bmatrix} x\\ u \end{bmatrix} + 2\mathbb{P}_V \begin{bmatrix} z\\ v \end{bmatrix}, \begin{bmatrix} x\\ u \end{bmatrix} \right\rangle.$$

Let the non-negative operator  $\mathcal{P}: V \to V$  be defined by

$$\mathcal{P} := \mathbb{P}_V \begin{bmatrix} C^* C & 0\\ 0 & K^* K \end{bmatrix} \Big|_V$$

Notice that  $\mathcal{P} \in L(V)$  and  $\mathbb{P}_{V}\begin{bmatrix} z \\ v \end{bmatrix} \in V$ . So, by [22, Lemma 4],  $(x_{e}, u_{e}) \in V$  is a minimizer of problem (3.4) if and only if

$$\mathbb{P}_{V}\begin{bmatrix} C^{*}C & 0\\ 0 & K^{*}K \end{bmatrix} \Big|_{V} \begin{bmatrix} x_{e}\\ u_{e} \end{bmatrix} = -\mathbb{P}_{V}\begin{bmatrix} z\\ v \end{bmatrix}.$$
(3.28)

Equivalently,  $(x_e, u_e) \in V$  satisfies

$$\begin{bmatrix} z + C^* C x_e \\ v + K^* K u_e \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} C^* C & 0 \\ 0 & K^* K \end{bmatrix} \Big|_V \begin{bmatrix} x_e \\ u_e \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} z \\ v \end{bmatrix} \in V^{\perp} = \overline{\operatorname{ran}} \begin{bmatrix} A^* \\ B^* \end{bmatrix}.$$

This proves our first claim.

On the other hand, simple considerations show that the uniqueness of  $(x_e, u_e) \in V$  verifying equation (3.28) is equivalent to ker  $\mathcal{P} = \{(0,0)\}$ . Now let us show that ker  $\mathcal{P} = \{(0,0)\}$  is further equivalent to ker  $A \cap \ker C = \{0\}$ .

Suppose that ker  $A \cap \ker C = \{0\}$ . If  $(x_0, u_0) \in \ker \mathcal{P}$ , then we have

$$\left\langle \mathcal{P} \begin{bmatrix} x_0 \\ u_0 \end{bmatrix}, \begin{bmatrix} x_0 \\ u_0 \end{bmatrix} \right\rangle = \left\langle \begin{bmatrix} C^* C x_0 \\ K^* K u_0 \end{bmatrix}, \begin{bmatrix} x_0 \\ u_0 \end{bmatrix} \right\rangle = \|C x_0\|^2 + \|K u_0\|^2 = 0.$$

Since K is coercive, we deduce that  $u_0 = 0$  and  $Cx_0 = 0$ . Besides, since  $(x_0, u_0) \in V$ , we have  $Ax_0 = 0 - Bu_0 = 0$ . This implies  $x_0 \in \ker A \cap \ker C$ . Thus  $x_0 = 0$  and  $\ker \mathcal{P} = \{(0, 0)\}$ .

Conversely, if there exists some  $x_0 \in \ker A \cap \ker C$  and  $x_0 \neq 0$ , we can easily verify that  $(x_0, 0) \in \ker \mathcal{P} \subset V$ . So,  $\ker \mathcal{P} \neq \{(0, 0)\}$ .

The following technical lemma provides a very conservative estimate for the lower bound of the cost functional.

**Lemma 3.4.7.** Suppose  $\mathcal{N}$  is a bounded subset of  $\mathcal{H}$ . Then for any  $T \in (0, \infty)$  and  $x_0 \in \mathcal{N}$ ,

$$\min_{u \in L^2((0,T),\mathcal{U})} J(x_0, u) \ge -M(e^{2kT} - 1)$$

for some constants M, k > 0.

*Proof.* Since K is coercive,  $K^*K$  is bounded below and thus invertible. Let  $u_0 := -(K^*K)^{-1}v$ , then there exists  $M_K > 0$  such that

$$\|Ku\|^{2} + 2\operatorname{Re}\langle v, u \rangle = \|K(u - u_{0})\|^{2} - \|Ku_{0}\|^{2} \ge M_{K}\|u - u_{0}\|^{2} - \|Ku_{0}\|^{2}, \quad \forall u \in \mathcal{U}.$$
(3.29)  
Resides by Proposition 2.1.2 and Proposition 2.1.8, there exist positive constants  $h \in \mathcal{M}$  and  $\mathcal{M}$ 

Besides, by Proposition 2.1.2 and Proposition 2.1.8, there exist positive constants k,  $M_1$  and  $M_2$  such that

$$\|\Phi_t\| \le M_1 e^{kt}$$
, and  $\|\mathcal{T}_t\| \le M_2 e^{kt}$ ,  $\forall t \ge 0$ 

Assume that T > 0,  $u \in L^2((0,T), \mathcal{U})$  and x is the solution of (2.3) corresponding to initial condition  $x_0 \in \mathcal{N}$  and input u, then for any  $t \in [0,T]$ ,

$$2\operatorname{Re}\langle z, x(t)\rangle \ge -2\|z\| \left(\|\mathcal{T}_t x_0\| + \|\Phi_t (u - u_0)\| + \|\Phi_t u_0\|\right) \\\ge -2\|z\| (M_2 e^{kt} \|x_0\| + M_1 e^{kt} \|u - u_0\|_{L^2} + \|\Phi_t u_0\|).$$
(3.30)

Concerning the term  $\Phi_t u_0$ , we have

$$\begin{split} \|\Phi_{t}u_{0}\| &= \left\| \int_{0}^{t} \mathcal{T}_{t-s} Bu_{0} ds \right\| \\ &\leq \int_{0}^{t} M_{2} e^{k(t-s)} \|Bu_{0}\| ds \\ &\leq \frac{e^{kt}}{k} M_{2} \|Bu_{0}\|. \end{split}$$
(3.31)

Now (3.29), (3.30) and (3.31) together implies there exist some positive constants  $M_3$  and  $M_4$  such that

$$\ell(x(t), u(t)) \ge -M_3 e^{kt} - M_4 e^{kt} \|u - u_0\|_{L^2} + M_K \|u(t) - u_0\|^2 - \|Ku_0\|^2, \ \forall t \in [0, T].$$

Integrating  $\ell$  over [0, T], a straightforward calculation gives

$$J_T(x_0, u) \ge -\frac{M_4}{k} (e^{kT} - 1) \|u - u_0\|_{L^2} - \frac{M_3}{k} (e^{kT} - 1) + M_K \|u - u_0\|_{L^2}^2 - \|Ku_0\|^2 T.$$

Also notice, as a quadratic function with respect to  $||u - u_0||_{L^2}$ ,

$$M_K \|u - u_0\|_{L^2}^2 - \frac{M_4}{k} (e^{kT} - 1) \|u - u_0\|_{L^2} \ge -\frac{M_4^2 (e^{kT} - 1)^2}{4M_0 k^2}.$$

Simple considerations about the above two inequalities show that

$$J_T(x_0, u) \ge -M_5(e^{2kT} - 1) - M_6(e^{kT} - 1) - M_7T$$

holds for some positive constants  $M_5$ ,  $M_6$  and  $M_7$ . Since the dominant term of the above estimate is  $e^{2kT} - 1$ , there exists some M > 0 (independent of T) such that

$$J_T(x_0, u) \ge -M(e^{2kT} - 1).$$

The lemma then follows from the fact that  $u \in L^2((0,T),\mathcal{U})$  can be arbitrarily chosen.

Now we are in the position to prove Theorem 3.4.3 (b).

*Proof of Theorem 3.4.3 (b).* We first show that if the measure turnpike property holds at some steady state  $(x_e, u_e)$ , then  $(x_e, u_e)$  is necessarily an optimal steady state.

Otherwise, there exists some steady state  $(\tilde{x}_e, \tilde{u}_e)$  such that  $\ell(\tilde{x}_e, \tilde{u}_e) < \ell(x_e, u_e)$ . Define  $(dx, de) := (\tilde{x}_e, \tilde{u}_e) - (x_e, u_e)$ . Fix some bounded neighborhood  $\mathcal{N}$  of  $x_e$ , and some sufficiently small  $\lambda \in (0, 1]$  such that  $x_e + \lambda dx \in \mathcal{N}$ , then by the convexity of  $\ell$ ,

$$\ell(x_e + \lambda dx, u_e + \lambda du) < \ell(x_e, u_e).$$

Let us denote the equilibrium point  $(x_e + \lambda dx, u_e + \lambda du)$  by  $(\tilde{x}_e, \tilde{u}_e)$  again.

Since  $\ell$  is continuous, there exist some sufficiently small  $\varepsilon$  and  $\delta > 0$  so that, for any  $(x_0, u_0) \in \mathcal{H} \times \mathcal{U}$ ,

$$||x_0 - x_e|| + ||u_0 - u_e|| \le \delta \implies \ell(\widetilde{x}_e, \widetilde{u}_e) + \varepsilon < \ell(x_0, u_0).$$

Now fix some T > 0. Then we know that the set

$$A := \{ t \in [0,T] \mid \|u_T^*(t, \tilde{x}_e) - u_e\| + \|x_T^*(t, \tilde{x}_e) - x_e\| > \delta \}$$

is open, and its Lebesgue measure is smaller than  $M_{\mathcal{N},\delta}$  where  $M_{\mathcal{N},\delta}$  is defined as in Definition 3.2.2.

Without loss of generality, assume that  $A = \bigcup_{j=1}^{\infty} (t_{j,l}, t_{j,r})$  where  $((t_{j,l}, t_{j,r}))_{j \in \mathbb{N}}$  are disjoint open intervals (the number of such intervals may be finite, and there may be at most two intervals that contain an endpoint 0 or T, but the proof is basically the same).

Observe that at each left endpoint  $t_{j,l}, j \in \mathbb{N}$ , of these intervals, we must have

$$\|x_T^*(t_{j,l},\widetilde{x}_e) - \widetilde{x}_e\| \le \|x_T^*(t_{j,l},\widetilde{x}_e) - \widetilde{x}_e\| + \|u_T^*(t_{j,l},\widetilde{x}_e) - \widetilde{u}_e\| = \delta.$$

From Lemma 3.4.7, there exist some M, k > 0 such that

$$-M(e^{k(t_{j,r}-t_{j,l})}-1) \le \int_{t_{j,l}}^{t_{j,r}} \ell(x_T^*(t,\widetilde{x}_e), u_T^*(t,\widetilde{x}_e)) dt.$$

Owning to the countable additivity of Lebesgue integral, we have

$$-M\sum_{j=1}^{\infty} (e^{k(t_{j,r}-t_{j,l})} - 1) \le \int_{A} \ell(x_{T}^{*}(t,\widetilde{x}_{e}), u_{T}^{*}(t,\widetilde{x}_{e})) dt.$$

Now simple calculation shows for any  $t_1$  and  $t_2 > 0$ ,

$$-M(e^{k(t_1+t_2)}-1) \le -M(e^{kt_1}-1) - M(e^{kt_2}-1).$$

Combining the two inequalities, we obtain that

$$-M(e^{kM_{\mathcal{N},\delta}} - 1) \le -M(e^{k\mu(A)} - 1) \le \int_{A} \ell(x_{T}^{*}(t, \tilde{x}_{e}), u_{T}^{*}(t, \tilde{x}_{e}))dt.$$
(3.32)

Meanwhile, for any  $t \in [0,T] \setminus A$ , since  $||x_T^*(t, \tilde{x}_e) - \tilde{x}_e|| + ||u_T^*(t, \tilde{x}_e) - \tilde{u}_e|| \le \delta$ , we have

$$\ell(\widetilde{x}_e, \widetilde{u}_e) + \varepsilon < \ell(x_T^*(t, \widetilde{x}_e), u_T^*(t, \widetilde{x}_e)),$$

so

$$(T - M_{\mathcal{N},\delta})(\ell(\widetilde{x}_e, \widetilde{u}_e) + \varepsilon) < \int_{[0,T]\setminus A} \ell(x_T^*(t, \widetilde{x}_e), u_T^*(t, \widetilde{x}_e)) dt.$$
(3.33)

Finally, since  $(\tilde{x}_e, \tilde{u}_e)$  is a steady state,

$$\int_0^T \ell(x_T^*(t, \widetilde{x}_e), u_T^*(t, \widetilde{x}_e)) dt \le J_T(x_e, u_e) = T\ell(\widetilde{x}_e, \widetilde{u}_e).$$
(3.34)

Combining (3.32), (3.33) and (3.34), simple calculation shows

$$T\varepsilon < M(e^{kM_{\mathcal{N},\delta}} - 1) + M_{\mathcal{N},\delta}(\ell(\widetilde{x}_e, \widetilde{u}_e) + \varepsilon).$$

This leads to a contradiction when T is taken sufficiently large.

Recall from Lemma 3.4.6 that the uniqueness of the optimal steady state is characterized by

$$\ker A \cap \ker C = \{0\}.$$

In fact, if  $x \in \ker A \cap \ker C$ , then  $C\mathcal{T}_t x = Cx = 0$  for any  $t \ge 0$ . So, x belongs to the unobservable subspace  $U^{\infty}$  of  $\mathcal{T}$ . Since we have prove in Theorem 3.4.3 (a) that  $\mathcal{T}$  is exponentially stable on  $U^{\infty}$ , we know that  $\|\mathcal{T}_t x\| = \|x\| \to 0$  as  $t \to \infty$ . Thus x = 0.

# **3.4.3 Proof of Theorem 3.4.3** (c)

The following lemma provides a conservative estimate on the upper bound of the  $L^2$ -norm of the optimal control when the initial point lies in a bounded set.

**Lemma 3.4.8.** Assume that N is a bounded set in H. Then for any T > 0, there exists some  $M_u > 0$  (dependent on T) such that

$$\sup_{x_0 \in \mathcal{N}} \|u_T^*(\cdot, x_0)\|_{L^2} \le M_u$$

*Proof.* Fix some T > 0. We first prove there exists some  $M_0 > 0$  such that

$$\sup_{x_0 \in \mathcal{N}} \int_0^T \ell(x_T^*(t, x_0), u_T^*(t, x_0)) dt \le M_0.$$
(3.35)

To see this, consider the case for input  $u \equiv 0$ , then we obtain

$$\int_0^T \ell(x_T^*(t, x_0), u_T^*(t, x_0)) dt \le \int_0^T \|C\mathcal{T}_t x_0\|^2 + 2\operatorname{Re}\langle z, \mathcal{T}_t x_0\rangle dt, \quad \forall x_0 \in \mathcal{N}.$$

Since  $\mathcal{T}_t x_0$  is bounded in norm on [0, T] for any  $x_0 \in \mathcal{N}$ , simple considerations show that the positive constant  $M_0$  exists.

Now notice, for any  $x_0 \in \mathcal{N}$  and  $t \in [0, T]$ ,

$$2\operatorname{Re}\langle z, x_T^*(t, x_0)\rangle \ge -2\|z\|\|\mathcal{T}_t x_0 + \Phi_t u_T^*(\cdot, x_0)\| \ge -M_1 - M_2\|u_T^*(\cdot, x_0)\|_{L^2},$$

holds with some  $M_1$ ,  $M_2 > 0$ , and thus

$$\int_{0}^{T} \ell(x_{T}^{*}(t,x_{0}),u_{T}^{*}(t,x_{0}))dt \geq \int_{0}^{T} -M_{1} - M_{2} \|u_{T}^{*}(\cdot,x_{0})\|_{L^{2}} + M_{K} \|u_{T}^{*}(t,x_{0})\|^{2} - 2\|v\| \|u_{T}^{*}(t,x_{0})\|dt$$
$$\geq -M_{1}T - M_{2}T \|u_{T}^{*}(\cdot,x_{0})\|_{L^{2}} + M_{K} \|u_{T}^{*}(\cdot,x_{0})\|_{L^{2}} - 2\|v\| \|u_{T}^{*}(\cdot,x_{0})\|_{L^{1}}$$

holds with some  $M_K, M_3 > 0$ , where  $\|\cdot\|_{L^1}$  denotes the  $L^1$ -norm on  $L^1((0,T),\mathcal{U})$ . By Hölder's inequality, the  $L^1$ -norm is dominated by the  $L^2$ -norm, so there exists  $M_4 > 0$  such that

$$\int_0^T \ell(x_T^*(t,x_0), u_T^*(t,x_0)) dt \ge -M_1 T - M_4 \|u_T^*(\cdot,x_0)\|_{L^2} + M_K \|u_T^*(\cdot,x_0)\|_{L^2}^2.$$

Now simple considerations about equation (3.35) and the above two inequalities show that the  $L^2$ -norm of  $u_T^*(\cdot, x_0)$  is uniformly bounded above for all  $x_0 \in \mathcal{N}$ , i.e., there exists some positive constant  $M_u$  (dependent on T) such that

$$\sup_{x_0 \in \mathcal{N}} \|u_T^*(\cdot, x_0)\|_{L^2} \le M_u.$$

*Proof of Theorem 3.4.3 (c).* Assume the measure turnpike property is satisfied at  $(x_e, u_e)$ . Without loss of generality, let  $\mathcal{N}$  be the closed unit ball in  $\mathcal{H}$  with center  $x_e$ .

We claim that, for any  $x_0 \in \mathcal{H}$ , there exists some  $u \in L^2((0,\infty),\mathcal{U})$  such that the corresponding trajectory x with input u and initial condition  $x_0$  is  $L^2$ -integrable (on  $(0,\infty)$ ). The case for  $x_0 = 0$  is trivial, so let us assume that  $x_0 \neq 0$ .

Fix some  $T > M_{\mathcal{N},\frac{1}{2}} + 2$ . Define  $t_0 := 0$  and  $\widetilde{x}_0 := \frac{x_0}{\|x_0\|} + x_e \in \mathcal{N}$ . Notice

$$\mu\{t \in [0,T] \mid \|x_T^*(t,\widetilde{x}_0) - x_e\| + \|u_T^*(t,\widetilde{x}_0) - u_e\| > 1/2\} \le M_{\mathcal{N},\frac{1}{2}}.$$

Since  $T > M_{\mathcal{N},\frac{1}{2}} + 2$ , there exists a  $t_1 > 1$  satisfying

$$||x_T^*(t_1, \widetilde{x}_0) - x_e|| \le \frac{1}{2}.$$

We define u(t) on  $[t_0, t_1)$  by setting

$$u(t) := \|x_0\| \left( u_T^*(t, \tilde{x}_0) - u_e \right), \ t \in [t_0, t_1).$$

We claim that the solution of system (2.3) on  $[t_0, t_1]$  corresponding to initial condition  $x_0$  and input u, denoted x, is given by

$$x(t) = ||x_0|| (x_T^*(t, \tilde{x}_0) - x_e), \quad \forall t \in [t_0, t_1].$$

In fact, we can verify this by noticing that  $x(0) = x_0$  and

$$\dot{x}(t) = \|x_0\| (Ax_T^*(t, \tilde{x}_0) + Bu_T^*(t, \tilde{x}_0)) \\ = Ax(t) + A \|x_0\| x_e + Bu(t) + B \|x_0\| u_e \\ = Ax(t) + Bu(t).$$

So, we have

$$||x(t_1)|| \le \frac{1}{2} ||x_0||.$$

On the other hand, notice

$$\int_{t_0}^{t_1} \|x(t)\|^2 + \|u(t)\|^2 dt \le \|x_0\|^2 (T\|x_T^*(\cdot, \widetilde{x}_0)\|_{L^{\infty}}^2 + 2T\|x_e\|\|x_T^*(\cdot, \widetilde{x}_0)\|_{L^{\infty}} + T\|x_e\|^2 + \|u_T^*(\cdot, \widetilde{x}_0)\|_{L^2}^2 + 2\|u_e\|\|u_T^*(\cdot, \widetilde{x}_0)\|_{L^1} + T\|u_e^2\|),$$

where the  $L^1$ ,  $L^2$  and  $L^{\infty}$ -norms here are considered on the domain  $[t_0, t_1]$ . Recall from Lemma 3.4.8 that there exists some  $M_1 > 0$  such that

$$\|u_T^*(\cdot,\widetilde{x}_0)\|_{L^2} < M_1, \quad \forall \widetilde{x}_0 \in \mathcal{N}.$$

By Hölder's inequality, the  $L^2$ -norm dominates the  $L^1$ -norm, so there exists some  $M_2 > 0$  such that

$$\|u_T^*(\cdot,\widetilde{x}_0)\|_{L^1} \le M_2 \ \forall \widetilde{x}_0 \in \mathcal{N}.$$

Finally, since

$$||x_T^*(t, \widetilde{x}_0)|| \le ||\mathcal{T}_t \widetilde{x}_0|| + ||\Phi_t|| ||u_T^*(\cdot, \widetilde{x}_0)||_{L^2},$$

 $x_T^*(t, \tilde{x}_0)$  is uniformly bounded in norm for any  $\tilde{x}_0 \in \mathcal{N}$  and  $t \in [t_0, t_1]$ , i.e., there exists some positive constant  $M_3$  such that

$$\|x_T^*(t,\widetilde{x}_0)\| \le M_3, \quad \forall \widetilde{x}_0 \in \mathcal{N}, t \in [t_0, t_1].$$

Combining all these, we deduce that there exists M > 0 such that

$$\int_{t_0}^{t_1} \|x(t)\|^2 + \|u(t)\|^2 dt < \|x_0\|^2 M, \ \forall \widetilde{x}_0 \in \mathcal{N}.$$

Now we can repeat the above argument with  $x(t_1)$  in place of  $x(t_0) = x_0$ . By induction, we can find a sequence  $(t_i)_{i \in \mathbb{N}}$  satisfying  $t_{i+1} - t_i > 1$ , and let u be defined inductively on each interval  $[t_i, t_{i+1})$  by setting

$$u|_{[t_i,t_{i+1})}(t) := ||x(t_i)|| (u_T^*(t,\widetilde{x}_i) - u_e)$$

where  $\widetilde{x}_i := \frac{x(t_i)}{\|x(t_i)\|} + x_e$ , i = 0, 1, 2, ... In particular, our construction of  $t_i$  gives

$$\|x(t_i)\| \le \left(\frac{1}{2}\right)^i \|x_0\|, \quad \forall i \in \mathbb{N}.$$

Finally, since for each  $i \in \mathbb{N}$ ,  $\tilde{x}_i$  belongs to  $\mathcal{N}$ , we have

$$\int_{t_i}^{t_{i+1}} \|x(t)\|^2 + \|u(t)\|^2 dt < \|x(t_i)\|^2 M \le \left(\frac{1}{4}\right)^i \|x_0\|^2 M.$$

So,

$$\int_0^\infty \|x(t)\|^2 + \|u(t)\|^2 dt \le \frac{4}{3} \|x_0\|^2 M.$$

Theorem 3.4.3 (c) now follows easily from Definition 3.2.4.

## 3.4.4 Proof of Corollary 3.4.4

*Proof.* Assume that problem  $(GLQ)_T$  satisfies the measure turnpike property at some steady state  $(x_e, u_e)$ , then by Lemma 3.4.6 and Theorem 3.4.3 (b), we have

$$\begin{bmatrix} z + C^* C x_e \\ v + K^* K u_e \end{bmatrix} \in \overline{\operatorname{ran}} \begin{bmatrix} A^* \\ B^* \end{bmatrix}.$$

Besides, by Theorem 3.4.3 (c) and Lemma 3.3.5, ran  $\begin{bmatrix} A^* \\ B^* \end{bmatrix}$  is closed and

$$\ker \begin{bmatrix} A^* \\ B^* \end{bmatrix} = (\operatorname{ran}[A \ B])^{\perp} = \mathcal{H}^{\perp} = \{0\}.$$

So, there exists a unique  $w \in D(A^*)$  satisfying

$$\begin{bmatrix} A^* \\ B^* \end{bmatrix} w = \begin{bmatrix} z + C^* C x_e \\ v + K^* K u_e \end{bmatrix}.$$

Following line by line the proof of Lemma 3.3.11, we can show that the optimal control of problem  $(GLQ)_T$  is given in a feedback law form by

$$u_T^*(t, x_0) - u_e = -(K^*K)^{-1}B^*P(T-t)(x_T^*(t, x_0) - x_e) - (K^*K)^{-1}B^*(U_{T-t}(T-t, 0))^*w, \ \forall t \in [0, T].$$

# **3.5** If and only if characterization

Based on our previous results, we can further obtain some necessary and sufficient conditions for the turnpike property. This part includes:

- 1. The if and only if characterization of both notions of the turnpike property in terms of the stabilizability and detectability for finite dimensional case and point spectrum case.
- 2. The equivalence between the exponential turnpike property of problem  $(GLQ)_T$  and the exponential turnpike property of problem  $(LQ)_T$  plus an algebraic condition.

Following subsections are devoted to the proof of these results.

Now let us denote by  $\sigma^{-}(A)$ ,  $\sigma^{0}(A)$  and  $\sigma^{+}(A)$  the set of all the elements in  $\sigma(A)$  with negative, zero and positive real part, respectively. In the same manner as [6], we assume

$$\begin{cases} (a) & \text{the set } \sigma^+(A) \text{ consists of a finite set of} \\ & \text{eigenvalues of finite algebraic multiplicity,} \\ (b) & \text{there exists } \varepsilon > 0, N_A > 0 \text{ such that} \\ & \sup_{s \in \sigma^-(A)} \operatorname{Re} s < -\varepsilon, \ \|\mathcal{T}_t \mathbb{P}_A^-\| \le N_A e^{-\varepsilon t}, \ \forall t \ge 0. \end{cases}$$

Here  $\mathbb{P}_A^-$  represents the projector on  $\sigma^-(A)$  defined by

$$\mathbb{P}_A^- := \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\gamma^-} (sI - A)^{-1} ds$$

where  $\gamma^-$  is a simple Jordan curve around  $\sigma^-(A)$ . The projectors  $\mathbb{P}^0_A$  and  $\mathbb{P}^+_A$  are defined analogously. Then  $\mathbb{P}^-_A(\mathcal{H})$ ,  $\mathbb{P}^0_A(\mathcal{H})$  and  $\mathbb{P}^+_A(\mathcal{H})$  are invariant subspace for  $\mathcal{T}$ .

**Remark 3.5.1.** By [6, Part V, Chapter 1, Remark 3.5], assumptions ( $\mathcal{PS}$ ) are verified in each of the following cases:

- (a)  $\mathcal{H}$  is finite dimensional.
- (b)  $\mathcal{T}_t$  is compact for any t > 0.

Our first result provides a complete characterization of the turnpike property in terms of the stabilizability and detectability of the system in a special case (point spectrum case).

**Theorem 3.5.2.** If A fulfills assumptions ( $\mathcal{PS}$ ), then the following statements are equivalent:

- (a) Problem  $(GLQ)_T$  satisfies the exponential turnpike property at some steady state.
- (b) Problem  $(GLQ)_T$  satisfies the measure turnpike property at some steady state.
- (c) The pair (A, B) is exponentially stabilizable and the pair (A, C) is exponentially detectable.

The following corollary for the finite dimensional case is a direct consequence of the above theorem.

**Corollary 3.5.3.** If  $\mathcal{H}$ ,  $\mathcal{U}$  and  $\mathcal{Y}$  are all finite dimensional spaces, then the following statements are equivalent:

- (a) Problem  $(GLQ)_T$  satisfies the exponential turnpike property at some steady state.
- (b) Problem  $(GLQ)_T$  satisfies the measure turnpike property at some steady state.
- (c) The pair (A, B) is stabilizable and the pair (A, C) is detectable.

Our last result shows the exponential turnpike property of the generalized LQ optimal control problem is equivalent to the exponential turnpike property of the LQ optimal control problem plus an algebraic condition.

**Theorem 3.5.4.** Problem  $(GLQ)_T$  satisfies the exponential turnpike property at some steady state  $(x_e, u_e)$  if and only if problem  $(LQ)_T$  satisfies the exponential turnpike property at (0, 0) and there exists a vector  $w \in D(A^*)$  such that

$$\begin{bmatrix} A^* \\ B^* \end{bmatrix} w = \begin{bmatrix} z + C^* C x_e \\ v + K^* K u_e \end{bmatrix}$$

#### 3.5.1 Proof of Theorem 3.5.2

The following lemma provides a Hautus type condition for detectability.

**Lemma 3.5.5.** If A fulfills assumptions ( $\mathcal{PS}$ ), then the following conditions are equivalent:

- (a) The pair (A, C) is exponentially detectable.
- (b)  $\ker(sI A) \cap \ker C = \{0\}, \forall s \in \sigma^0(A) \cup \sigma^+(A).$

We refer to [6, Part V, Chapter 1, Proposition 3.3] for a proof of this lemma. Next, let us provide a proof of Theorem 3.5.2.

*Proof of Theorem 3.5.2.*  $(a) \Rightarrow (b)$ : This is trivial.

 $(c) \Rightarrow (a)$ : This has been proved in Theorem 3.3.1.

So, we only need to verify that  $(b) \Rightarrow (c)$ . Suppose now problem  $(GLQ)_T$  satisfies the measure turnpike property at some steady state, then it follows from Theorem 3.4.3 (a) that  $\mathcal{T}$  is exponentially stable on  $U^{\infty}$ .

Assume that  $s \in \sigma^{-}(A) \cup \sigma^{0}(A)$  and  $x \in \ker(sI - A) \cap \ker C$ , then  $C\mathcal{T}_{t}x = e^{st}Cx = 0$  for any  $t \in [0, \infty)$ . This implies  $x \in U^{\infty}$  and  $T_{t}x \to 0$  as  $t \to \infty$ . Moreover, since  $\operatorname{Re} s \ge 0$ ,

$$||T_t x|| = |e^{st}|||x|| \ge ||x||, \quad \forall t \in [0,\infty).$$

Thus x = 0. This further implies that for any  $s \in \sigma^{-}(A) \cup \sigma^{0}(A)$ , we have

$$\ker(sI - A) \cap \ker C = \{0\}.$$

Now  $(b) \Rightarrow (c)$  follows easily from Lemma 3.5.5.

#### 3.5.2 Proof of Theorem 3.5.4

*Proof of Theorem 3.5.4.* Suppose problem  $(GLQ)_T$  satisfies the exponential turnpike property at some steady state  $(x_e, u_e)$  and  $\mathcal{N}$  is some bounded neighborhood of 0 in  $\mathcal{H}$ .

By the exponential turnpike property, there exists some positive constants  $M_1$  and k > 0 such that for any  $y \in 2\mathcal{N}$  and  $t \in [0, T]$ ,

$$\|x_T^*(t, x_e + y) - x_e\| + \|u_T^*(t, x_e + y) - u_e\| \le M_1(e^{-kt} + e^{-k(T-t)}).$$
(3.36)

Observe that for any T > 0 and  $x_0 \in \mathcal{H}$ , the trajectory

$$\widetilde{x}_{T}^{*}(\cdot, x_{0}) := x_{T}^{*}(\cdot, x_{e} + 2x_{0}) - x_{T}^{*}(\cdot, x_{e} + x_{0})$$

defined on [0, T] satisfies  $x_T^*(0, x_0) = x_0$  and

$$\frac{d\widetilde{x}_T^*(t, x_0)}{dt} = A\widetilde{x}_T^*(t, x_0) + B(u_T^*(t, x_e + 2x_0) - u_T^*(t, x_e + x_0))$$
$$= (A - B(K^*K)^{-1}B^*P(T - t))\widetilde{x}_T^*(t, x_0)$$

for any  $t \in [0, T]$  (see Corollary 3.4.4). So,  $\tilde{x}_T^*(\cdot, x_0)$  is the optimal trajectory of problem  $(LQ)_T$  corresponding to time horizon T and initical condition  $x_0$ . Similarly, define

$$\widetilde{u}_{T}^{*}(\cdot, x_{0}) := u_{T}^{*}(\cdot, x_{e} + 2x_{0}) - u_{T}^{*}(\cdot, x_{e} + x_{0})$$

on [0, T]. Since for any  $t \in [0, T]$ ,

$$u_T^*(t, x_e + 2x_0) - u_T^*(t, x_e + x_0) = -(K^*K)^{-1}B^*P(T-t)\widetilde{x}_T^*(t, x_0),$$

we deduce that  $\widetilde{u}_T^*(\cdot, x_0)$  is the optimal control of problem  $(LQ)_T$ .

Now, notice that for any  $t \in [0, T]$ ,

$$\begin{aligned} \|\widetilde{x}_T^*(t, x_0)\| &= \|x_T^*(t, x_e + 2x_0) - x_T^*(t, x_e + x_0)\| \\ &\leq \|x_T^*(t, x_e + 2x_0) - x_e\| + \|x_T^*(t, x_e + x_0) - x_e\|, \end{aligned}$$

and

$$\begin{aligned} \|\widetilde{u}_T^*(t, x_0)\| &= \|u_T^*(t, x_e + 2x_0) - u_T^*(t, x_e + x_0)\| \\ &\leq \|u_T^*(t, x_e + 2x_0) - u_e\| + \|u_T^*(t, x_e + x_0) - u_e\|. \end{aligned}$$

Combining these two estimates with equation (3.36), we obtain

$$\|\widetilde{x}_T^*(t, x_0)\| + \|\widetilde{u}_T^*(t, x_0)\| \le 2M_1(e^{-kt} + e^{-k(T-t)}), \quad \forall t \in [0, T].$$

Since  $\mathcal{N}, T$  and  $x_0$  can all be arbitrarily chosen, the exponential turnpike property is satisfied for problem  $(LQ)_T$  at (0,0). Now by Corollary 3.4.4, there exists a vector  $w \in D(A^*)$  satisfying the algebraic condition

$$\begin{bmatrix} A^* \\ B^* \end{bmatrix} w = \begin{bmatrix} z + C^* C x_e \\ v + K^* K u_e \end{bmatrix}$$

Conversely, assume that problem  $(LQ)_T$  satisfies the exponential turnpike property at (0,0)and there exists a vector  $w \in D(A^*)$  satisfying the above algebraic condition. Recall the optimal trajectory  $x^*$  of problem  $(LQ)_T$  corresponding to time horizon T > 0 and initial condition  $x_0 \in \mathcal{H}$  is given by

$$x^*(t) = U_T(t,0)x_0, \ \forall t \in [0,T].$$

Let  $\mathcal{N}$  be the closed unit ball in  $\mathcal{H}$  with center 0, then the exponential turnpike property implies there exist some positive constants  $M_0$  and  $k_0$  such that

$$||U_T(t,0)x_0|| \le M_0(e^{-k_0t} + e^{-k_0(T-t)}), \quad \forall x_0 \in \mathcal{N}, T > 0, t \in [0,T].$$

Equivalently,

$$||U_T(t,0)|| \le M_0(e^{-k_0t} + e^{-k_0(T-t)}), \quad \forall T > 0, t \in [0,T].$$
(3.37)

Also notice, for any T > 0

$$U_{T}(T,0) = U_{T}\left(T,\frac{T}{2}\right)U_{T}\left(\frac{T}{2},0\right) = U_{\frac{T}{2}}\left(\frac{T}{2},0\right)U_{T}\left(\frac{T}{2},0\right),$$
$$\|U_{T}(T,0)\| \le M_{0}(e^{-k_{0}\frac{T}{2}}+1)2M_{0}e^{-k_{0}\frac{T}{2}} \le 4M_{0}^{2}e^{-\frac{k_{0}}{2}T}.$$
(3.38)

so

$$\|U_T(T,0)\| \le M_0(e^{-k_0\frac{T}{2}} + 1)2M_0e^{-k_0\frac{T}{2}} \le 4M_0^2e^{-\frac{k_0}{2}T}.$$
(3.38)

On the other hand, Theorem 3.4.3 (c) and Lemma 3.3.5 implies ker  $\begin{bmatrix} A^* \\ B^* \end{bmatrix} = \{0\}$ , so w is the unique vector in  $D(A^*)$  satisfying

$$\begin{bmatrix} A^* \\ B^* \end{bmatrix} w = \begin{bmatrix} z + C^* C x_e \\ v + K^* K u_e \end{bmatrix}.$$

Following line by line the proof of Lemma 3.3.11, we deduce that the optimal control of problem  $(GLQ)_T$  is given in a feedback law form by

$$u_T^*(t, x_0) - u_e = -(K^*K)^{-1}B^*P(T-t)(x_T^*(t, x_0) - x_e) - (K^*K)^{-1}B^*(U_{T-t}(T-t, 0))^*w, \quad \forall t \in [0, T].$$

Then it follows for any  $t \in [0, T]$ ,

$$\begin{aligned} x_T^*(t, x_0) - x_e &= U_T(t, 0)(x_0 - x_e) \\ &- \int_0^t U_{T-s}(t-s, 0) B(K^*K)^{-1} B^*(U_{T-s}(T-s, 0))^* w ds \end{aligned}$$

Simple considerations to (3.37), (3.38) and the above equation show that there exists some positive constant  $M_1$  such that for any  $t \in [0, T]$ ,

$$||x_T^*(t, x_0) - x_e|| \le M_0 (e^{-k_0 t} + e^{-k_0 (T-t)}) ||x_0 - x_e|| + \int_0^t M_1 (e^{-k_0 (t-s)} + e^{-k_0 (T-t)}) e^{-\frac{k_0}{2} (T-s)} ds.$$

A straightforward computation shows

$$\|x_T^*(t, x_0) - x_e\| \le M_0(e^{-k_0 t} + e^{-k_0(T-t)})\|x_0 - x_e\| + M_2 e^{-\frac{k_0}{2}(T-t)}, \quad \forall t \in [0, T]$$
(3.39)

holds with some constant  $M_2 > 0$  (independent of T).

Finally, recall

$$u_T^*(t, x_0) - u_e = -(K^*K)^{-1}B^*P(T-t)(x_T^*(t, x_0) - x_e) - (K^*K)^{-1}B^*(U_{T-t}(T-t, 0))^*w, \quad \forall t \in [0, T].$$

By uniform boundedness principle, (3.38) and (3.39), there exist some  $M_3$ ,  $M_4 > 0$  (independent of T) such that

$$\|u_T^*(t,x_0) - u_e\| \le M_3(e^{-k_0t} + e^{-k_0(T-t)})\|x_0 - x_e\| + M_4e^{-\frac{k_0}{2}(T-t)}, \quad \forall t \in [0,T].$$
(3.40)

Now it is trivial to see from (3.39) and (3.40) that problem  $(GLQ)_T$  satisfies the exponential turnpike property at  $(x_e, u_e)$ .

# 3.6 Examples

In this section, we will discuss some applications of our results.

#### **3.6.1** Parabolic equations

Let  $\Omega$  be a bounded domain in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  with a boundary  $\partial\Omega$  of  $C^2$ . Let  $\mathcal{H} = \mathcal{U} = \mathcal{Y} = L^2(\Omega)$ , and B, C and K be arbitrary operators in  $\mathcal{L}(L^2(\Omega))$ . We define  $A : D(A) \to \mathcal{H}$  by

$$D(A) = H^{2}(\Omega) \cap H^{1}_{0}(\Omega),$$
  

$$Ah = (\Delta + cI)h, \quad \forall h \in D(A)$$

where  $c \in \mathbb{R}$ . By [6, Paty IV, Chapter 1, Section 8.1], A generates a strongly continuous (in fact, analytic) semigroup on  $\mathcal{H}$ . Now the above functional framework is well suited to describe the distributed control of the following parabolic equation with Dirichlet boundary conditions:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\partial h}{\partial t}(x,t) = (\Delta_x + c)h(x,t) + B(u(\cdot,t))(x), & \text{in } \Omega \times [0,T], \\ h(\cdot,0) = h_0 \in L^2(\Omega), \\ h(t,x) = 0, & \text{on } \partial\Omega \times [0,T]. \end{cases}$$

Let  $z, v \in L^2(\Omega)$ . Consider the optimal control problem: To minimize

$$J_T(h_0, u) = \int_0^T \int_\Omega |(Ch(\cdot, t))(x) - z(x)|^2 + |(Ku(\cdot, t))(x) - v(x)|^2 dx dt$$

over all  $u \in L^2((0,T), L^2(\Omega))$ . Obviously this cost functional only differs from the one given in  $(GLQ)_T$  by a constant, so our results on turnpike property is valid for this system.

By [41, Remark 3.6.4],  $-\Delta$  is a strictly positive operator with compact resolvents, so by spectral theorem, A is diagonalizable with a orthonormal basis  $(\psi_k)_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$  of eigenvectors such that the corresponding sequence of eigenvalues  $(\lambda_k)_{k\in\mathbb{N}} \subset \mathbb{R}$  is decreasing and satisfies  $\lambda_k \to -\infty$ as  $k \to \infty$ . Since (see [41, Section 2.6])

$$\mathcal{T}_t x = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} e^{\lambda_k t} \psi_k, \quad \forall x \in \mathcal{H}, t \in [0, \infty),$$

 $\mathcal{T}_t$  is compact for any t > 0. So by Remark 3.5.1, this problem fulfills assumptions ( $\mathcal{PS}$ ).

If  $\lambda_0 < 0$ , then  $\mathcal{T}$  is exponentially stable, so the pair (A, B) and (A, C) are exponentially stabilizable and exponentially detectable for any  $B, C \in \mathcal{L}(L^2(\Omega))$ , respectively. If there exists  $m \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $\lambda_m \ge 0$  and  $\lambda_{m+1} < 0$ , then by Lemma 3.5.5, the pair (A, C) (resp. (A, B)) is exponentially detectable (resp. exponentially stabilizable) if and only if

$$\ker(\lambda_i I - A) \cap \ker C = \{0\} \ (\text{resp. } \ker(\lambda_i I - A^*) \cap \ker B^* = \{0\}), \ \forall i = 0, 1, \dots, m.$$

As a consequence, the exponential turnpike property is equivalent to the measure turnpike property in this case, and it holds if and only if the above Hautus type conditions hold.

#### **3.6.2** Wave equations

Let  $\Omega$  be as in last example. Let  $\mathcal{H} = H_0^1(\Omega) \times L^2(\Omega)$  and  $\mathcal{U} = \mathcal{Y} = L^2(\Omega)$ . Then  $\mathcal{H}$  is a Hilbert space endowed with the inner product

$$\left\langle \begin{bmatrix} f_1\\g_1 \end{bmatrix}, \begin{bmatrix} f_2\\g_2 \end{bmatrix} \right\rangle := \int_{\Omega} \frac{df_1}{dx}(s) \frac{\overline{df_2}}{dx}(s) + g_1(s) \overline{g_2(s)} ds, \quad \forall \begin{bmatrix} f_1\\g_1 \end{bmatrix}, \begin{bmatrix} f_2\\g_2 \end{bmatrix} \in \mathcal{H}.$$

We define  $A: D(A) \to \mathcal{H}$  and  $B \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{U}, \mathcal{H})$  by

$$D(A) := \left(H^2(\Omega) \cap H^1_0(\Omega)\right) \times H^1_0(\Omega),$$
  

$$A \begin{bmatrix} f \\ g \end{bmatrix} := \begin{bmatrix} g \\ \Delta f \end{bmatrix}, \quad \forall \begin{bmatrix} f \\ g \end{bmatrix} \in D(A),$$
  

$$Bu := \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ u \end{bmatrix}, \quad \forall u \in L^2(\Omega).$$

By [41, Proposition 3.7.6] and Stone's theorem, A generates a unitary semigroup, that is, A generates a  $C_0$ -semigroup  $\mathcal{T}$  satisfying

$$\|\mathcal{T}_t x\| = \|x\|, \quad \forall x \in \mathcal{H}, t \ge 0.$$

By [41, Example 11.2.2], the pair (A, B) is exactly controllable, thus also exponentially stabilizable. Next, we let  $K = I \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{U})$  and denote

$$h_0(\cdot) = \begin{bmatrix} h_{0,1}(\cdot) \\ h_{0,2}(\cdot) \end{bmatrix} \in \mathcal{H}.$$

Then the above functional framework is well suited to describe the distributed control of the following wave equation:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{\partial^2 h}{\partial t^2}(x,t) = \Delta_x h(x,t) + u(x,t), & \text{in } \Omega \times [0,T], \\ h(\cdot,0) = h_{0,1}(\cdot) \in H_0^1(\Omega), & h_t(\cdot,0) = h_{0,2}(\cdot) \in L^2(\Omega), \\ h(x,t) = 0, & \text{on } \partial\Omega \times [0,T]. \end{cases}$$
(3.41)

Now, We denote

$$z(\cdot) = \begin{bmatrix} z_1(\cdot) \\ z_2(\cdot) \end{bmatrix} \in \mathcal{H}, \ v = v(\cdot) \in \mathcal{U}.$$

and define  $C \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}, \mathcal{Y})$  by

$$C\begin{bmatrix}f\\g\end{bmatrix} = g, \ \forall \begin{bmatrix}f\\g\end{bmatrix} \in \mathcal{H}.$$

Consider the optimal control problem  $(GLQ)_T$ : To minimize

$$J_T(h_0(\cdot), u) = \operatorname{Re} \int_0^T \int_\Omega |h_t(x, t)|^2 + 2\nabla_x h(x, t) \cdot \overline{\nabla z_1(x)} + 2h_t(x, t)\overline{z_2(x)} + |u(x, t)|^2 + 2u(x, t)\overline{v(x)}dxdt.$$

Thanks to [41, Theorem 7.4.1], the pair (A, C) is exactly observable, thus also exponentially detectable, so by Theorem 3.3.1, the turnpike property is satisfied for problem  $(GLQ)_T$ .

Notice for any 
$$\begin{bmatrix} f \\ g \end{bmatrix} \in D(A)$$
 and  $u \in \mathcal{U}$ ,  
$$A \begin{bmatrix} f \\ g \end{bmatrix} + Bu = 0 \iff g = 0 \text{ and } \Delta f + u = 0.$$

and if  $\begin{pmatrix} f \\ g \end{pmatrix}$ ,  $u \end{pmatrix}$  is a steady state, g = 0 implies

- -

$$\ell\left(\begin{bmatrix}f\\g\end{bmatrix},u\right) = \operatorname{Re}\int_{\Omega} 2\nabla f(x) \cdot \overline{\nabla z_1(x)} + |\Delta f(x)|^2 - 2\Delta f(x)\overline{v(x)}dx$$

Since  $z_1 \in H_0^1(\Omega)$ ,  $Dz_1(\cdot) = 0$  on  $\partial\Omega$ , where  $Dz_1(\cdot)$  is the Dirichlet trace of  $z_1$ . So,

$$\begin{split} \int_{\Omega} \nabla f(x) \cdot \overline{\nabla z_1(x)} dx &= \int_{\partial \Omega} Nf(x) \overline{Dz_1(x)} dx - \int_{\Omega} \Delta f(x) \overline{z_1(x)} dx \\ &= -\int_{\Omega} \Delta f(x) \overline{z_1(x)} dx, \end{split}$$

where  $Nf(\cdot)$  is the Neumann trace of f on  $\partial\Omega$ .

Combining the two equations, we easily see that the optimal steady state  $\begin{pmatrix} f_e \\ g_e \end{bmatrix}, u_e \end{pmatrix}$  is uniquely characterized by

$$g_e = 0$$
 and  $\Delta f_e = u_e = z_1 + v_z$ 

Let  $u^*$  denote the optimal control and  $h^*$  denote the solution of PDE (3.41) corresponding to control  $u^*$ . In this case, the turnpike property ensures that for sufficiently large T > 0,  $h^*(\cdot, t)$ ,

 $\nabla_x h^*(\cdot, t) h_t^*(\cdot, t)$  and  $u^*(\cdot, t)$  will stay, for most of the time horizon, close to  $f_e(\cdot)$ ,  $\nabla f_e(\cdot)$ , 0 and  $(z_1 + v)(\cdot)$  in  $L^2$ -sense respectively (the argument with respect to  $h^*(\cdot, t)$  and  $f_e(\cdot)$  is a straight consequence of Poincare's inequality).

From the definition of exponential turnpike property, it is trivial to show that (under the setting of Definition 3.2.2) there exist some constants M, w > 0 such that for any  $t \in [0, T]$ ,

$$\|\nabla h^*(\cdot,t) - f_e(\cdot)\| + \|h^*_t(\cdot,t)\| + \|u^*(\cdot,t) - (z_1+v)(\cdot)\| \le M(e^{-wt} + e^{-w(T-t)}).$$

## **3.6.3** Delay equations

Consider the retarded differential equations of the following type:

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dh}{dt}(t) = A_0 h(t) + \sum_{i=1}^{N} A_i h(t - t_i) + B_0 u, \ t \ge 0\\ h(0) = h_0\\ h(\theta) = f(\theta), \ \text{a.e.}, \ \theta \in [-t_N, 0] \end{cases}$$

where  $0 < t_1 < t_2 < \cdots < t_N$  represent the point delays,  $A_i \in \mathcal{L}(\mathbb{C}^n)$ ,  $i = 0, 1, \cdots, N$ ,  $B_0 \in \mathcal{L}(\mathbb{C}^m, \mathbb{C}^n)$ ,  $h_0 \in \mathbb{C}^n$  and  $f \in L^2((-t_N, 0), \mathbb{C}^n)$ .

We are interested in the following optimal control problem: To minimize

$$J_T((h_0, f(\cdot)), u) = \int_0^T \|C_0 h(t) - z_0\|^2 + \|Ku(t) - v_0\|^2 dt$$
(3.42)

over all  $u \in L^2((0,T), \mathbb{C}^m)$ , where  $C_0 \in L(\mathbb{C}^n, \mathbb{C}^r)$  and  $K \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{U})$ .

We refer to [11, Section 3.3] for the following semigroup framework used to analyse the above system: Let  $\mathcal{H} = \mathbb{C}^n \times L^2((-t_N, 0), \mathbb{C}^n)$  and  $\mathcal{U} = \mathbb{C}^m$ . Define  $A : D(A) \to \mathcal{H}$  by

$$D(A) = \left\{ \begin{bmatrix} x \\ g \end{bmatrix} \in \mathbb{C}^n \times H^1((-t_N, 0), \mathbb{C}^n) \mid g(0) = x \right\},$$
  
$$A \begin{bmatrix} x \\ g \end{bmatrix} := \begin{bmatrix} A_0 x + \sum_{i=1}^N A_i g(-t_i) \\ \frac{dg}{dt} \end{bmatrix}, \quad \forall \begin{bmatrix} x \\ g \end{bmatrix} \in D(A),$$
  
$$Bu := \begin{bmatrix} B_0 u \\ 0 \end{bmatrix}, \quad \forall u \in \mathcal{U}.$$

Let  $\mathcal{Y} = \mathbb{C}^r$ , and  $C \in L(\mathcal{H}, \mathcal{Y})$  be defined by

$$C\begin{bmatrix}x\\g\end{bmatrix} = C_0 x, \ \forall \begin{bmatrix}x\\g\end{bmatrix} \in \mathcal{H}.$$

If we denote

$$z = \begin{bmatrix} -C_0^* z_0 \\ 0 \end{bmatrix}, \ v = -K^* v_0,$$

then it is easy to verify that problem  $(GLQ)_T$  is equivalent to problem (3.42).

By [11, Theorem 8.2.5], the pair (A, B) is exponentially stabilizable if and only if

$$\operatorname{ran}(sI - A_0 - \sum_{i=1}^N A_i e^{-st_i}, B_0) = \mathbb{C}^n, \; \forall s \in \overline{\mathbb{C}^+},$$

where  $\overline{\mathbb{C}^+}$  is the set of complex numbers with non-negative real part. Similarly, the pair (A, C) is exponentially stabilizable if and only if

$$\ker \begin{bmatrix} sI - A_0 - \sum_{i=1}^N A_i e^{-st_i} \\ C_0 \end{bmatrix} = \{0\}, \ \forall s \in \overline{\mathbb{C}^+}.$$

So, we have some simple conditions to determine the (exponential) stabilizability and detectability, thus also the turnpike property. For this problem, if the (exponential) stabilizability and detectability are verified, then the turnpike property will be satisfied for problem  $(OCP)_T$ . In particular, (under the setting of Definition 3.2.2) the following estimate can be easily derived:

$$|h^*(t) - x_e| + |u^*(t) - u_e| \le M(e^{-wt} + e^{-w(T-t)}), \ \forall t \in [0, T],$$

where  $u^*$  is the optimal control,  $h^*$  is the corresponding solution and  $\begin{pmatrix} x_e \\ f_e \end{bmatrix}, u_e \end{pmatrix}$  is the unique optimal steady state.

## 3.6.4 Model predictive control (MPC)

MPC is a controller used for infinite time horizon (or very large finite time horizon) optimal control problems. The idea of MPC is to repeatedly solve the optimal control problem on a shorter time horizon and then apply the optimal control to a small time slot. Compared to LQR, the advantage of MPC is that it is more flexible when the system varies with time (e.g. automated

driving system) since MPC optimizes the current time slot, while also taking future time slots into account.

In this subsection, we prove that the turnpike property for problem  $(LQ)_T$  implies the effectiveness of the continuous-time MPC. So if the turnpike property is observed in some real-world implementation, it is reasonable to consider MPC as a controller which balances the flexibility of the time varying system and the long-term operating cost. Notice that in practical applications, the term 'MPC' is usually referred to the discrete-time MPC because the optimal control of a continuous-time system is usually not available, especially for nonlinear systems. For a continuous-time system, people often first discretize the system to a discrete-time one, then use the optimal control of the corresponding finite time horizon discrete-time problem (which can be more easily solved) to approximate the optimal control in continuous-time setting.

**Theorem 3.6.1.** Suppose that all the assumptions of  $(LQ)_T$  are verified. If the exponential turnpike property holds, then for any  $\varepsilon > 0$  and bounded subset  $\mathcal{N}$  of  $\mathcal{H}$ , there exist some T > 0 and  $\tau \in (0,T)$  such that the trajectory x, with arbitrary initial condition  $x_0 \in \mathcal{N}$ , defined recursively by

$$x(t) = \begin{cases} x_0, & t = 0, \\ x_T^*(t - n\tau, x(n\tau)), & t \in (n\tau, (n+1)\tau], & n \in \mathbb{N}, \end{cases}$$
(3.43)

and the corresponding control u, x given by

$$u(t) = u_T^*(t - n\tau, x(n\tau)), \ t \in [n\tau, (n+1)\tau), \ n \in \mathbb{N}$$
(3.44)

satisfies that

$$\int_0^\infty \ell(x(t), u(t)) dt < \langle P_{\min} x_0, x_0 \rangle + \varepsilon.$$
(3.45)

If the measure turnpike property holds, then for any  $\varepsilon > 0$  and  $x_0 \in \mathcal{N}$  and bounded subset  $\mathcal{N}$  of  $\mathcal{H}$ , there exist T > 0 and a sequence  $(\tau_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$  satisfying  $\tau_0 = 0$  and  $0 < \tau_{n+1} - \tau_n < T$ ,  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  such that the trajectory x, with arbitrary initial condition  $x_0 \in \mathcal{N}$ , defined recursively by

$$x(t) = \begin{cases} x_0, & t = 0, \\ x_T^*(t - \tau_n, x(\tau_n)), & t \in (\tau_n, \tau_{n+1}], & n \in \mathbb{N}, \end{cases}$$
(3.46)

and the corresponding control u, given by

$$u(t) = u_T^*(t - \tau_n, x(\tau_n)), \ t \in [\tau_n, \tau_{n+1}), \ n \in \mathbb{N}$$

*satisfies equation* (3.45).

Notice that x in the first (resp. second) case is the trajectory generated by applying the MPC controller which optimizes the system over a time horizon T at each step and applies the optimal control to a time slot  $\tau$  (resp.  $\tau_{n+1} - \tau_n$ ,  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ ). Also recall that the term  $\langle P_{\min}x_0, x_0 \rangle$  is the minimum cost of the infinite time horizon LQ optimal control problem. See Proposition 2.2.6 (c).

*Proof.* Assume the exponential turnpike property is satisfied. Since for problem  $(LQ)_T$ ,

$$x_T^*(t,\lambda x_0) = \lambda x_T^*(t,x_0), \ \forall x_0 \in \mathcal{H}, \ \lambda \in \mathbb{C}, \ 0 \le t \le T,$$
(3.47)

simple consideration shows that there exist constants M, w > 0 such that

$$||x_T^*(t, x_0)|| \le M ||x_0|| (e^{-wt} + e^{-w(T-t)}), \ \forall x_0 \in \mathcal{H}, \ 0 \le t \le T.$$

Fix some  $x_0 \in \mathcal{H}$  and  $0 < \tau < T$ . Let x and u be defined as (3.43) and (3.44). By induction,

$$||x(n\tau)|| \le M^n ||x_0|| (e^{-w\tau} + e^{-w(T-\tau)})^n, \quad \forall n \in \mathbb{N}.$$

Notice that for any  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ ,

$$\int_{n\tau}^{(n+1)\tau} \ell(x(t), u(t)) = \langle P(T)x(n\tau), x(n\tau) \rangle - \langle P(T-\tau)x((n+1)\tau), x((n+1)\tau) \rangle,$$

so if  $M(e^{-w\tau} + e^{-w(T-\tau)}) < 1$ ,

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} \ell(x(t), u(t)) = \langle P(T)x_{0}, x_{0} \rangle + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (\langle P(T)x(n\tau), x(n\tau) \rangle - \langle P(T-\tau)x(n\tau), x(n\tau) \rangle)$$
  
$$\leq \langle P_{\min}x_{0}, x_{0} \rangle + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \|P(T)\| M^{2n} \|x_{0}\|^{2} (e^{-w\tau} + e^{-w(T-\tau)})^{2n}$$
  
$$= \langle P_{\min}x_{0}, x_{0} \rangle + \|P(T)\| \|x_{0}\|^{2} \frac{M^{2}(e^{-w\tau} + e^{-w(T-\tau)})^{2}}{1 - M^{2}(e^{-w\tau} + e^{-w(T-\tau)})^{2}}.$$

Now it is trivial to see that (3.45) holds for some suitable  $0 < \tau < T$ .

Now assume the measure turnpike property is satisfied. Similar to the first case, simple consideration shows that for any  $\delta > 0$ , there exists some  $M_{\delta} > 0$  such that for any T > 0,

$$\mu\left\{t \in [0,T] \mid \|x_T^*(t,x_0)\| + \|u_T^*(t,x_0)\| > \delta\|x_0\|\right\} \le M_{\delta}, \ \forall x_0 \in \mathcal{H}, \ 0 \le t \le T.$$

So, if we set  $\tau_0 = 0$  and  $T > M_{\delta}$ , then there exists a point  $\tau_1 \in [0, T]$  such that

$$||x_T^*(\tau_1, x_0)|| \le \delta ||x_0||$$

By repeating this step recursively, we can define x and u as (3.46) and (3.47) on  $[0, \infty)$  and obtain a sequence  $(\tau_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$  such that  $0 < \tau_{n+1} - \tau_n < T$  and  $||x(\tau_{n+1})|| \le \delta ||x(\tau_n)||$ ,  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ .

Similar to the first case, we have

$$\int_0^\infty \ell(x(t), u(t)) = \langle P(T)x_0, x_0 \rangle + \sum_{n=1}^\infty (\langle P(T)x(n\tau), x(n\tau) \rangle - \langle P(T-\tau)x(n\tau), x(n\tau) \rangle)$$
  
$$\leq \langle P_{\min}x_0, x_0 \rangle + \sum_{n=1}^\infty \|P(T)\|\delta^{2n}\|x_0\|^2$$
  
$$\leq \langle P_{\min}x_0, x_0 \rangle + \|P(T)\|\|x_0\|^2 \frac{\delta^2}{1-\delta^2}.$$

Now the theorem follows easily by choosing a sufficiently small  $\delta$ .

# Chapter 4

# **Conclusions and open problems**

In this thesis, we worked on the characterization of turnpike property for infinite dimensional generalized linear quadratic optimal control problem. Chapter 1 is devoted to the introduction of this problem. In section 1.1, we presented the history and important results of the optimal control theory for infinite dimensional systems. The LQ optimal control problem is of particular interest since it admits a closed form solution of the optimal control, so we briefly discussed the existing results on LQ optimal control problem in various infinite dimensional settings. Finally, we introduced the framework of the generalized LQ optimal control problem. In section 1.2, we recalled the development of the theory of turnpike property. We also gave a list of references on the existing results of turnpike property in different settings. Section 1.3 is devoted to the organization of this paper.

In chapter 2, we aimed to introduce all the necessary background on infinite dimensional generalized LQ optimal control problem. In section 2.1, we recalled the definition and properties of operator semigroups, which is the basis of infinite dimensional evolution problem. In section 2.2.1, some results concerning Pontryagin's Maximum principle for infinite dimensional systems were given in order to help understand the Hamiltonian systems, optimal adjoint state and algebraic condition appearing in later literature. In section 2.2.2, we introduced the standard results on the solution of the differential and algebraic Riccati equation. Riccati equation is a basic tool in our analysis. It has allowed us to solve the explicit formula for the optimal control and establish the double-sided exponential estimate of the optimally controlled system.

We presented our main results in chapter 3. In section 3.1, we first proved the existence and uniqueness of the optimal pair for infinite dimensional generalized LQ optimal control problem. Then in section 3.2, two important notions of turnpike property, the measure and the exponential turnpike property, together with the methodologies to deduce them were discussed. In sec-
tion 3.3, it was proved that the (exponential) stabilizability and detectability of the system is a sufficient condition for the exponential turnpike property. While the necessary condition for the turnpike property seems to be multifold. In section 3.4, we proved several necessary conditions of turnpike property in terms of the detectability, stabilizability and the turnpike reference of the control system. Based on these results, we showed in section 3.5 that the turnpike property can be completely characterized by the exponential stabilizability and detectability for the finite dimensional case and point spectrum case. We also provided an equivalence result on the turnpike property for generalized LQ optimal control problem and the turnpike property for the LQ optimal control problem plus an algebraic condition. After this, we discussed several applications of our theoretical results. The parabolic equations, wave equations, delay equations and model predictive control (MPC) were investigated in subsection 3.6.1, 3.6.2, 3.6.3 and 3.6.4 respectively.

In the following subsections, we take a glance at some open problems for future research.

## 4.1 Regarding unbounded input

The motivation behind unbounded input mainly comes from various boundary control systems. The term "boundary" here refers to that the actuation and sensing are through the boundary conditions of the system. This feature is very practical and important in real applications.

Roughly speaking, the systems described by PDEs with non-homogeneous boundary conditions appear in the following form:

$$\frac{dx}{dt}(t) = Lx(t), \quad Gz(t) = u(t),$$

where L is some differential operator and G is some boundary trace operator. With some basic assumptions, the above equation can be reformulated into an abstract evolution problem described by  $\dot{x} = Ax + Bu$ . Though in this thesis we have considered this standard form of infinite dimensional control systems, the control operator B is always assumed to be bounded. It can be seen from our PDE examples in section 3.6.1 and 3.6.2 that, as our B is bounded, the control is distributed and inside the domain. However, the control on the boundary is more realistic in physical world, and that will often lead us to some unbounded control operator. Here we refer to [41, Chapter 10] and the references therein for the definition of well-posed boundary control systems and how to translate such a system into our familiar form  $\dot{x} = Ax + Bu$ .

Unfortunately, systems with an unbounded control operator are often far more technical than those with a bounded control operator. In fact, unless additional assumptions are introduced, the mild solution may not necessarily take value in  $\mathcal{H}$ , but perhaps in  $\mathcal{H}^{-1}$ , which sometimes is not even a real function space, but a space of distributions, or perhaps can only be defined in  $L^2$ -sense, and is not continuous in  $\mathcal{H}$ .

The most popular setting which retains a broad level of generality is to assume B is an admissible control operator. Unfortunately, to the best of our knowledge, it is not possible to perfectly extend the theory for LQ optimal control problem with bounded input to unbounded setting. As noted in [42]: 'In the formula linking the optimal feedback operator to the optimal cost operator, as well as in the Riccati equation, the weighting operator of the input has to be replaced by another operator, which can be derived from the spectral factorization of the Popov function', 'Despite its simplicity, this is a "nasty" problem when we want to reconcile it with the existing LQ optimal control theory: various unbounded operators pop up and their domains do not match'. Relevant work can be found in, e.g., [16, 42].

The unbounded input case is also studied under another class of assumptions that have received wide attention. More precisely, A is assumed to be the generator of some analytic semigroup, and the unboundedness of B is restricted by the condition

$$D = (sI - A)^{-1}B, \quad D \in L(\mathcal{U}, D(A^{\alpha})).$$

Since the same formulas relating Riccati equations to state feedback operator still hold in this case, it is conceivable that similar results as in our thesis can also be proved in this setting, but perhaps with suitable extensions or changes. Due to the technical difficulty of this problem, we have not attempted to provide complete explanation to all the details in this thesis. Instead, we refer to [6, Part IV and Part V, Chapter 2] and [29, Chapter 9] for further discussions.

## 4.2 Regarding constrained case

Similar to the unbounded input case, systems with state and input constraints are also more practical in real applications, especially for finite dimensional systems. However, it is very difficult from both the mathematics and engineering point of view to seek a closed form solution for a constrained optimal control problem. To the best of our knowledge, there is no perfect extension of the Riccati theory for the feedback controls in the constrained case.

However, the method which exploits the connection between turnpike and dissipativity properties of the control system can be utilized to find the sufficient condition for turnpike property even with the presence of state and input constraints. As first introduced by Willems in [43, 44], dissipativity describes the abstract energy balance of a dynamical system in terms of the stored and the supplied energy. This kind of method has motivated the definition of measure turnpike property.

Since the dissipativity-based method does not rely on the structure of the optimality system, instead of providing a certain quantitative estimate, the measure turnpike property only guarantees that when T is large enough, the distance between the optimal pair and optimal steady state can be arbitrarily small for all time horizon but on a set with measure no more than a constant.

Strict dissipativity and strict pre-dissipativity are two notions useful in the characterization of turnpike properties for generalized LQ optimal control problem. The following definition of strict dissipativity and strict pre-dissipativity is cited from [22].

**Definition 4.2.1.** Let  $\mathcal{K}$  denote the set of dissipation rates:

 $\mathcal{K} := \left\{ \alpha : [0, \infty) \to [0, \infty) \, | \, \alpha \text{ is continuous} \right.$ and strictly increasing with  $\alpha(0) = 0 \right\}.$ 

A storage function on  $\mathcal{H}$  is a continuously (Fréchet) differentiable function  $V : \mathcal{H} \to \mathbb{R}$ .

We say that problem  $(GLQ)_T$  is strictly pre-dissipative at some steady state  $(x_e, u_e)$  if there exists a storage function V on  $\mathcal{H}$  and a dissipation rate  $\alpha \in \mathcal{K}$  such that for all  $x \in D(A)$  and all  $u \in \mathcal{U}$  we have

$$V'(x)(Ax + Bu) \leq \ell(x, u) - \ell(x_e, u_e) - \alpha(||x - x_e||).$$

If the storage function V is bounded from below, we say problem  $(GLQ)_T$  is strictly dissipative at  $(x_e, u_e)$ .

Their connection between dissipativity notions and the measure turnpike property has been studied with full details in [17, 18] for finite dimensional generalized LQ optimal control problems in discrete and continuous time respectively, even in the presence of state and control constraints. In particular, in [17, 18], the necessary condition of the measure turnpike property is first deduced for problem  $(GLQ)_T$ , which has motivated our results in section 3.4.

Now let us discuss the setting for unconstrained case. We use X and U to denote the set of state and input constraints, i.e., we require  $x(t) \in X$  and  $u(t) \in U$  almost everywhere on [0, T]. We assume X and U are both closed convex sets. The measure turnpike property for constrained generalized LQ optimal control problem is still defined in the same way, but now with bounded  $\mathcal{N} \subset X$ . We illustrate the results in [18] for constrained case by the following block diagram:





Note that even for finite dimensional case, one does not know if the measure turnpike property for constrained case implies the real part of any unobservable eigenvalue of A is nonzero (but it can be verified that the pair (A, B) is stabilizable since  $(x^e, u^e)$  is a steady state in the interior of  $\mathcal{X} \times \mathcal{U}$ ). We believe that this statement is true, but currently cannot prove it.

Another interesting question is that: Suppose (A, B) is stabilizable and the real part of any unobservable eigenvalue of A is nonzero, but the global optimal steady state is not in the interior of  $X \times U$ , then if turnpike property will be satisfied at the constrained optimal steady state on the boundary of  $X \times U$ , i.e., the unique minimizer of the following problem

$$\inf_{x\in X, u\in U}\ell(x,u) \quad \text{s.t.} \ Ax+Bu=0.$$

In fact, it is not hard to verify that  $\ell$  is bounded below and tends to  $+\infty$  as  $||x|| + ||u|| \to \infty$ , so such a minimizer does exist. Moreover, suppose that  $(x_1, u_1)$  and  $(x_2, u_2)$  are two minimizers, then we can prove  $\ell$  admits a strictly smaller value at the middle point of the two points. This implies the uniqueness of the minimizer. Besides, the constrained optimal steady state must occur at the boundary since if it is an interior point, by the convexity of this problem, it is an global minimizer, which contradicts to our assumption.

The author believes that if (A, B) is stabilizable and there exists a unique constrained optimal steady state, then the following alternative for long time behavior of optimally controlled system will hold: the optimal pair either stays close to the unique constrained optimal steady state, or a periodic orbit which is nonobservable for most of the time horizon. If we further assume the real part of any unobservable eigenvalue of A is nonzero, then such orbit does not exist. The following illustrative example shows the existence of such a periodic orbit.

#### Example 4.2.2. Let

$$A = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 \\ -1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -1 \end{bmatrix}, \quad B = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}.$$

It is easy to verify (A, B) is stabilizable. Let C = 0, K = I, z = 0 and v = 0, then the unique global optimal steady state is obviously (0,0). If we let X and U be the closed unit ball in  $\mathbb{R}^3$  and  $\mathbb{R}^2$  respectively, then obviously for any  $x_0 \in X$  and T > 0, the corresponding optimal control is  $u \equiv 0$ , so the optimal trajectory  $x_T(\cdot, x_0)$  will be

$$x_T(t, x_0) = \mathcal{T}_t x_0 = \begin{bmatrix} \cos(t)(x_0)_1 + \sin(t)(x_0)_2 \\ -\sin(t)(x_0)_1 + \cos(t)(x_0)_2 \\ e^{-t}(x_0)_3 \end{bmatrix}, \quad \forall t \in [0, T].$$

Now it is clear that the optimal pair will stay close to the orbit

$$\begin{bmatrix} x_p(t) \\ u_p(t) \end{bmatrix} := \begin{bmatrix} \cos(t)(x_0)_1 + \sin(t)(x_0)_2 \\ -\sin(t)(x_0)_1 + \cos(t)(x_0)_2 \\ 0 \\ 0 \end{bmatrix}, \quad \forall t \ge 0$$

for most of the time horizon.

However, instead of letting C = 0, if we assume that

$$C\begin{bmatrix}1&0\\0&1\\0&0\end{bmatrix}\neq 0$$

(equivalently, every nonobservable eigenvalue has a nonzero real part), then by Theorem 8.4 in [18], the measure turnpike property is satisfied at  $(\vec{0}, \vec{0})$ , so the optimal pair will stay close to  $(\vec{0}, \vec{0})$  for most of the time horizon.

For the case that the global optimal steady state does not belong to the interior of  $\mathcal{H} \times \mathcal{U}$ , we recall [18, Example 8.9] in the following:

**Example 4.2.3.** Set  $\dot{x}(t) = -2x(t) + u(t)$ ,  $\ell(x, u) = u^2$ , X = [a, b], where 0 < a < b and  $U = \mathbb{R}$ . Observe that the unique constrained optimal steady state is (a, 2a), and the optimal control is made up of two stage: 1.  $u \equiv 0$  and x decreases to a. 2.  $u \equiv 2a$  and  $x \equiv a$ . So, the measure turnpike property is satisfied at (a, 2a).

Notice that the turnpike reference of this problem is the constrained optimal steady state.

It is still an open question whether these problems can be addressed by dissipativity-based method. These questions will be investigated in future research.

## 4.3 Regarding unbounded observation and terminal cost

In this subsection, we discuss the possibility to extend our results to the case that C is an admissible observation operator and there is some terminal cost  $P_0 \in \Sigma^+(\mathcal{H})$ .

**Definition 4.3.1.** We say that  $C : D(A) \to \mathcal{Y}$  is an admissible observation operator for  $\mathcal{T}$  if there exists some  $T \ge 0$  such that the map  $\Psi_T : D(A) \to L^2((0,T),\mathcal{Y})$  defined by

$$(\Psi_T x)(\cdot) = C\mathcal{T} x, \ \forall x \in D(A)$$
(4.1)

admits a (unique) bounded extension to  $\mathcal{H}$ . Equivalently, C is an admissible observation operator if and only if there exists a T > 0 and  $M_T \ge 0$  such that

$$\|\Psi_T x\| \le M_T \|x\|, \quad \forall x \in D(A).$$

The admissibility is a very standard assumption which restricts the unboundedness of observation. The following proposition owns to [41, Proposition 4.3.2].

**Proposition 4.3.2.** *If C is an admissible observation operator for*  $\mathcal{T}$ *, then there exists a function*  $M : [0, \infty) \to \mathbb{R}^+$  such that

$$\|\Psi_t x\| \le M(t) \|x\|, \quad \forall t \in [0,\infty), x \in D(A).$$

If C is admissible, then we denote the extension of  $\Psi_t$ ,  $\forall t \ge 0$  to  $\mathcal{H}$  by the same symbol. In the following proposition, we let T > 0 and  $L^2((0,T), D(A))$  be endowed with the inner product of  $L^2((0,T), \mathcal{H})$ . Then  $D(A) \times L^2((0,T), D(A))$  is dense in  $\mathcal{H} \times L^2((0,T), \mathcal{H})$ . The density follows easily from the definition of Bochner integrability. We refer to [41, Section 12.5] for further details. **Proposition 4.3.3.** Suppose C is an admissible observation operator and T > 0. Let the operator  $\mathcal{F} : D(A) \times L^2((0,T), D(A)) \to L^2((0,T), \mathcal{Y})$  be defined by

$$\mathcal{F}(x_0, f)(t) := \Psi_t x_0 + \int_0^t C\mathcal{T}_{t-s} f(s) ds, \quad \forall t \in [0, T], (x_0, f) \in D(A) \times L^2((0, T), D(A)).$$

Then  $\mathcal{F}$  has a continuous extension to  $\mathcal{H} \times L^2((0,T),\mathcal{H})$ . In other words, there exists M > 0 such that

$$\|\mathcal{F}(x_0, f)\|_{L^2} \le M(\|x_0\| + \|f\|_{L^2}).$$

We will still use  $\mathcal{F}$  to denote the extension of  $\mathcal{F}$  to  $\mathcal{H} \times L^2((0,T),\mathcal{H})$ . Let x denote the solution of problem (2.3) corresponding to initial condition  $x_0 \in \mathcal{H}$  and input  $u \in L^2((0,T),\mathcal{U})$ , then  $\mathcal{F}(x_0, Bu)$  is the generalization of Cx in  $L^2((0,T),\mathcal{H})$ . For a proof of this proposition, we refer to [6, Part IV, Chapter 1, Lemma 6.1].

At this moment, the cost functional  $J_T$  is not a-priori defined for admissible C since the term  $\int_0^T ||Cx(t)||^2 dt$  requires  $x(t) \in D(A)$  for any t, which is generally not true. However, the above proposition shows that  $\mathcal{F}(x_0, Bu)$  is well-defined for any  $x_0 \in \mathcal{H}$  and  $u \in L^2((0, T), \mathcal{U})$ . So, now we are able to consider the optimal control problem of minimizing the following cost functional  $J_T$  defined by

$$J_T(u, x_0) := \|\mathcal{F}(x_0, Bu)\|_{L^2}^2 + \int_0^T \|Ku(t)\|^2 + 2\operatorname{Re}\langle z, x(t)\rangle + 2\operatorname{Re}\langle v, u(t)\rangle dt + \langle P_0 x(T) + r, x(T)\rangle,$$

where  $x_0 \in \mathcal{H}$  is the initial condition and  $P_0 \in \Sigma^+(\mathcal{H}), r \in \mathcal{H}$  is the quadratic and linear term of the terminal cost, respectively. In particular, when C is bounded,  $P_0 = 0$  and r = 0, this definition of  $J_T$  coincides with (2.1).

We believe that all the results in this thesis can be generalized to the case of admissible observation and terminal cost. In fact, we have already sketched a proof for Theorem 3.3.1 (the sufficient condition for the turnpike property) in this new setting, but since it would be too lengthy to write a detailed proof here, we will only sketch the idea of some difficult steps.

Basically, to prove Theorem 3.3.1, we only need to generalize the results in each subsection of section 3.3 to the new case. Most of the steps are pretty straightforward and can be easily justified. For instance, since the proof of Lemma 3.3.2, Lemma 3.3.3 and Lemma 3.3.5 does not rely on the boundedness of C and the choice of P(0), we only need to substitute Cx with  $\mathcal{F}(x_0, Bu)$  and set  $P(0) = P_0$ .

The major difficulty is from the proof of Lemma 3.3.4. First, we need to extend the related notions of the solution of differential and algebraic Riccati equation to the admissible observation and terminal cost case. Then, we need to prove the convergence of P(t) to  $P_{\min}$  in operator norm. In this thesis, this convergence is proved by utilizing the property of the strong solution of differential Riccati equation to verify the Hamiltonian system arising from Pontryagin's maximum principle. More precisely, we need to prove that  $p(t) := P_{\min}x(T-t)$  coincides with the solution of

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dx}{dt} = (A - BB^* P_{\min})x \text{ in } [0, T], \\ x(0) = x_0 \in \mathcal{H}, \\ \frac{dp(t)}{dt} = A^* p(t) + C^* C x(T - t) \text{ in } [0, T], \\ p(0) = P_{\min} x(T), \end{cases}$$

and  $\widetilde{p}(t) := P(t)\widetilde{x}(T-t)$  coincides with the solution of

$$\begin{cases} \frac{d\widetilde{x}(t)}{dt} = (A - BB^*P(T - t))\widetilde{x}(t) & \text{in } [0, T], \\ \widetilde{x}(0) = x_0, \\ \frac{d\widetilde{p}(t)}{dt} = A^*\widetilde{p}(t) + C^*C\widetilde{x}(T - t) & \text{in } [0, T], \\ \widetilde{p}(0) = P_0\widetilde{x}(T). \end{cases}$$

To show  $\tilde{p}(\cdot) = P(\cdot)x(T - \cdot)$ , we need to use the property of strict solution (which says x is differentiable if  $x_0 \in D(A)$ ). This is no longer possible since for admissible C, Cx is only defined in  $L^2$  sense, so the differential should be understood as distributional derivative.

To resolve this problem, we first assume  $P_0 = 0$  and show that the cost functional  $J_T(B^*, \cdot)$ as a function of  $\tilde{p} \in L^2((0,T), \mathcal{H})$  and  $x_0 \in \mathcal{H}$  can be written as

$$J_T(B^*\widetilde{p}, x_0) = \langle S_1\widetilde{p}, \widetilde{p} \rangle + 2\operatorname{Re}\langle \widetilde{p}, S_2x_0 \rangle + \langle S_3x_0, x_0 \rangle$$

where  $S_1$  is a strictly positive operator in  $\mathcal{L}(L^2((0,T),\mathcal{H}))$ ,  $S_2 \in \mathcal{L}(\mathcal{H}, L^2((0,T),\mathcal{H}))$  and  $S_3 \in \Sigma^+(\mathcal{H})$ . So, when  $x_0 \in \mathcal{H}$  is fixed,  $\tilde{p} = -(S_1)^{-1}S_2x_0$  is the unique minimizer of  $J_T(B^*, x_0)$ . Since  $S_1, S_2, S_3$  are known, after some calculation, we can verify that  $\tilde{p}$  coincides with the solution of the second Hamiltonian system.

On the other hand, we know that  $P(\cdot)x(T - \cdot)$  is also the minimizer of  $J_T(B^* \cdot, x_0)$ , by the uniqueness of the minimizer,  $\tilde{p}(\cdot) = P(\cdot)x(T - \cdot)$ . Now we can follow the same steps to show that P(t), with initial condition  $P_0 = 0$ , converges to  $P_{\min}$  in norm. Then by the monotonicity and attractivity properties of P (see [6, Part V, Chapter 1, Section 4.2]), P(t) with arbitrary  $P_0 \in \Sigma^+(\mathcal{H})$  will also converge to  $P_{\min}$  in norm.

An alternative way to prove this is to show the convergence relation as in our Lemma 3.3.4 through Yosida approximation and contraction mapping theorem. The steps will be basically similar to [6, Part II, Chapter 1, Proposition 3.4].

In general, although the proof for the sufficient condition of the turnpike property will be more technical and lengthy if C is unbounded and  $P_0 \neq 0$ , the idea remains almost the same. The generalization of the necessary conditions for turnpike property in this setting will be investigated in our future research.

# References

- [1] Rishi Amrit, James Rawlings, and Lorenz Biegler. Optimizing process economics online using model predictive control. Computers & Chemical Engineering, 58:334–343, 11 2013.
- [2] Brian D.O. Anderson and Petar V. Kokotovic. Optimal control problems over large time intervals. Automatica, 23(3):355–363, 1987.
- [3] D. Angeli, R. Amrit, and J. B. Rawlings. On average performance and stability of economic model predictive control. IEEE transactions on automatic control, 57(7):1615–1626, 2012.
- [4] A V Balakrishnan. Optimal control problems in banach spaces (optimal control problems in banach spaces, discussing extension to infinite dimensions and application to distributed parameter systems). <u>SOCIETY FOR INDUSTRIAL AND APPLIED MATHEMATICS</u>, JOURNAL, SERIES A-CONTROL, 3(1):152–180, 1965.
- [5] Richard Ernest Bellman, Irving Leonard Glicksberg, and Oliver Alfred Gross. <u>Some aspects</u> of the mathematical theory of control processes. RAND Corporation, Santa Monica, CA, 1958.
- [6] Alain Bensoussan, Giuseppe Da Prato, Michel C Delfour, and Sanjoy K Mitter. <u>Representation and control of infinite dimensional systems</u>. Systems & control : foundations & applications. Birkhäuser, Boston, 2nd ed. edition, 2007.
- [7] Arlen. Brown. Introduction to Operator Theory I : Elements of Functional Analysis. Graduate Texts in Mathematics, 55. Springer New York, New York, NY, 1977.
- [8] D. A CARLSON, A HAURIE, and A JABRANE. Existence of overtaking solutions to infinite dimensional control problems on unbounded time intervals. <u>SIAM journal on control</u> and optimization, 25(6):1517–1541, 1987.

- [9] Dean A. Carlson. The existence of catching-up optimal solutions for a class of infinite horizon optimal control problems with time delay. <u>SIAM journal on control and optimization</u>, 28(2):402–422, 1990.
- [10] Ruth Curtain and A. J. Pritchard. The infinite-dimensional riccati equation for systems defined by evolution operators. <u>SIAM journal on control and optimization</u>, 14(5):951–983, 1976.
- [11] Ruth F. Curtain. <u>An Introduction to Infinite-Dimensional Linear Systems Theory</u>. Texts in Applied Mathematics, 21. Springer New York, New York, NY, 1st ed. 1995. edition, 1995.
- [12] Ruth F. Curtain and A. J. Pritchard. An abstract theory for unbounded control action for distributed parameter systems. <u>SIAM journal on control and optimization</u>, 15(4):566–611, 1977.
- [13] Tobias Damm, Lars Grune, Marleen Stieler, and Karl Worthmann. An exponential turnpike theorem for dissipative discrete time optimal control problems. <u>SIAM journal on control</u> and optimization, 52(3):1935–1957, 2014.
- [14] E. B. (Edward Brian) Davies. <u>One-parameter semigroups</u>. London Mathematical Society monographs series ; no. 15. Academic Press, New York ;, 1980.
- [15] H. O. (Hector O.) Fattorini. <u>Infinite dimensional optimization and control theory</u>. Encyclopedia of mathematics and its applications ; v. 62. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge] ;, 1999.
- [16] F. Flandoli, I. Lasiecka, and R. Triggiani. Algebraic riccati equations with non-smoothing observation arising in hyperbolic and euler-bernoulli boundary control problems. <u>Annali di</u> matematica pura ed applicata, 153(1):307–382, 1988.
- [17] L. Grüne and R. Guglielmi. Turnpike properties and strict dissipativity for discrete time linear quadratic optimal control problems. <u>SIAM J. Cont. Optim.</u>, 56(2):1282–1302, 2018.
- [18] Lars Grüne and Roberto Guglielmi. On the relation between turnpike properties and dissipativity for continuous time linear quadratic optimal control problems. <u>Mathematical</u> Control & Related Fields, 11(1):169, 2021.
- [19] Lars Grune and Matthias A Muller. On the relation between strict dissipativity and turnpike properties. Systems & control letters, 90:45–53, 2016.

- [20] Lars Grüne and Roberto Guglielmi. Turnpike properties and strict dissipativity for discrete time linear quadratic optimal control problems. <u>SIAM journal on control and optimization</u>, 56(2):1282–1302, 2018.
- [21] Lars Grüne and Roberto Guglielmi. On the relation between turnpike properties and dissipativity for continuous time linear quadratic optimal control problems. <u>Mathematical</u> control and related fields, 11(1):169–188, 2021.
- [22] Lars Grüne, Friedrich Philipp, and Manuel Schaller. Strict dissipativity for generalized linear-quadratic problems in infinite dimensions. <u>IFAC-PapersOnLine</u>, 55(30):311–316, 2022. 25th International Symposium on Mathematical Theory of Networks and Systems MTNS 2022.
- [23] Lars Grüne and Marleen Stieler. Asymptotic stability and transient optimality of economic mpc without terminal conditions. Journal of process control, 24(8):1187–1196, 2014.
- [24] Martin Gugat, Emmanuel Trélat, and Enrique Zuazua. Optimal neumann control for the 1d wave equation: Finite horizon, infinite horizon, boundary tracking terms and the turnpike property. Systems & Control Letters, 90:61–70, 2016.
- [25] Bao-Zhu Guo, Zheng-Hua Luo, and Omer Morgul. <u>Stability and Stabilization of Infinite</u> <u>Dimensional Systems with Applications</u>. Communications and Control Engineering. Springer, 2012.
- [26] Aitziber Ibañez. Optimal control of the lotka–volterra system: turnpike property and numerical simulations. <u>Journal of Biological Dynamics</u>, 11(1):25–41, 2017. PMID: 27642712.
- [27] RE Kalman. Contributions to the theory of optimal control. bol. soc. mat, 1960.
- [28] Irena Lasiecka and Roberto Triggiani. <u>Differential and Algebraic Riccati Equations with</u> <u>Application to Boundary/Point Control Problems: Continuous Theory and Approximation</u> <u>Theory</u>, volume 164 of <u>Lecture Notes in Control and Information Sciences</u>. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, 1991.
- [29] Xunjing Li and Jiongmin Yong. Optimal control theory for infinite dimensional systems. Systems & control. Birkhäuser, Boston, 1995.
- [30] J.-L. (Jacques-Louis) Lions. Optimal control of systems governed by partial differential equations. Die Grundlehren der mathematischen Wissenschaften in Einzeldarstellungen mit besonderer Berücksichtigung der Anwendungsgebiete ; Bd. 170. Springer, Berlin, 1971.

- [31] D. L. Lukes and D. L. Russell. The quadratic criterion for distributed systems. <u>SIAM</u> journal on control, 7(1):101–121, 1969.
- [32] Lionel W. McKenzie. Optimal economic growth, turnpike theorems and comparative dynamics. In K. J. Arrow and M.D. Intriligator, editors, Handbook of Mathematical Economics, volume 3 of Handbook of Mathematical Economics, chapter 26, pages 1281–1355. Elsevier, 2005.
- [33] J. v. Neumann. A Model of General Economic Equilibrium 1. <u>The Review of Economic</u> Studies, 13(1):1–9, 04 1945.
- [34] Jonathan R. (Jonathan Richard) Partington. <u>Linear operators and linear systems : an analytical approach to control theory</u>. London Mathematical Society student texts ; 60. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, U.K. ;, 2004.
- [35] Alessio Porretta and Enrique Zuazua. Long time versus steady state optimal control. <u>SIAM</u> journal on control and optimization, 51(6):4242–4273, 2013.
- [36] Paul A. Samuelson Robert Dorfman and Robert M. Solow. Linear programming and economic analysis, robert dorfman, paul a. samuelson, and robert m. solow. new york-torontolondon: Mcgraw-hill book co., inc., 1958. pp. ix, 527. <u>American Journal of Agricultural</u> Economics, 40(3):772–774, 1958.
- [37] Walter Rudin. <u>Functional analysis</u>. International series in pure and applied mathematics. McGraw-Hill, New York, 2nd ed. edition, 1991.
- [38] P.A. Samuelson. The periodic turnpike theorem. <u>Nonlinear Analysis: Theory, Methods &</u> Applications, 1(1):3–13, 1976.
- [39] Emmanuel Trélat, Can Zhang, and Enrique Zuazua. Steady-state and periodic exponential turnpike property for optimal control problems in hilbert spaces. <u>SIAM Journal on Control</u> and Optimization, 56(2):1222–1252, 2018.
- [40] Emmanuel Trélat and Enrique Zuazua. The turnpike property in finite-dimensional nonlinear optimal control. Journal of Differential Equations, 258(1):81–114, 2015.
- [41] Marius Tucsnak and George Weiss. <u>Observation and control for operator semigroups</u>. Birkhäuser advanced texts. Birkhäuser, Basel, 2009.
- [42] George Weiss and Hans Zwart. An example in linear quadratic optimal control. <u>Systems &</u> control letters, 33(5):339–349, 1998.

- [43] J. C. Willems. Dissipative dynamical systems. I. General theory. <u>Arch. Rational Mech.</u> Anal., 45:321–351, 1972.
- [44] J. C. Willems. Dissipative dynamical systems. II. Linear systems with quadratic supply rates. Arch. Rational Mech. Anal., 45:352–393, 1972.
- [45] Kösaku. Yosida. <u>Functional Analysis</u>. Classics in Mathematics. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, 6th ed. 1995. edition, 1995.
- [46] Mario Zanon, Lars Grune, and Moritz Diehl. Periodic optimal control, dissipativity and mpc. IEEE transactions on automatic control, 62(6):2943–2949, 2017.
- [47] Alexander J. Zaslavski. <u>Turnpike properties in the calculus of variations and optimal</u> control. Nonconvex optimization and its applications ; v. 80. Springer, New York, 2006.
- [48] Alexander J. Zaslavski. <u>Turnpike phenomenon and infinite horizon optimal control</u>. Springer optimization and its applications ; 99. Springer, Cham, 2014.
- [49] Alexander J. Zaslavski. <u>Turnpike Theory of Continuous-Time Linear Optimal Control</u> <u>Problems</u>. Springer Optimization and Its Applications, 104. Springer International Publishing, Cham, 1st ed. 2015. edition, 2015.